
 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 
 

 
THE EXECUTIVE AGENDA 
 

You can view the 
agenda online by using 

a smart phone camera 
and scanning the code 
below: 

 
 

Date: 
 

Thursday, 11 August 2022 

Time: 
 

6.00 pm 

Venue: 

 

The Board Room, Pavilion Gardens, Buxton 

3 August 2022 

 

PART 1 

1. Apologies for absence  

2. Declarations of Interest  

 i) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

ii) Other Interests 
 

 

3. To approve the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 8) 

4. Homeless Strategy (Pages 9 - 114) 

5. Fourth Quarter Financial, Procurement and Performance Review 2021/22 (Pages 
115 - 154) 

6. Local Development Scheme (Pages 155 - 174) 

7. HPBC Response to the Energy Crisis  

8. To resolve that the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following 

items because there may be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.  

PART 2 

9. To approve the exempt minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 175 - 176) 

 (Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) ) 

 
 
MARK TRILLO 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND MONITORING OFFICER 
 

Membership of The Executive 

 

Public Document Pack



Councillor A McKeown (Chair) Councillor D Greenhalgh (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor A Barrow Councillor F Sloman 

Councillor J Todd  
 



 
 

 

 
THE EXECUTIVE 

 
Meeting: Thursday, 23 June 2022 at 6.00 pm in The Board Room, Pavilion Gardens, 

Buxton 

 

Present: Councillor A McKeown (Chair)   
 

 Councillors A Barrow, F Sloman and J Todd 

 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors T Ashton and 

D Greenhalgh. 
 

Councillors J Collins, K Sizeland, and E Thrane were also in attendance. 

 
23/1 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

(Agenda Item 2) 
 

There were no declarations of interest made. 

 
23/2 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

(Agenda Item 3) 
 

RESOLVED: 

 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 7 April 2022 be approved as a 

correct record. 
 

23/3 REVISED CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY AND 

ENVIRONMENTAL ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

(Agenda Item 4) 
 

The report presented an updated Corporate Enforcement Policy which set 
out the Council’s general approach to enforcement. It also presented a 

revised policy on enforcing environmental crimes.  The report was 
considered by the Community Select Committee on 18 May 2022. 

 
Options considered: 
 
There were no options to consider in the report because to be an effective 
regulator the Council needed to have robust enforcement policies in place. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
1. That the revised Corporate Enforcement Policy at Appendix A of the 

report be approved. 
 

2. That the revised Policy on Enforcement of Environmental Crimes 

provided at Appendix B to the report be approved. 
 

 
 
 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



The Executive 
Thursday, 23 June 2022 

 

 
 

23/4 IN-PERSON/REMOTE COMMITTEE MEETINGS UPDATE 

(Agenda Item 5) 
 

The report provides an update to councillors on the conduct of online and in-
person committee meetings. The report was considered by the Corporate 

Select Committee on 23 May 2022.  It was suggested that the induction 
programme for councillors following the May 2023 elections should take into 
the use of online meetings. 

 
Options considered: 
 

Options with regards to the use of remote, in person and hybrid meetings 

were detailed in the report. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

That the Council continues to use online meetings where feasible and that 
the technology and meeting room requirements in order to introduce hybrid 

meetings be investigated. 
 

23/5 SCRUTINY REVIEW 

(Agenda Item 6) 
 

The purpose of the report was to provide an update on the Council’s 
response  
to the feedback provided by the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS) 

following completion of their review of the Council’s Scrutiny arrangements.  
The report had been considered by the overview and scrutiny review group 

and by the Corporate Select Committee on 28 March 2022.   
 
A meeting of the Select Committee Programming Group would be arranged 

shortly and would consider an amendment to procedure rules to enable 
Annual Council to make appointments to select committee chairs and vice-

chairs. 
 
Options considered: 
 
The report offers a range of options for consideration by members. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
1. That the feedback from CfGS as detailed in Appendix A be considered. 

 
2. That the suggested response to the recommendations set out in Appendix B 

along with the responses by the Corporate Select Committee when it was 
considered there be agreed.  

 
3. That further investigations (if any) needed to meet the terms of reference for 

the review of arrangements for overview and scrutiny within the Council be 
considered. 

 
4. That the Council’s Constitution Sub-Committee be requested to meet and 

consider any required changes to the select committee procedure rules to meet 
the supported  changes.    Page 4



The Executive 
Thursday, 23 June 2022 

 

 
 

 
 

23/6 REVIEW OF AGE DESIGNATION ACCOMMODATION & OLDER 

PERSONS SERVICES REPORT 

(Agenda Item 7) 
 

The report sought to review the number of properties designated for the 
over 55s, with a view to increasing the volume of general needs 

accommodation available for single/couple households whilst still protecting 
the income stream for the Carelink Service.  The report further outlined the 

wider services available to support older people in our communities and was 
considered by the Community Select Committee on 18 May 2022. 
 

Options considered: 
 

As detailed on the report. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
1. That the contents of the report be noted and that the following changes 

be implemented: 
 

1.1 That suitable identified properties for those under 55 be 

redesignated. 
 

1.2 That the sheltered stock be rebranded as “Retirement Living”. 

 
1.3 That a “Try Before you Buy” Initiative within the sheltered stock be 

piloted. 
 

1.4 That the Carelink charging policy (appendix A) be agreed. 

 
23/7 APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES 

(Agenda Item 8) 
 

The purpose of the report is to appoint councillors to Outside Bodies.  It was 

reported that the updated appendix to the report would be circulated shortly 
with some revisions from the previous year’s appointments.  This would 

include an additional body “We are Buxton”.   
 
Options considered: 
 
Statutory guidance for authorities operating executive arrangements, states that 
the Executive should make appointments to all those outside bodies whose 
functions are executive functions.  All other appointments should be made by 
Council.  Appendix A lists the organisations for which representatives are 
appointed.   
 
RESOLVED: 

 
That councillors be appointed to the various outside bodies, as detailed in 

Appendix A. 
 
 Page 5



The Executive 
Thursday, 23 June 2022 

 

 
 

23/8 HIGH PEAK LOCAL PLAN REVIEW 

(Agenda Item 9) 
 

The report informed the Council of the conclusions from the review of the 
adopted High Peak Local Plan (2016) and to determine if it needed to be 

updated. The report was considered by the Economy and Growth Select 
Committee on 16 June 2022.  Members thanked officers from the Council’s 
Regeneration team for the support provided to the Local Plan Steering 

Group. 
 

Options considered: 
 

Option 1 (recommended) – that the recommendations of the report and the 
conclusions of the Local Plan review assessment are taken forward. This 

option reflected the latest evidence and outcome of the review and provided 
the Council with an opportunity to bring the Local Plan into line with new 
national policy and local priorities.  

 
Option 2 (not recommended) – that alternative conclusions are drawn on the 

review. This option was less likely to align with the latest evidence and 
assessment of the Local Plan and may not lead to the update of the Local 
Plan to bring it in line with new national policy and local priorities. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 

1. That the details of the assessment of the adopted Local Plan be noted. 
 

2. That it be concluded that Policy S3 (Strategic Housing Development), 
Policy S4 (Maintaining and Enhancing an Economic Base) and Policy H4 
(Affordable Housing) are deemed out of date for development 

management purposes. 
 

3. That the commencement of an update to the Local Plan to update Policy 
S3, S4 and H4 and to consider any consequential updates for policies 
and to reflect corporate priorities, including in particular issues around 

climate change, biodiversity and nutrient neutrality be agreed. 
 

4. That the Local Plan Steering Group be reconvened to consider priorities 
and timescales for the Local Plan update to inform the consideration of a 
new Local Development Scheme by the Executive.  

 
23/9 TO RESOLVE THAT THE PUBLIC AND PRESS BE EXCLUDED FROM 

THE MEETING FOR THE FOLLOWING ITEMS BECAUSE THERE MAY BE 
DISCLOSURE TO THEM OF EXEMPT INFORMATION AS DEFINED IN 
PART 1 OF SCHEDULE 12A OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972. 

(Agenda Item 10) 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the press and public be excluded from the meeting during 

consideration of the following item of business as there may be disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972. Page 6



The Executive 
Thursday, 23 June 2022 

 

 
 

 
23/10 LEVELLING UP FUND 

(Agenda Item 11) 
 

The Executive approved a report that set out the opportunity the Council 

had to submit a Levelling Up Fund Bid for the High Peak parliamentary 
constituency. It set out the key aspects of the government’s levelling up 
agenda, the Levelling Up Fund Prospectus and the particulars of the bid to 

be submitted. 
 

23/11 UPDATE ON THE NORSE JOINT VENTURE 

(Agenda Item 12) 
 

The Executive approved a report the purpose of which was to: 
 

 Provide the outcome of the statutory consultation with tenants in relation to the 
proposed changes to the delivery of repairs and assets services.   

 Confirm the final arrangements regarding the second phase proposals to 
incorporate the cleaning and caretaking, facilities management and housing 
repairs services into the joint venture partnership.  

 Give an update to the project programme for mobilisation.  

 

 
The meeting concluded at 7.00 pm 
 

 
 

 
 
CHAIRMAN 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

The Executive 

 
11 August 2022 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendix A – Derbyshire Homeless Strategy  
 
Appendix B – Countywide Data Report 
 
Appendix C – Policy Framework & Legislative Background 
 
Appendix D – Good Practice Guide 
 
Appendix E – Action Plan  
 

1. Reason for the Report  

 
1.1 This report outlines to Members the Derbyshire wide Homeless Strategy for 

2022-27, which has been developed through close collaboration with all 
Derbyshire Housing leads for each authority, Portfolio holders, NHS, Police, 

Probation and voluntary sector agencies 
 

 
2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 That the Executive note the content of this report and support the delivery of 
the Homelessness strategy county wide.  
 

3. Executive Summary 

 

3.1 It is a legal requirement to carry out periodic reviews of homelessness in our 
areas and publish a Homeless Strategy based on these results. 

 

3.2 Each Derbyshire authority has previously done so independently, however the 
pandemic has lead to much more focused and collaborative ways of working, 

to the benefit of residents and enabling best use of resource to be made. 
 

TITLE: Homeless Strategy Report  

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR Cllr Fiona Sloman – Executive Councillor for 

Housing & Licensing 

 
CONTACT OFFICERS: Helen Core – Head of Housing Services 
  

 

WARDS INVOLVED:  All  

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



3.3 To this end a new Derbyshire wide strategy has been developed to solidify the 
partnership and collaborative working that has developed over the last two 
years to improve homeless provision for our residents  

 
3.4 By adopting this strategy we will be able to meet the continued challenges 

ahead such as meeting the needs of those with multiple and complex needs  
and the coming issues related to the increases in the cost of living.    

 
 
4.       How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities  

 

4.1 As part of the Corporate Plan aim ‘Supporting our communities to create a 
healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak’.  

 
 

MARTIN OWEN 

Executive Director (Finance & Customer Services) 
 

Web Links and 
Background Papers 

 Contact details 

 

n/a 
 

 
 

Helen Core 
Head of Housing Services  
Helen.core@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

 

5. Background and Detail 
 

5.1 The challenges we have faced over the course of the last two years has 

brought about creativity, innovation, improved partnership working and a wide 
recognition of the link between homelessness and health.      

 
5.2 Through our co-ordinated approach to tacking homelessness and service 

delivery we have seen improved outcomes for many people across North 

Derbyshire with long and complex histories of homelessness.  
 

5.3 High Peak Borough Council has an excellent reputation for the way it delivers 
its homelessness service. We always try to find positive outcomes for our 
residents regardless of the complexities we may encounter, however, we have 

for some time faced difficulties linking vulnerable people into the services that 
they need. Those with enduring multiple complex needs have often had 

difficulty engaging with drug, alcohol and mental health services because often 
those services apply rigid rules that lead to people falling between the gaps. 
Likewise, we have evidence to show that services will often refuse to take 

people on because they need one problem addressing (drug addiction) before 
they can access a service (mental health). This leads to a chicken and egg 

situation whereby people are left without any support service at all.      
    
5.4 The new county wide homelessness and rough sleeping strategy (see 

appendix 1) has a core aim to break down system blockages, and argues that 

Page 10

mailto:Helen.core@highpeak.gov.uk


a multi-disciplinary approach is needed to make systems work better and that 
services are flexibly designed around the needs of our customers.  

 

5.5 The Homelessness Reduction Act (2017) is now fully embedded and this 
legislation has enabled councils to do much more for people facing 

homelessness. The Government are committed to ending rough sleeping by 
2024 and this new Derbyshire wide strategy is fully in keeping with the positive 
spirit of the homelessness legislation and the ambition of the Government’s 

target.   
 

5.6 The strategy makes reference to the new Domestic Abuse Act (2021) and 
contained within the list of priority actions are proposals to increase support 
and easier access to accommodation for abuse victims.         

  
5.7  The strategy has been developed through close collaboration between the 

Derbyshire Homelessness Officers Group (DHOG), Derbyshire County 
Council, Public Health, NHS, Police, Probation, and wide range of partner 
agencies including from the voluntary sector.  

 
5.8 The strategy is ambitious and our vision is “working collaboratively across 

Derbyshire to prevent and reduce homelessness – making it everyone’s 
responsibility.  

 

5.9 The strategy will meet the vision and aims through the delivery of 4 clear 
priorities:  

 

1. Make homelessness everyone’s responsibility through a system wide 
approach  

2. Prevent homelessness and respond through early intervention and 
personalised solutions 

3. End rough sleeping and repeat homelessness 

4. Develop sustainable supported and settled housing solutions 
 

5.10 The Director of Public Health for Derbyshire is a signatory and the strategy will 
sit under the Health & Wellbeing Board. This represents a significant shift in 
how homelessness strategies are implemented. With the strategy sitting within 

the wider health spectrum this means that we have a huge opportunity to 
transform housing and homelessness services for the people we serve.  

 
5.11 The Derbyshire strategy will serve as the Council’s main homelessness & 

rough sleeping strategy for 5 years.  

 
5.12 A project worker post funded via the district and borough councils to deliver on 

the action plan will be created, hosted by North East Derbyshire District 
Council. We have received confirmation from Derbyshire County Council that 
they intend to help fund this post, together with the other Derbyshire 

authorities. The likely contribution from ourselves will be c. £5000 which can 
be easily met from existing prevention grant funding.  

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Derbyshire 
Homelessness 
and Rough 
Sleeping Strategy 
2022 - 2027

Page 13



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 20272 Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 20272

Contents
Foreword  3

Introduction  5

Our Vision  8

Meeting our vision  9

Make homelessness everyone’s responsibility through a  
system-wide approach 14

End rough sleeping and repeat homelessness 20

Develop sustainable supported and settled housing solutions 23

Transforming our approach to homelessness 26

Appendix 1: About Homeless Link 27

Local Authority Contacts 28

Page 14



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 2027 3

Meeting these challenges requires a radical 
change in how everyone works; simply carrying 
on as before will not deliver the reduction in 
homelessness and rough sleeping that needs  
to be achieved.   

This is an exciting time with opportunities to 
transform our approach to tackling homelessness 
and ending the need for anyone to sleep rough.     

Foreword 
Stronger Together
I am delighted to introduce Derbyshire’s first 
ever countywide Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeping Strategy. This strategy marks a 
pinnacle moment in our approach to tackling 
homelessness, signalling a multi-agency 
collaborative approach, recognising that we 
are stronger together. 

The reasons that lead to homelessness are 
multiple and often extremely complex. Many 
people have needs that extend beyond the basic 
need for a home and impact on their health and 
wellbeing. It is not possible for Local Housing 
Authorities to meet those needs in isolation, 
but rather a successful strategic approach to 
preventing homelessness is dependent upon a 
coordinated multi-agency response, ensuring that 
the right advice and support is given at the right 
time, with opportunities for early intervention  
and promotion of wellbeing being prioritised 
wherever possible.  

Partners in Derbyshire face considerable 
challenges in responding to homelessness and 
rough sleeping, set against a backdrop of the 
global pandemic, increases in the cost of living and 
an increasingly unaffordable housing market. 

The multi-agency response to protecting people 
experiencing homelessness during the pandemic 
shows what can be achieved when we work 
together. The close collaboration between district 
and borough councils, our partners at Derbyshire 
County Council, the NHS, criminal justice system 
and the Health & Wellbeing board proved what 
can be achieved when we work together and the 
driving force behind this strategy is to ensure that 
this new way of working remains the new normal.  

Derbyshire’s Homelessness Strategy builds on 
the work during COVID-19 by further preventing 
people from experiencing homelessness in 
the first place and helping people who are 
experiencing homelessness build a more positive 
healthier future.   

Dean Wallace  
Director of Public Health 
for Derbyshire

The vision is simple -  
“Working collaboratively 

across Derbyshire to 
prevent and reduce 

homelessness – making it 
everyone’s responsibility.”  

This Strategy reflects our  
strong shared commitment  

to realising this vision.

Page 15



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 20274

Cllr Paul Hillier  
Deputy Leader and Cabinet 
Member for Housing & Public 
Health, Amber Valley Borough 
Council

Cllr Sandra Peake 
Portfolio Holder – Housing , 
Bolsover District Council 

Cllr Christine Ludlow 
Cabinet Minister for Housing, 
Chesterfield Borough Council 

Cllr Chris Furness 
Chair of Community and 
Environment, Derbyshire Dales 
District Council

Cllr Paul Maginnis 
Lead Member for Health  
and Wellbeing,  
Erewash Borough Council 

Cllr Fiona Sloman 
Executive Councillor for Housing & 
Licensing,  
High Peak Borough Council

Cllr Carolyn Renwick 
Cabinet Member for Housing & 
Community Safety, North East 
Derbyshire District Council 

Cllr Gordon Rhind 
Chair of Housing & Community 
Service Committee, South 
Derbyshire District Council

Group Members

We are excited to be able 
to adopt such an ambitious 

Countywide Homelessness & 
Rough Sleeping Strategy and 

are committed to working 
in partnership across the 
County to transform our 

response to homelessness.

Page 16



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 2027 5

improved outcomes for some of our clients with 
long and complex histories of homelessness.  

Through this strategy we want to build upon this 
collaborative approach and create a new normal 
that breaks down current blockages within the 
system, ensuring a multi-disciplinary approach 
designed around the needs of customers. 

We now have a unique opportunity to ensure 
that systems change permanently. Through 
this strategy we want to ensure that there is a 
legacy; changing the way homelessness and 
wider services are designed, commissioned, and 
delivered across Derbyshire.

This strategy also provides a platform to work in 
partnership to meet the complex and multiple 
needs that some individuals experiencing 
homelessness present with – over recent years we 
have witnessed a stark increase in the complexity 
of need that people are presenting with. The 
solution to homelessness is rarely ever just a home 
and through the implementation of this strategy 
we will develop a multi-disciplinary approach 
that seeks to address the underlying causes of 
homelessness and the wider support needs that 
people experience, alongside developing clear 
pathways between services. 

This strategy sets out a clear and ambitious plan 
to transform our response to homelessness and 
has been developed through close collaboration 
between the Derbyshire Homelessness Officer’s 
Group (DHOG), Derbyshire County Council, Public 
Health, NHS, Police, Probation, and a wide range 
of partner agencies. 

Introduction 
This is Derbyshire’s first Countywide 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 
and signifies a transformation in our response 
to homelessness. Through this strategy we 
want to ensure a whole system approach 
whereby homelessness is everyone’s 
responsibility. The development of this 
strategy has been commissioned by the eight 
district and borough Councils to ensure a 
collaborative and innovative approach to 
transforming our response to homelessness.

This strategy has been developed at a time of 
significant pressures – including the recovery from 
the pandemic, the war in Ukraine, the largest 
increases in the cost of living witnessed in 10 
years, and inflation at the highest level in 40 years. 
This is set against a backdrop of an increasingly 
unaffordable housing market and national 
increases in homelessness levels. The challenges 
are we are facing are significant – and that is why 
it is more imperative than ever to have a strategic 
countywide response to tackling homelessness 
across Derbyshire.

It is widely recognised that homelessness, in 
its causes and consequences, is a cross-cutting 
issue, which cannot be tackled by one agency 
alone. In order to effectively prevent and respond 
to homelessness it is essential that all partner 
agencies work collaboratively together in an 
integrated way to both address the underlying 
causes that have led to homelessness, but also 
develop a system that meets the needs of  
this, often vulnerable, client group in a 
coordinated way. 

The homelessness response to the COVID-19 
pandemic has seen a collective partnership 
approach to protecting the most vulnerable 
members of our communities.  Through our 
response to the pandemic we have demonstrated 
what working together can achieve and there is 
strong evidence to show that our actions have 
saved lives and prevented hospital and intensive 
care admissions. 

This unprecedented challenge has led to creativity, 
innovation, improved partnership working, and 
a wider recognition of the intrinsic link between 
homelessness and health. Through a co-ordinated 
approach to service delivery we have witnessed 

Page 17



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 20276

The success of its delivery will rest upon the 
ongoing commitment of all of these organisations 
to meet our vision, and to ensure that 
homelessness is everyone’s responsibility and 
the response that we saw during the pandemic 
becomes the new normal.  

Whilst the ambitions of this Strategy are to 
collaborate to ensure consistent and high quality 
provision to meet the needs of the people of 
Derbyshire, there will still be a need for individual 
local authorities to undertake localised projects 
to meet the individual needs of their specific 
communities.

Building on Success: 
Derbyshire 
Homelessness Officers 
Group 
Derbyshire Homelessness Officers Group’s (DHOG) 
purpose is to promote homelessness reduction 
and prevention through strategic leadership and 
the development and commissioning of improved 
and integrated homelessness services in the 
County. DHOGs mission is to make homelessness, 
and the causes of homelessness, everyone’s 
responsibility.  

DHOG is made up of homeless leads from the 
9 District and Borough Authorities (including 
Staffordshire Moorlands), together with 
representatives from Public Health and Derbyshire 
County Council. 

DHOG recognises that this Strategy sets out 
an ambitious plan and vision for tackling 
homelessness over the next five years, and to 
successfully deliver this will require significant 
commitment from all of the Local Authorities and 
our key partners. However this strategy is built 
upon a successful partnership, which has a unique 
reputation for getting things done, and bringing 
about collaboration and change. 

The response to the pandemic has crystallised 
the impact that a joint and collaborative approach 
can have, and the combined effort of all DHOG 
partners ultimately saved lives.  
Our response included:

• Jointly commissioning the use of a local hotel to 
provide emergency accommodation.

• Securing match funding of £86,000 from 
Derbyshire County Council in order to pool 
COVID-19 emergency funds to enable a 
collaborative approach.

Page 18



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 2027 7

• These achievements provide us with a solid 
platform of collaboration to meet the ambitions 
set out in this strategy. 

• Effective and successful partnership established 
with the Derbyshire Law Centre to deliver the 
Homelessness Prevention and Court Desk liaison 
services.

These achievements provide us with a solid 
platform of collaboration to meet the ambitions 
set out in this strategy.

• Bringing together partners from the NHS, public 
health, adult social care, police, substance 
misuse services and the charitable sector to 
provide support to those accommodated as part 
of the crisis response.

• Establishing a ‘Keeping Everyone In Service’ 
(KEIS) to continue to provide accommodation 
and support to clients with severe and multiple 
deprivation, securing funding from a wide range 
of partners.

• Development of the Mount Cook Winter 
provision to provide emergency cold weather 
provision, with multi-agency support available  
on site.

Other achievements and successes of DHOG 
include:

• Derbyshire Move-on support protocol.

• Joint commissioning on an integrated ICT 
solution to meet the requirements of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017.

• Co-ordination of rough sleeper counts across 
Derbyshire and Staffordshire Moorlands.

• Successful Rough Sleeper Initiative funding bid 
to provide outreach services across Derbyshire.

• Joint commissioning of a countywide out of 
hours service

• Joint commissioning of Call B4U Serve to prevent 
homelessness from the private rented sector

Page 19



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 20278

Our Vision 

Working 
collaboratively 

across Derbyshire to 
prevent and reduce 

homelessness – 
making it everyone’s 

responsibility.

Our Vision for 
Homelessness across 
Derbyshire
We recognise that while each district and 
borough is unique, many of the challenges we 
face in tackling homelessness are common 
across the whole of Derbyshire, and therefore 
this Strategy provides us with a platform upon 
which to transform homelessness services across 
Derbyshire. We recognise that the impact that we 
have when we work together is greater and we can 
achieve more.  Together we are stronger.

Through this Strategy we aim to:

• Create, share, and replicate best practice and 
innovation in responses to homelessness and its 
prevention across Derbyshire.

• Commission and develop joint services and 
improve collaboration wherever possible.

• Prevent homelessness across the whole system 
by intervening earlier and developing individual 
solutions.

• Respond to homelessness by ensuring individuals 
have prompt access to homes and tailored 
support.

• Secure system wide transformation of all services 
in recognition that homelessness is everyone’s 
responsibility.

• Increase the range of affordable housing options 
available across the County.

• Develop a better understanding of the causes of 
homelessness through improved data capture 
across the sub region.

Page 20



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 2027 9

To meet the vision and aims of the strategy there 
is a need to transform service delivery through the 
following principles: 

Collaboration 
A collaborative partnership approach is 
fundamental to being able to effectively tackle 
homelessness. This Strategy is a multi-agency 
document and has been developed with partners 
to tackle the underlying causes of homelessness, 
create effective pathways out of homelessness, 
and design out system blockages.

Meeting our 
vision 
Transforming our 
Approach 
This Strategy sets out an ambitious plan for 
transforming our response to homelessness 
across the County. The scale and complexity of the 

challenges that face the partnership over 
the lifetime of this strategy cannot be under-
estimated; these challenges include the recovery 
from the pandemic, high increases in the cost of 
living, national increases in homelessness and 
rough sleeping, and pressures on budgets – set 
against an increasingly unaffordable  
housing market  

Through the delivery of the Strategy we will 
continue to work closely with partners to develop 
a new approach to responding to homelessness 
that focuses on preventing homelessness at the 
earliest opportunity, while providing rapid housing 
responses to those that need them. We will work 
to embed homelessness prevention approaches 
across all public services. 

Page 21



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 202710 Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 202710

Making homelessness 
everyone’s responsibility
We are clear that all agencies have a responsibility 
to prevent homelessness. We will work with 
partners and local communities to ensure that the 
factors that lead to homelessness can be better 
understood and identified, with effective pathways 
into preventative services in place, and clear and 
accessible referral mechanisms. We aim to embed 
this approach across Derbyshire, significantly 
reducing crisis presentations and ensuring 
effective homelessness prevention interventions, 
partnerships and pathways are in place.

A personalised approach 
We recognise that people experiencing 
homelessness are individuals and have different 
and unique circumstances and needs. Through 
this Strategy we intend to deliver solutions that 
are tailored to the individual needs of people. Our 
approach is to recognise the strengths and assets 
that individuals have, and we will build upon these 
strengths, empowering individuals, and ensuring a 
trauma informed approach across all key services.

Strategic Priorities
This Strategy will meet the vision and aims 
through the delivery of 4 clear priorities:

1. Make homelessness everyone’s 
responsibility through a system wide 
approach

• Secure System-wide commitment to transform 
services in recognition that homelessness is 
everyone’s responsibility.

• Embed homeless prevention across public 
services.

2. Prevent and respond to homelessness 
through early intervention and personalised 
solutions 

• Intervene earlier to ensure opportunities for 
homeless prevention are maximised with 
effective and targeted tools in place.

• Promote customer choice in developing 
bespoke housing solutions.

Page 22



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 2027 11Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 2027 11

3. End rough sleeping and repeat homelessness
• Deliver a multi-agency, trauma informed 

approach to meet the multiple and complex 
needs of individuals through multi-disciplinary 
interventions

• Develop targeted rough sleeping prevention 
services and rapid accommodation  
and support

• Prevent repeat homelessness through 
individually tailored accommodation and 
support options.

4. Develop sustainable supported and settled 
housing solutions

• Advocate for higher standards in the regulation 
of supported housing at a national level

• Develop, improve, then maintain the standards 
and management of supported housing 
provision to meet the needs of our homeless 
population

• Improve access to affordable, quality, private 
sector homes to respond to homelessness

• Secure commitment from social housing 
providers to tackle homelessness as a 
corporate priority

• Ensure an adequate supply of temporary 
accommodation and minimise the use of B&B 
accommodation.

The Strategy sets out how these strategic priorities 
will be delivered.

Page 23



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 202712 Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 202712

Homelessness in figures
Understanding homelessness across Derbyshire
A full data report is available upon request.

In 2019/20, 

292
households 

were evicted 
from social 

housing.

344
households 
were homeless 
due to  
domestic abuse.

The main reason for 
homelessness in 2020/21 

was family eviction 

In 2020/21, 

143
people were 
evicted from 

supported 
housing.

In 2020/21, there were

2,603

434
households were 

homeless due 
to the loss of 

private rented 
accommodation 

in 2020/21.

households 
who were  

homeless or  
threatened  

with  
homelessness.

In 2020/21,

104
people were verified 

rough sleeping across 
Derbyshire

EVICTION
NOTICE

EVICTION
NOTICE

EVICTION
NOTICE

613
households were 
homeless for this 

reason.

In 2020/21,  

382
households were homeless 
due to relationship 
breakdown.

Page 24



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 2027 13

28%
people were verified increase in the use 

of B&Bs in 2020/21 compared with the 
previous year.

592
households were accommodated in B&Bs 

in 2020/21.

In 2020/21, 

1,031
households 

had their 
homelessness 

prevented.

In 2020/21, 

796
households had 

their homelessness 
relieved.

In 2020/21, there were

1,479
people experiencing 

homelessness had an 
identified support need.

951
households were 

accomodated 
in temporary 

accomodation in 
2020/21.

43%
increase in the 

use of temporary 
accommodation in 

2020/21 compared with 
the previous year.

Mental Health is  
the most prevalent  
support need, with

33%
of homeless households 
having a mental health 

support need.

EVICTION
NOTICE

Page 25



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 202714 Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 202714

Make homelessness everyone’s 
responsibility through a 
system-wide approach

Secure system-
wide commitment to 

transform services 
in recognition that 

homelessness 
is everyone’s 
responsibility

Embed 
homeless 

prevention 
across public 

services

In order to be able to meet the vision of this 
Strategy we intend to develop a clear Derbyshire 
Homelessness Charter for partner agencies to be 
sign up to. 

The Charter will set out our vision for homelessness 
and ask partner agencies to sign up to this and 
make a pledge as to what they can do to help us 
achieve the vision. Building upon this we will explore 
the feasibility of developing a commitment from 
partners to collaborate to prevent homelessness in 
order to embed homeless prevention across public 
services. In the meantime we will streamline the 
existing duty to refer process to ensure timely and 
quality referrals.

We know that there are currently missed 
opportunities across the system to prevent 
homelessness; a wide range of agencies have 
opportunities to reduce housing crisis amongst 

the clients that they work with. We can achieve 
this by working in a more joined up way to identify 
those individuals that are at a greater risk of 
homelessness. By working to identify the triggers 
for homelessness and ensuring that agencies can 
recognise the indicators of housing stress, we 
can ensure that partner agencies are equipped 
to prevent homelessness and make appropriate 
timely referrals. We are clear that homelessness 
is everyone’s responsibility, and by all agencies 
accepting this responsibility we can transform our 
approach to homelessness across the County.

While it is widely recognised that there are strong 
correlations between homelessness and severe 
physical and mental health conditions, alongside 
significantly reduced life expectancy, the pandemic 
has crystallised the links between health and 
homelessness like never before.

Page 26



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 2027 15

likely to try and make temporary arrangements 
with family and friends, compared with more 
urban areas with greater provision available. We 
will undertake research into the nature and extent 
of rural homelessness across the County and raise 
awareness within rural communities of the help 
and support that is available to people who are at 
risk of experiencing homelessness.

This Strategy provides the opportunity to develop 
more consistent approaches to how each Local 
Authority delivers their housing options and 
homelessness services, including learning 
from, sharing, and replicating best practice and 
innovation.

We will also ensure that data informs and 
underlies everything that we do. We will ensure 
that we collect data more effectively across 
the wider system and use this data to improve 
targeted interventions and joint approaches.

We will work to improve access to health services 
for people experiencing homelessness to 
address both immediate and longer term needs, 
while recognising that people experiencing 
homelessness may not find it easy to access 
mainstream service provision.

It is acknowledged that there are currently barriers 
within the current system that often mean that 
individuals experiencing homelessness with 
complex needs aren’t always able to access the 
wider services that they need to, including mental 
health, substance misuse, and adult social care 
services. Often individuals with complex and 
multiple needs fail to attend appointments at 
specific locations and times, or engage with the 
necessary services, this can result in them being 
discharged from services. We will work closely with 
Public Health, the Primary Care Trust, Derbyshire 
Foundation Trust, and Derbyshire County Council 
to ensure that services are accessible to those 
experiencing multiple and severe deprivation and 
that individual outcomes are improved.

We have identified high levels of evictions from 
social housing in some parts of the County, we 
will work closely with all social housing providers 
to end evictions into homelessness, through 
the development of pre-eviction protocols and 
encouraging landlords to sign up to the principles 
of Homes for Cathy.

Significant parts of the County are very rural 
and as such homelessness in these areas is 
often hidden. People who are experiencing 
homelessness or in housing difficulty are more 

Page 27



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 202716 Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 202716

Actions 
What we will do to make 
homelessness everyone’s 
responsibility through a 
system-wide approach
1. Gain commitment from partner agencies 

across Derbyshire to develop a Homelessness 
Charter together.

2. Assess the feasibility of a Commitment to 
Collaborate in order to embed homeless 
prevention across Derbyshire’s statutory and 
voluntary services.  

3. Identify the key triggers for homelessness 
and work with partners to ensure that they 
are equipped to prevent homelessness and/or 
make seamless referrals where necessary.

4. Streamline the Duty to Refer referral system 
and work with partner agencies to improve the 
timeliness and quality of referrals.

5. Develop a Countywide Homelessness Forum 
as a vehicle for delivering the Countywide 
Homelessness Strategy.

6. Seek to better understand the health needs 
of the homeless population through a health 
needs audit with partners.

7. Improve access to health services and health 
outcomes for individuals experiencing 

homelessness, by working with partners.
8. Work with Derbyshire County Council, the 

Primary Care Trust, Derbyshire Foundation 
Trust, and Public Health to influence and 
inform the commissioning and delivery 
of mental health, substance misuse, and 
adult social care services to ensure they are 
accessible and meet the needs of clients 
experiencing homelessness with complex and 
multiple needs.

9. Seek that stock holding authorities sign up to 
the principles for Homes for Cathy.

10. Encourage all social housing providers to 
become a member of Homes for Cathy.

11. Evaluate the extent of rural homelessness 
across the area and the need for a specific 
public awareness campaign within rural 
communities.

12. Identify opportunities to create more 
consistent approaches and promote best 
practice in the delivery of housing options 
services.

13. Develop a common referral form to access 
supported housing services across Derbyshire.

14. Ensure that data is captured widely and 
effectively across the system to understand 
homelessness and the wider determinants, 
and that this data is used to improve 
interventions and joint approaches.

Page 28



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 2027 17Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 2027 17

It is anticipated that increases in the cost of living 
will lead to people finding it increasingly difficult 
to meet their housing costs. We will ensure that 
a range of measures are in place to prevent 
homelessness linked to the wider economy, 
increases in the cost of living, and the recovery 
from the pandemic. We will work in partnership to 
ensure adequate services are in place to improve 
people’s financial capability, including accessing 
education, employment and training. We will also 
ensure that there are targeted interventions to 
support both tenants and landlords in order to 
minimise evictions from the private rented sector.

Following the enactment of the Domestic Abuse 
Act 2021 we will work closely with Derbyshire 
County Council to meet the requirements of 
the Act, and ensure that for those experiencing 
domestic abuse there are a range of options and 
choice available to assist them in having a safe 
home to live in.

Prevent and Respond to 
Homelessness Through Early 
Intervention and Personalised 
Solutions
Across Derbyshire we have had significant success 
in both preventing and relieving homelessness 
following the implementation of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017, but we recognise that we can 
always do more.

By acting quicker and earlier to identify problems 
alongside the provision of high-quality advice, 
assistance, and advocacy, we will ensure people 
have the best chance of staying in their home. We 
will also develop a greater understanding of the 
impact of wider social issues such as childhood 
poverty and disadvantage, unemployment, 
poor health and wellbeing, and lack of access to 
affordable, decent homes. We believe this will 
greatly increase the chances of positive outcomes 
for people at risk of experiencing homelessness.

Alongside our intention to promote the earliest 
possible prevention by embedding homelessness 
prevention awareness and information through 
a multi layered, whole system, partnership 
approach, we are committed to ensuring all 
Housing Options services work with individuals 
prior to the statutory 56-day threat of 
homelessness. We will work with people at the 
earliest possible point to ensure that opportunities 
for prevention are maximised, this will include 
undertaking an awareness raising campaign 
encouraging people to seek help at the  
earliest point.

In order to ensure that we are able to deliver 
personalised housing solutions we will develop 
an integrated homelessness and wellbeing 
assessment which will identify the wider support 
and wellbeing areas that people need help with 
alongside understanding their strengths  
and aspirations.

We will continue to work with partners to develop 
and deliver effective, targeted, and consistent 
homelessness prevention services targeted at the 
main causes of homelessness – in particular we 
will undertake research into the causes of family 
evictions across Derbyshire in order to gain an in 
depth insight into this area and develop targeted 
interventions accordingly. We will work with key 
partners to ensure that a range of joint protocols 
are in place to prevent homelessness and create 
clear pathways out of homelessness.

Intervene earlier to 
ensure opportunities 

for homelessness 
prevention are 

maximised with 
effective and targeted 

tools in place.

Promote 
customer choice 

in developing 
bespoke housing 

solutions.

Page 29



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 202718

The months ahead are going to be very hard 
with soaring food and energy prices on top of 
extortionate and rising rents. If struggling families 
are to stand a chance at recovery, the government 
has to build decent social homes - it is the only 
solution to homelessness that will last.” 

The impact of homelessness on families with 
children can be significant – not only do children 
feel an overwhelming sense of displacement 
having lost a sense of home, experiencing 
homelessness and living in emergency 
accommodation can impact upon access to 
healthy meals, limited access to bathrooms and 
laundry facilities, potentially having to move away 
from family, schools, and wider support networks. 
Experiencing homelessness can also lead to severe 
emotional trauma.

With increases in the cost of living there will be 
an increase in the number of children living in 
poverty, an increase in families being able to meet 
their housing costs, and a very likely increase in 
homelessness amongst families.

We will work closely in partnership with a range of 
agencies including Children’s Services to minimise 
the detrimental impact of homelessness on 
families, specifically children.

Actions
What we will do to prevent 
and respond to homelessness 
through early intervention and 
personalised solutions
1. Consider research projects into the impact of 

wider social issues on homelessness where 
shared partnership approaches are central to 
resolving them. Prioritise projects and seek 
resources for these based on impact and 
extent of existing research.

2. Commit to working to prevent homelessness 
prior to 56 days (in advance of any statutory 
duty), and where funding allows develop a 
specialist early intervention project.

3. Undertake an awareness raising campaign 
focusing on homeless prevention, encouraging 
individuals to seek help at the earliest point.

4. Work with partners to develop an integrated 
homelessness and wellbeing assessment.

5. Work with Derbyshire County Council to meet 
the requirements of the Domestic Abuse Act 
2021, including ensuring that there is a range 
of housing options, choice and information 
available to those experiencing  
domestic abuse.

Page 30



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 2027 19Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 2027 19

6. React accordingly and ensure a range 
of measures are in place to prevent 
homelessness linked to the wider economy 
and increases in the cost of living.

7. Work with partners to ensure access to 
services to improve customer’s financial 
capability – including access to education, 
training, and employment. 

8. Commit to improving prevention toolkits 
across Derbyshire.

9. Work with partners to better understand 
the nature and extent of family evictions, 
and develop targeted preventative tools 
accordingly.

10. Work to maximise preventions from 
the private rented sector through the 
development of targeted interventions.

11. Explore the viability of creating a county-wide 
private landlords forum in order to improve 
landlord participation and engagement.

12. Develop a supported housing pre-eviction 
protocol in partnership with providers.

13. Develop a prison release protocol.
14. Secure support from leadership at relevant 

hospitals to develop discharge protocols with 
Derbyshire councils.

15. Develop a Young Persons Positive Pathway 
with Children’s Services to include a joint 
protocol for 16/17 year olds. 

16. Work in partnership with Children’s 
services and other key agencies to 
minimise the detrimental impact of 
homelessness on children.

Page 31



Through this strategy we are committed to 
ensure that we can end the need for anyone to 
sleep rough across Derbyshire. Rough sleeping 
is harmful to both individuals and communities 
and we believe that no one should have to 
sleep on the streets.

We will deliver a reduction in rough sleeping and 
address the multiple harms it brings to individuals 
and communities through rapid intervention 
to offer a route off the street for all, improving 
health and wellbeing, and tackling street activity 
associated with rough sleeping.

If we are to 
minimise the 
considerable 
harm caused by 
rough sleeping, 
the most 
important thing 
we can do is to 
prevent it from 
happening in 
the first place. 
However, we 
can’t do this 
in isolation, rather, we need to ensure that the 
right support is in place from other key agencies, 
including health services, adult social care, prison, 
probation, police, the care system and the Job 
Centre working together to support the most 
vulnerable, with services in place that prevent 
people ending up in crisis.

Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 202720 Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 202720

End rough sleeping and 
repeat homelessness

Deliver a multi-agency, 
trauma-informed 

approach to meet the 
multiple and complex 

needs of individuals 
through multi-

disciplinary  
interventions

Prevent repeat 
homelessness 

through 
individually tailored 

accommodation 
and support  

options

Develop  
targeted rough 

sleeping prevention 
services and rapid 

accommodation 
and support

Page 32



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 2027 21

existing system blockages and preventing repeat 
homelessness from occurring.

We recognise that homelessness in adults is more 
likely amongst those who have experienced a 
history of childhood adversity and poverty. We 
are committed to working to develop trauma-
informed approaches to delivering homelessness 
services and ensuring that existing systems do not 
result in retraumatising individuals.

Many of the current rough sleeping and complex 
needs services across Derbyshire are funded 
through Rough Sleeper Initiative (RSI) funding 
from central Government which is only confirmed 
until 2025. Over the first two years of this strategy 
we will assess the impact and outcomes of the RSI 
funded projects, including a cost benefit analysis 
–working to develop a business case to secure 
future ongoing funding for these essential services 
which are critical to our aim to end rough sleeping.

While rough sleeping is the most visible form 
of homelessness, the COVID-19 pandemic has 
revealed the true extent of hidden homelessness 
across the County, individuals living in insecure 
accommodation, vulnerably housed and/or sofa 
surfing. We will undertake research to understand 
the nature and scale of hidden homelessness 
across Derbyshire and develop targeted 
interventions.

We will also work in partnership to develop 
specialist services for families with complex 
needs to prevent repeat cycles of homelessness 
occurring, with the aim of tackling inter-
generational homelessness.

We will identify the key triggers that lead to 
rough sleeping, and work with partner agencies 
to ensure that these key triggers and risk factors 
are identified, and referrals are made. We will 
also ensure that effective preventative work is 
targeted at groups who have a greater likelihood 
of experiencing homelessness and rough sleeping.

We will provide a rapid intervention for all 
rough sleepers which will offer a route off of 
the streets for everyone, through an assertive 
outreach service, that works effectively and 
rapidly with those new to the streets – alongside 
supporting more entrenched rough sleepers 
into accommodation and support and providing 
supported reconnections to those from out of 
area.

We will ensure that no one in Derbyshire has 
to sleep rough through the creation of a clear 
accommodation pathway from the streets into 
a range of accommodation options, including 
exploring the feasibility of a Countywide 
assessment centre. We will also create specialist 
winter provision, building upon the success of 
the Mount Cook project – which provided both 
accommodation and multi-agency support under 
one roof.

While rough sleeping is the most visible form of 
homelessness, and one that creates the greatest 
risk of harm, we recognise that across the majority 
of Derbyshire Local Authority areas rough sleeping 
levels are low; however there has been over recent 
years an increase in the number of individuals with 
complex and multiple needs who have a history  
of repeat homelessness across all areas  
of Derbyshire.

For many people experiencing homelessness is 
not just a housing issue, it is closely linked with 
complex and chaotic life experiences, often having 
their roots in entrenched disadvantage, and 
leaving people socially and economically excluded.

We cannot successfully tackle homelessness and 
rough sleeping without addressing the multiple 
needs of clients, and to do this we must work in 
partnership.

Through the establishment of a Multi-Disciplinary 
Team we aim to deliver assertive and co-ordinated 
services to those clients with the most complex 
needs to ensure a holistic and collaborative 
approach to responding to their homelessness 
and the wider support and health issues that 
they experience, breaking down some of the 

Page 33



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 202722 Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 202722

Actions
What we will do to end 
rough sleeping and repeat 
homelessness
1. As part of the Rough Sleeping Initiative, 

develop a targeted prevention approach to 
prevent the flow of new rough sleepers on to 
the street.

2. Develop a multi-disciplinary team to work to 
deliver assertive and coordinated services to 
rough sleepers and individuals experiencing 
homelessness with multiple, complex 
needs, with a focus on preventing repeat 
homelessness.

3. Explore how we can provide a rapid offer of off 
the street accommodation so that no-one has 
to spend a second night on the streets.

4. Explore the feasibility of developing an 
assessment centre to provide off the street 
accommodation for rough sleepers.

5. Plan and develop specialist winter provision 
for future winters.

6. Develop a supported reconnection policy to 
support rough sleepers to return safely to 
their home areas.

7. Assess the impact and outcomes of the Rough 
Sleeper Initiative funded projects, and develop 
a business case to secure future funding, 
including a detailed cost benefit analysis.

8. Develop an alternative giving campaign, and 
work to promote public awareness around 
rough sleeping and begging, where there is 
evidence that the issues exists.

9. Develop specialist education, employment, 
and training opportunities for those with a 
complex history of homelessness and rough 
sleeping.

10.  Gather evidence and consider research 
projects into 
• The extent of dual diagnosis within the 

homelessness population in order to 
create an evidence base to work with 
commissioners to create new service 
pathways.

•  The nature and scale of hidden 
homelessness. 

•  The nature and scale of intergenerational 
homelessness across Derbyshire.

 Prioritise those projects needed based on 
impact and seek funding to progress them.

Page 34



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 2027 23

of support or expected standards of tenancy 
management. Through this Strategy we will 
advocate at a national level for higher standards in 
the regulation of supported accommodation. We 
will work closely with Adult Social Care to protect 
and safeguard the most vulnerable residents of 
supported accommodation. 

Locally we will develop a Charter of Rights and 
Responsibilities for exempt accommodation, 
we also recognise we have many good private 
landlords of exempt accommodation,  
and we will support them to achieve Registered 
Provider status.

To ensure that supported housing provision is able 
to meet our customers’ increasingly complex and 
multiple needs, we will undertake a detailed needs 
assessment of housing related support services, 
to understand the current and future needs of our 
residents. This will provide the basis for a robust 
delivery strategy.

Develop 
sustainable 
supported 
and settled 
housing 
solutions
We want to maximise every mechanism to 
increase the number of affordable housing 
options available across Derbyshire to both 
prevent and relieve homelessness ensuring 
long-term solutions to people’s housing 
situation. A range of accommodation options 
is needed across the social, affordable private 
and supported sector to cater for a wide range 
of housing needs.

We will work across Derbyshire with all social 
housing developers to increase the provision of 
appropriate and affordable social housing to meet 
the identified need in each area.

The private rented sector plays an increasingly 
critical role in meeting the housing needs of those 
who are experiencing homelessness or threatened 
with homelessness.

There are clear opportunities to increase access to 
the private rented sector through the development 
of an attractive and comprehensive Derbyshire 
landlord offer, alongside this we will explore the 
feasibility of developing a countywide private 
sector leasing scheme.

Supported housing has an important role 
to play in meeting the housing and support 
needs of clients who are not ready to live 
independently. However, this must provide quality 
accommodation with good support. Increasingly 
we are seeing a rise in unscrupulous landlords 
taking advantage of the exempt accommodation 
rules and failing to provide the necessary levels 

Develop, improve,  
then maintain the 

standards and 
management of supported 
housing provision to meet 
the needs of our homeless 

population

Secure 
commitment from 

social housing 
providers to tackle 

homelessness 
as a corporate 

priority

Improve access  
to affordable, 

quality, private 
sector homes 
to respond to 

homelessness

Page 35



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 202724

DHOG is committed to investing in a supported 
housing model that acts as a place of change. 
We will work with the Derbyshire County Council 
to develop appropriate housing for clients with 
complex, multiple and care needs, ensuring that 
provision and support is psychologically  
informed, and builds upon the assets of the 
individuals supported.

We will also work closely with Derbyshire 
County Council to develop provision for those 
experiencing domestic abuse, including rapid safe 
provision together with advocacy support.

Where homelessness cannot be prevented, 
temporary accommodation is an essential part of 
a household’s journey out of homelessness. There 
has been an increase in the use of temporary 
accommodation across Derbyshire over the last 
three years, including increases in the use of bed 
& breakfast accommodation, this is partly linked to 
the response to the pandemic.

By ensuring a continued focus on early 
intervention and prevention work we aim to 
reduce the flow of new placements into temporary 
accommodation. However, as a County we need 
to ensure that we have a sufficient supply of 
temporary accommodation to meet demand, of 
the right type and in the right place. This will be 
essential to avoid the high use of B&B.

In order to achieve this we will undertake a 
review of temporary accommodation identifying 
future need and an options appraisal for future 
delivery arrangements. We will also explore the 
feasibility of jointly commissioning nightly paid 
accommodation as an alternative to B&B.

Ensure an 
adequate supply 

of temporary 
accommodation 

and minimise 
the use of B&B 

accommodation

Advocate for 
higher standards 
in the regulation 

of supported 
housing at a 

national level

Page 36



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 2027 25

6. Work with current exempt supported 
accommodation providers to achieve 
Registered Provider status.

7. Carry out a review of the use of temporary and 
interim accommodation:
•  Identifying future need and an options 

appraisal for future delivery arrangements, 
including the option of nightly paid 
emergency accommodation.

•  Explore opportunities for a countywide 
temporary accommodation forum.

Actions
What we will do to develop 
sustainable supported and 
settled housing solutions
1. Work towards increasing the provision of 

appropriate, affordable social housing.
2. Following consultation with private landlords 

develop a comprehensive and attractive 
countywide landlord offer.

3. Explore opportunities to develop a countywide 
private sector leasing scheme

4. Review exempt supported accommodation 
leading to:
•  A needs assessment.

•  A charter of rights and quality standards.

•  Support for accommodation providers 
becoming Registered Providers. 

•  Advocating at a national level for better 
regulation. 

•  A delivery strategy.

5. In partnership with Derbyshire County 
Council, develop appropriate housing 
provision for clients with complex, multiple 
and longer-term care needs where funding 
permits. 

Page 37



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 202726

Transforming our approach to 
homelessness
Delivering our  
Homelessness and 
Rough Sleeping Strategy
In order to deliver the priorities that we have 
set out in this Strategy we need to continue to 
work closely with our key partners to ensure 
that across Derbyshire we have the expertise, 
services, provision, resources, partnerships 
and infrastructure to deliver the Strategy.

The Strategy and its action plan will be reviewed 
annually so that it is responsive to emerging 
needs, alongside policy, and legislative changes.

While Derbyshire Homelessness Officers Group will 
lead on the delivery of the strategy, it is essential 
that it joins up with over workstreams across the 
County. DHOG will report into the County’s Housing 
and Health Systems Group, who will adopt the 
Strategy as priority 2 of their own work plan. The 
Housing and Health Systems Group operates as a 
coalition of partners who share good practice and 
expertise around housing and health, as well as 
explore external investment opportunities and work 
towards a joined-up system.

The delivery of the Strategy will be governed 
by Derbyshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board, 
ensuring the intrinsic link between homelessness 
and health is fully understood and cementing 
the partnership approach required to deliver the 
Strategy.

We will also ensure that the Homelessness 
Strategy continues to feed into the Place Board 
and the seven Place Alliances, joining up housing, 
health, care and community support.

This strategy will be complemented by a detailed 
delivery action plan and we will work closely with 
all of our key partners to agree the detail on how 
our priorities can be met.  We will annually review 
the strategy action plan to ensure that it remains 
relevant, up to date and responsive to new policy 
developments and external pressures.

We acknowledge that the plans set out within this 
Strategy are ambitious, however we are confident 
that with the full commitment from all of the Local 
Authorities and our key partners we can transform 
our response to homelessness across the County 
and make homelessness everyone’s responsibility.

Page 38



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 2027 27

Appendix 1: 
About Homeless Link
Homeless Link is the national membership 
charity for organisations working with people 
experiencing or at risk of homelessness In 
England. We aim to develop, inspire, support, 
and sustain a movement of organisations 
working together to achieve positive futures 
for people who are homeless or vulnerably 
housed.

Representing over 900 organisations across 
England, we are in a unique position to see 
both the scale and nature of the tragedy of 
homelessness. We see the data gaps; the national 
policy barriers; the constraints of both funding 
and expertise; the system blocks and attitudinal 
obstacles. But crucially, we also see – and are 
instrumental in developing – the positive practice 
and ‘what works’ solutions.

As an organisation we believe that things can and 
should be better: not because we are naïve or cut 
off from reality, but because we have seen and 
experienced radical positive change in the way 
systems and services are delivered – and that gives 
us hope for a different future.

We support our members through research, 
guidance, and learning, and to promote policy 
change that will ensure everyone has a place to 
call home and the support they need to keep it.

Homeless Link,  
Minories House,  
2-5 Minories,  
London EC3N 1BJ 
www.homeless.org.uk

Page 39



Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 2022 - 202728

Local Authority contacts
Amber Valley Borough Council 
Jon Leigh 
Email: jonathan.leigh@ambervalley.gov.uk 

Bolsover District Council  
Victoria Dawson 
Email: Victoria.Dawson@bolsover.gov.uk

Chesterfield Borough Council 
Carl Griffiths 
Email: Carl.Griffiths@Chesterfield.gov.uk

Derbyshire Dales District Council 
Simon Benyon 
Email: simon.beynon@derbyshiredales.gov.uk

Erewash Borough Council 
Leah Taylor 
Email: Leah.Taylor@erewash.gov.uk

High Peak Borough Council 
Helen Core 
Email: Helen.Core@highpeak.gov.uk

North East Derbyshire District Council 
Lee Pepper 
Email: lee.pepper@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk

South Derbyshire District Council 
Kirsty Barker 
Email: Kirsty.Barker@southderbyshire.gov.uk

Page 40



Page 41



Designed and printed by North East Derbyshire District Council

Polish
Mówimy Twoim językiem

Romanian
Vorbim limba dumneavoastră

Urdu

Chinese
我们会说你的语言

We speak your language If you require this publication in

large print or another format

please call: Bolsover District Council

on 01246 242424 or 

North East Derbyshire District Council

on 01246 231111
Text No: 07800 00 24 25
(NEDDC only)

Page 42



Appendix 1:  
Countywide Data 
Report
April 2022
Laura Paterson, Homeless Link Associate

Sophie Price, Consultancy Manager

sophie.price@homelesslink.org.uk

Page 43



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 20222

Contents
Homelessness Data 3

Demand on the Housing Options Service 3

Case Loads 4

Duty to Refer 5

Homelessness Statistics (H-CLIC Data) 7
Assessments 7

Profile of Households Experiencing Homelessness 10

Support Needs 10

Reasons for Experiencing Homelessness 15

Social Housing Evictions 16

Supported Housing Evictions 17

Prevention and Relief Outcomes 18

Prevention Outcomes 18

Relief Outcomes 20

Main Duty Decisions 21

Temporary Accommodation 24

Rough Sleeping 27

Rough Sleeping Data: Official Count 27

What we do 29

Homeless Link 2022. All rights reserved. 
Homeless Link is a charity no. 1089173 and a company no. 04313826

This report analyses the levels, nature, and causes of homelessness across 
Derbyshire – using H-CLIC data together with locally collected data. It compares 
the position across the eight District and Borough Councils.

Page 44



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 2022 3

Homelessness Data
Each of the District and Borough Councils are required to provide homelessness 
statistics in the forms of quarterly submissions to DLUHC, which records the 
numbers of households who have approached the Council as experiencing 
homelessness or threatened with homelessness and what duties are owed. This is 
commonly referred to as H-CLIC data.
All of the data contained in this document needs to be read in context. Low figures could result in higher 
percentages and distort some of the results.

When comparing the position across the eight District and Borough Councils it is important to recognise 
the different size of each Local Authority, the resources available, and other local pressures including the 
Local Housing Market and indices of multiple deprivation.

Demand on the Housing Options Service
The table below details the total number of approaches to each of the Housing Options services for the 
last three years. It is important to note that the scope of the service that each team delivers will vary and 
as such the data is not directly comparable. 

Local Authority 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Amber Valley 825 851 720

Bolsover 214 188 132

Chesterfield 373 601 581

Derbyshire Dales 384 370 374

Erewash 1495 2228 2177

High Peak 823 964 902

North East Derbyshire 503 685 644

South Derbyshire 630 637 621

Source: Local Authority Data

Page 45



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 20224

As mentioned previously, the scope of each Local Authority’s service varies significantly so it is not possible 
to directly compare demand – many of the cases dealt with are ‘other’ housing enquiries and some cases 
will relate to non-housing enquiries in a number of areas.

Case Loads
The table below details the average caseload per officer, as of Autumn 2021.  

Local Authority Average Caseload
Amber Valley 30-35

Bolsover 20

Chesterfield 35-45

Derbyshire Dales 30

Erewash 30

High Peak 30-40

North East Derbyshire 20-25

South Derbyshire 30

Source: Local Authority Data

Source: Local Authority Data

Total Demand on Housing Options Services

Derbyshire
Dales

ErewashChesterfieldBolsoverAmber
Valley

High Peak North East
Derbyshire

South
Derbyshire

2500

2000

1500

1000

500

0

2018/19         2019/20         2020/21

Page 46



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 2022 5

The average caseload varies from 20 cases per officer, up to 40 cases. Staff within Chesterfield hold the 
highest caseload. All Councils have reported an increase in caseloads following the pandemic.

Duty to Refer
The table below shows the number of duty to refer referrals received for the last three years per Local 
Authority. Please note the duty to refer was introduced in October 2018 so the 2018/19 data does not 
comprise of a full year’s data set. 

Local Authority 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Amber Valley 28 31 20

Bolsover 11 10 25

Chesterfield 20 37 70

Derbyshire Dales 6 9 13

Erewash 6 11 23

High Peak 48 43 72

North East Derbyshire 22 24 27

South Derbyshire 15 39 23

Source: Local Authority Data

Derbyshire
Dales

ErewashChesterfieldBolsoverAmber
Valley

High Peak North East
Derbyshire

South
Derbyshire

45

40

35

30

25

20

15

10

5

0

Source: Local Authority Data

Average Caseload per officer

Page 47



Appendix 3: Good Practice Guide - April 20226

Generally speaking, the number of duty to refers received in most areas remains low across Derbyshire. 
In the majority of areas, there has not been a significant increase in referrals received since the Act was 
introduced. High Peak and Chesterfield received the highest number of referrals in 2020/21. Work is 
required across Derbyshire with public authorities to increase the number of duty to refers received, and 
to encourage referrals at the earliest possible point to ensure that opportunities for prevention work can 
be maximised.

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Amber
Valley

Bolsover Chesterfield Derbyshire
Dales

Erewash High Peak North East
Derbyshire

South
Derbyshire

2018/19         2019/20         2020/21

Duty to Refer

Source: Local Authority Data

Page 48



Appendix 3: Good Practice Guide - April 2022 7

Homelessness Statistics (H-CLIC Data)

All of the following data relates to cases that have been formally assessed under 
the homelessness legislation, and as such the data is comparable between Local 
Authorities.

Assessments
The data below analyses the total of number of assessments undertaken under the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017. 

Local Authority 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Amber Valley 641 545 409

Bolsover 285 120 102

Chesterfield 368 601 581

Derbyshire Dales 284 258 247

Erewash 356 374 296

High Peak 463 493 465

North East Derbyshire 258 295 246

South Derbyshire 340 356 281

Source: H-CLIC Data

 

 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Amber Valley Bolsover Chesterfield

Derbyshire Dales Erewash High Peak

North East Derbyshire South Derbyshire

Assessments

Source: H-CLIC Data

Page 49



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 20228

As can be seen, there is a significant variation in the number of annual assessments undertaken – this 
will be linked to both the size of the Authority, indices of multiple deprivation, and the overall demand for 
homelessness services.

Most Local Authorities have seen a decline in the demand for the service in 2020/21 compared with the 
previous year, it is not fully clear the reason for this, but could be linked the pandemic.

There were a total of 2,629 assessments undertaken in 2020/21, and a total of 2,603 prevention and relief 
duties owed across Derbyshire in 2020/21 – this compares to 3,002 duties owed in 2019/20.

The table below shows the outcome of these assessments and whether a prevention (P) or relief 
duty (R) was owed, or if the client was found to be not homeless (NH).

Local Authority
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

P R NH P R NH P R NH

Amber Valley 434 198 9 441 103 1 266 143 0

Bolsover 83 59 1 59 59 2 43 59 0

Chesterfield 76 292 0 281 320 0 290 291 0

Derbyshire Dales 208 64 12 212 32 14 220 21 6

Erewash 161 175 20 210 158 6 102 193 1

High Peak 286 162 15 303 180 10 247 205 13

North East Derbyshire 205 50 3 226 63 6 149 95 2

South Derbyshire 194 120 26 167 188 1 87 193 1

Source: H-CLIC Data

 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Amber
Valley

Bolsover Chesterfield Derbyshire
Dales

Erewash High Peak North East
Derbyshire

South
Derbyshire

Total duties Prevention Duty Relief Duty

Source: H-CLIC Data

Assessments 2019/20

Page 50



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 2022 9

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Amber
Valley

Bolsover Chesterfield Derbyshire
Dales

Erewash High Peak North East
Derbyshire

South
Derbyshire

Total duties owed Prevention Duty Relief Duty

Source: H-CLIC Data

The two graphs compare the ratio between prevention and relief duties over the last two years. In 
2020/21, 54% of all duties owed were prevention compared with 63% the previous year.

As can be seen in the majority of areas, a greater proportion of customers were assisted under prevention 
in 2019/20 compared with 2020/21. This change is linked to the pandemic, with increased pressure on 
services due to ‘Everyone In’, and more homeless presentations at the point of crisis. This led to less 
opportunities for prevention work.

There will be a need to continue to ensure that clients access the service at the earliest opportunity so 
that opportunities for homeless prevention can be maximised, however it is equally important that there 
are sufficient resources in place for staff to be able to dedicate time to prevention work.

Assessments 2020/21

Page 51



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 202210

Profile of Households Experiencing Homelessness
The graph below shows the proportion of single people owed a prevention or relief duty in 2020/21.

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%

Derbyshire
Dales

ErewashChesterfieldBolsoverAmber
Valley

High Peak North East
Derbyshire

South
Derbyshire

Source: H-CLIC Data

Single people make up the largest proportion of customers in all areas, and in Chesterfield and Erewash 
account for over 75% of all customers.

In all areas single people are over-represented at relief stage. This may indicate that families are more 
likely to approach the service prior to experiencing homelessness than single people. More work may 
need to be done to raise awareness of services with single people to ensure that they approach the 
service when there is a threat of homelessness as opposed to once they are experiencing homelessness. 
It is also possible that it may be more difficult to prevent homelessness for single households due to the 
availability of affordable housing options for single households. It is also important to note that single 
people are more likely to be vulnerably housed or their homelessness may be hidden, and as such their 
housing arrangements were more likely to be impacted by COVID-19.

Support Needs
The table below shows the total number of assessed households who have an identified support need. In 
2020/21, a total of 1,479 clients had a support need identified, this equates to 57% of clients.

Local Authority 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Amber Valley 361 316 251

Bolsover 71 78 54

Chesterfield 188 351 404

Derbyshire Dales 119 135 131

Erewash 136 220 146

High Peak 158 204 203

North East Derbyshire 137 182 122

South Derbyshire 198 228 168

Households owed a duty: % of single Households 2020/21

Page 52



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 2022 11

Number of Clients with Support Needs

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Amber
Valley

Bolsover Chesterfield Derbyshire
Dales

Erewash High Peak North East
Derbyshire

South
Derbyshire

2018/19         2019/20         2020/21

Source: H-CLIC Data

Households owed a duty: % of single Households 2020/21

The table and graph below show the total number of support needs identified for all households, a total 
of 3,010 support needs were identified across Derbyshire. 

Local Authority 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Amber Valley 268 318 257

Bolsover 111 150 109

Chesterfield 445 744 900

Derbyshire Dales 194 243 201

Erewash 327 552 390

High Peak 347 482 514

North East Derbyshire 268 321 257

South Derbyshire 426 444 382

Source: H-CLIC Data

Page 53



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 202212

The table and graph below show the percentage of all clients who had a support need identified over the 
last two years.  

0
100
200
300
400
500
600
700
800
900

1000

2018/19         2019/20         2020/21

Derbyshire
Dales

ErewashChesterfieldBolsoverAmber
Valley

High Peak North East
Derbyshire

South
Derbyshire

Total Support Needs Indentified

Source: H-CLIC Data

Local Authority 2019/20 2020/21

Amber Valley 59% 61%

Bolsover 65% 53%

Chesterfield 58% 70%

Derbyshire Dales 58% 49%

Erewash 42% 44%

High Peak 42% 44%

North East Derbyshire 62% 50%

South Derbyshire 64% 60%

Source: H-CLIC Data

Page 54



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 2022 13

    

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Derbyshire
Dales

ErewashChesterfieldBolsoverAmber
Valley

High Peak North East
Derbyshire

South
Derbyshire

         2019/20         2020/21

Source: H-CLIC Data

While the percentage varies between Local Authorities, in all areas over 40% of clients have an identified 
support need, in Chesterfield in 2020/21, 70% of clients had a support need.

The table below shows the total number of support needs under the most prevalent categories across 
Derbyshire and the percentage of clients with that support need. 

Support Need
Total Support needs 

identified across 
Derbyshire

Percentage of clients 
identified with the support 

need across Derbyshire
Mental Health 849 33%

Physical ill health 387 15%

Drug dependency 286 11%

Alcohol dependency 154 6%

Offending history 341 13%

Domestic Abuse 313 12%

History of rough sleeping 155 6%

History of repeat homelessness 181 7%

Source: H-CLIC Data

Percentage of cases with an identified support need

Page 55



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 202214

The graph below shows the most prevalent support need by each Local Authority.

0

50

100

150

200

250

Amber

Valley

Bolsover Chesterfield Derbyshire

Dales

Erewash High Peak North East

Derbyshire

South

Derbyshire

Mental Health Phyisical Ill Health Drug Dependency

Offending History Domestic Abuse Repeat Homelessness

Source: H-CLIC Data

The most prevalent support need across Derbyshire is mental health – a total of 849 clients had an 
identified mental health support need, accounting for 33% of all clients owed a duty across Derbyshire. 
This is followed by physical ill health (15%), offending history (13%), and domestic abuse (12%).

Most Prevalent Support Needs 2020/21

Page 56



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 2022 15

Reasons for Experiencing Homelessness
The graphs below detail the main causes of homelessness for those owed a prevention and relief duty 
over the last two years.

  

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

Main Cause of Homelessness 2020/21

End of PRS Family Eviction

Relationship Breakdown Domestic Abuse

Eviction from social housing Eviction from supported housing

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140

Main Cause of Homelessness 2019/20

End of PRS Family Eviction

Relationship Breakdown Domestic Abuse

Eviction from social housing Eviction from supported housing

Derbyshire
Dales

ErewashChesterfieldBolsoverAmber
Valley

High Peak North East
Derbyshire

South
Derbyshire

Derbyshire
Dales

ErewashChesterfieldBolsoverAmber
Valley

High Peak North East
Derbyshire

South
Derbyshire

Source: H-CLIC Data

  

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

Main Cause of Homelessness 2020/21

End of PRS Family Eviction

Relationship Breakdown Domestic Abuse

Eviction from social housing Eviction from supported housing

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140

Main Cause of Homelessness 2019/20

End of PRS Family Eviction

Relationship Breakdown Domestic Abuse

Eviction from social housing Eviction from supported housing

Derbyshire
Dales

ErewashChesterfieldBolsoverAmber
Valley

High Peak North East
Derbyshire

South
Derbyshire

Derbyshire
Dales

ErewashChesterfieldBolsoverAmber
Valley

High Peak North East
Derbyshire

South
Derbyshire

Source: H-CLIC Data

Main cause of homelessness 2020/21

Main cause of homelessness 2019/20 

The main cause of homelessness in 2019/20 was the end of private rented accommodation in 6 out of 
the 8 Councils, in 2020/21 this switched to family eviction as the main cause of homelessness in 7 out of 
the 8 Councils.

The changes in the main causes of homelessness are likely to be linked to the pandemic with 
restrictions in court action reducing the number of evictions from social and private rented 
accommodation, and an increase in relationship breakdowns and a breakdown in the living 
arrangements with family and friends, linked to the pressures of COVID-19.

Page 57



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 202216

Social Housing Evictions
The graph below shows in detail the number of social housing evictions across Derbyshire.

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

2018/19         2019/20         2020/21

Derbyshire
Dales

ErewashChesterfieldBolsoverAmber
Valley

High Peak North East
Derbyshire

South
Derbyshire

Total

Source: H-CLIC Data

In 2019/20, there were a total of 292 social housing evictions – this reduced to 101 in 2018/19, this is 
likely to be linked to the restriction on evictions due to the pandemic. The number of evictions in some 
areas are very high and moving forward there is a need to work closely with social housing providers to 
prevent evictions into homelessness. The graph below shows social housing evictions as a percentage of 
all homeless cases.   

0%
2%
4%
6%
8%

10%
12%
14%
16%
18%

2018/19         2019/20         2020/21

Derbyshire
Dales

ErewashChesterfieldBolsoverAmber
Valley

High Peak North East
Derbyshire

South
Derbyshire

Average for
England

Source: H-CLIC Data

In 2019/20, the percentage of social housing evictions as a cause of homelessness was higher in all areas 
of Derbyshire (apart from South Derbyshire) than the national average, and in a number of areas was 
significantly higher than the national average.

Social housing evictions as a percentage of all homeless cases

Homelessness cases due to social housing eviction

Page 58



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 2022 17

 

 

 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Homeless Cases due to Eviction from Supported Housing

0%
2%
4%
6%
8%

10%
12%

Supported Housing Evictions as a Percentage of all 
Homeless Cases

2018/19         2019/20         2020/21

Derbyshire
Dales

ErewashChesterfieldBolsoverAmber
Valley

High Peak North East
Derbyshire

South
Derbyshire

Total

 

 2018/19         2019/20         2020/21

Derbyshire
Dales

ErewashChesterfieldBolsoverAmber
Valley

High Peak North East
Derbyshire

South
Derbyshire

Average of
England

Source: H-CLIC Data

The graph below shows supported housing evictions as a percentage of all homeless cases.

 

 

 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Homeless Cases due to Eviction from Supported Housing

0%
2%
4%
6%
8%

10%
12%

Supported Housing Evictions as a Percentage of all 
Homeless Cases

2018/19         2019/20         2020/21

Derbyshire
Dales

ErewashChesterfieldBolsoverAmber
Valley

High Peak North East
Derbyshire

South
Derbyshire

Total

 

 2018/19         2019/20         2020/21

Derbyshire
Dales

ErewashChesterfieldBolsoverAmber
Valley

High Peak North East
Derbyshire

South
Derbyshire

Average of
England

Source: H-CLIC Data

In a number of areas, the percentage of supported housing evictions as a cause of homelessness 
was higher than the national average, and in a number of areas was significantly higher than the 
national average.

Supported Housing Evictions
The graph below shows the number of supported housing evictions across Derbyshire. In 202/21, there 
were a total of 143 evictions from supported housing – this is a high number and moving forward work is 
required with supported housing providers to prevent evictions into homelessness.

Homeless cases due to eviction from suppoted housing

Supported housing evictions as a percentage of all homeless cases

Page 59



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 202218

Prevention and Relief Outcomes
Prevention Outcomes
The table below details the total number of successful prevention cases achieved. 

Local Authority 2019/20 2020/21

Amber Valley 330 200

Bolsover 56 31

Chesterfield 232 218

Derbyshire Dales 178 174

Erewash 146 61

High Peak 250 167

North East Derbyshire 186 125

South Derbyshire 101 55

Source: H-CLIC Data

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Amber
Valley

Bolsover Chesterfield Derbyshire
Dales

Erewash High Peak North East
Derbyshire

South
Derbyshire

 
2019/20            2020/21

Source: H-CLIC Data

A total of 1,031 people had their homelessness prevented across Derbyshire in 2020/21 – this compares 
with 1,479 preventions the previous year. In all areas, there was a reduction in relation to the actual 
number of prevention achieved, however this is linked to a corresponding reduction in the number of 
prevention duties owed.

Number of cases where homelessness was successfully prevented

Page 60



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 2022 19

The table below details the percentage of successful preventions achieved. 

Local Authority 2019/20 2020/21

Amber Valley 75% 78%

Bolsover 93% 74%

Chesterfield 83% 75%

Derbyshire Dales 85% 83%

Erewash 70.5% 67%

High Peak 85% 69%

North East Derbyshire 82% 84%

South Derbyshire 60% 66%

England 58.5 59.4%

A total of 1,031 people had their homelessness prevented across Derbyshire in 2020/21 – this compares 
with 1,479 preventions the previous year.

Source: H-CLIC Data

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

 Derbyshire
Dales

ErewashChesterfieldBolsoverAmber
Valley

High Peak North East
Derbyshire

South
Derbyshire

England

2019/20            2020/21

Source: H-CLIC Data

The prevention rate has remained high in most of the Local Authorities, despite the challenges associated 
with delivering services during the pandemic. All Local Authorities are above the national prevention rate 
for England, and many are significantly above this.

Percentage of successful preventions achieved

Page 61



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 202220

The vast majority of Local Authorities are much more successful at helping households to secure 
alternative accommodation than enabling them to remain in their existing accommodation. While it 
is accepted that COVID-19 may have made it more difficult for households to remain in their existing 
accommodation, moving forward there may need to be a greater focus on preventing people losing their 
existing accommodation.

Relief Outcomes
The table below shows the total number of cases where homelessness was successfully relieved.

Local Authority 2019/20 2020/21

Amber Valley 73 113

Bolsover 40 32

Chesterfield 96 190

Derbyshire Dales 28 17

Erewash 96 138

High Peak 85 112

North East Derbyshire 59 80

South Derbyshire 119 114

Source: H-CLIC Data

In total, 796 people had their homelessness relieved in 2020/21 – compared with 596 the previous year.

As can be seen from the graph, the number of cases where homelessness was successfully relieved 
increased in 2020/21, and correlates to the increase in the number of relief duties owed.

The table below details the percentage of successful reliefs achieved, for those whose relief duty ended 
during the year. 

Local Authority 2019/20 2020/21

Amber Valley 57% 73%

Bolsover 70% 57%

Chesterfield 54% 60%

Derbyshire Dales 58% 46%

Erewash 54% 70%

High Peak 44% 49%

North East Derbyshire 81% 76%

South Derbyshire 57% 57%

England 39.9% 39.8%

Source: H-CLIC Data

Page 62



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 2022 21

0

50

100

150

200

Amber
Valley

Bolsover Chesterfield Derbyshire
Dales

Erewash High Peak North East
Derbyshire

South
Derbyshire

2019/20            2020/21

Source: H-CLIC Data

In many areas, the percentage of successful relief cases achieved increased in 2020/21 compared with the 
previous year. In all areas, the relief prevention rate is above the national average for England, which is 
very positive, and in many areas is significantly above the national average.

Main Duty Decisions
The table below details the number of main duty decisions for households where the homelessness could 
not be prevented or relieved. 

Local Authority 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Amber Valley 47 23 16

Bolsover 2 2 0

Chesterfield 64 62 50

Derbyshire Dales 30 15 17

Erewash 31 26 16

High Peak 37 54 75

North East Derbyshire 6 3 10

South Derbyshire 59 47 38

Source: H-CLIC Data

Percentage of Succesful Reliefs Achieved

Page 63



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 202222

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Amber Valley Bolsover Chesterfield

Derbyshire Dales Erewash High Peak

North East Derbyshire South Derbyshire

Source: H-CLIC Data

In most areas there has been a reduction in the number of main duty decisions, with the exception of 
High Peak and to a lesser extent North East Derbyshire.

The table below shows the number of cases accepted as experiencing homelessness, in priority need, and 
not intentionally homeless (owed a S193 duty). 

Local Authority 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Amber Valley 17 8 4

Bolsover 0 0 0

Chesterfield 15 31 20

Derbyshire Dales 23 12 14

Erewash 7 4 2

High Peak 15 20 25

North East Derbyshire 5 0 3

South Derbyshire 49 31 27

Source: H-CLIC Data

Main Duty Decisions

Page 64



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 2022 23

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Amber Valley Bolsover Chesterfield

Derbyshire Dales Erewash High Peak

North East Derbyshire South Derbyshire

Source: H-CLIC Data

The number of clients owed a main duty (S193) is relatively low across Derbyshire and in many areas has 
fallen over the last three years.

The table below shows of the original cases owed a prevention or relief duty, what percentage went on to 
have a main duty decision and what percentage went on to be owed a full duty (S193).

Local Authority
2019/20 2020/21

Main duty 
decision S193 owed Main duty 

decision S193 owed

Amber Valley 4.2% 1.4% 3.9% 0.9%

Bolsover 1.7% 0% 0% 0%

Chesterfield 10% 5% 8.6% 3.4%

Derbyshire Dales 6% 5% 7% 6%

Erewash 6.8% 1.1% 5.4% 0.7%

High Peak 11% 4% 16.5% 5.5%

North East Derbyshire 1% 0% 4% 1.2%

South Derbyshire 13% 9% 13.5% 11%

Source: H-CLIC Data

Number of Clients Owed a Main Duty (S193)

Page 65



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 202224

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

Main Duty decision S193 owed Main Duty decision S193 owed

2019/20 2020/21

Amber Valley Bolsover Chesterfield

Derbyshire Dales Erewash High Peak

North East Derbyshire South Derbyshire

Source: H-CLIC Data

There is some variation in the percentage of clients who went on to have a main duty decision across 
Derbyshire and is linked to the effectiveness of prevention and relief activity, alongside overall demand.

Temporary Accommodation
The table and graph below detail the annual placements in temporary accommodation.

Local Authority 31/03//19 31/03/20 31/03/21

Amber Valley 99 84 132

Bolsover 25 24 22

Chesterfield 42 128 214

Derbyshire Dales 36 27 24

Erewash 15 43 186

High Peak 56 165 133

North East Derbyshire 42 52 116

South Derbyshire 122 140 124

Source: Local Authority Data

Percentage of clients who went on to have a main duty decision

Page 66



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 2022 25

0

50

100

150

200

250

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Amber Valley Bolsover Chesterfield

Derbyshire Dales Erewash High Peak

North East Derbyshire South Derbyshire Staffordshire Moorlands

Source: Local Authority Data

A total number of 951 households were accommodated in temporary accommodation in 2020/21, 
compared with 663 the previous year representing a 43% increase.

In most areas across Derbyshire there has been an increase in the use of temporary accommodation over 
the last three years, with the biggest increase seen in the last year – very much linked to the pandemic 
and ‘Everyone In’. The increase in the use of temporary accommodation doesn’t correspond to an overall 
increase in demand on the service, and therefore suggests real pressures around move on across 
Derbyshire.

The table and graph below show the annual number of B&B placements over the last three years. 

Local Authority 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Amber Valley 66 113 22

Bolsover 25 24 22

Chesterfield 41 115 186

Derbyshire Dales 8 9 6

Erewash 11 28 142

High Peak 30 50 81

North East Derbyshire 22 22 55

South Derbyshire 70 101 78

Source: Local Authority Data

Annual temporary accommodation placements

Page 67



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 202226

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180
200

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Amber Valley Bolsover Chesterfield

Derbyshire Dales Erewash High Peak

North East Derbyshire South Derbyshire

Source: Local Authority Data

In total, there were 592 households accommodated in B&B across Derbyshire in 2020/21, compared with 
462 the previous year, representing a 28% increase.

The use of B&B varies significantly across Derbyshire, however in most areas the use of B&B increased 
in 202/21 compared with the previous year, although the percentage increase varied between Local 
Authorities. The increase is linked to the pandemic and the ‘Everyone In’ directive, and the Authorities who 
have seen the biggest increase are the ones with the greatest overall demand on their service.

Annual B&B placements

Page 68



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 2022 27

Rough Sleeping
Rough sleeping is defined as “people sleeping, about to bed down (sitting on/in or 
standing next to their bedding) or actually bedded down in the open air (such as 
on the streets, in tents, doorways, parks, bus shelters or encampments). People 
in buildings or other places not designed for habitation (such as stairwells, barns, 
sheds, car parks, cars, derelict boats, stations, or “bashes”)”.

Rough Sleeping Data: Official Count
Each Authority is required to submit an official figure of numbers of rough sleepers found per year to 
submit an estimate. The graph below details the number of rough sleepers found or estimated since 
2010.

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Amber
Valley
Bolsover

Chesterfield

Derbyshire
Dales
Erewash

High Peak

North East
Derbyshire
South
Derbyshire

Source: DLUHC Rough Sleeping Data

Page 69



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 202228

In total there were 11 people found to be sleeping rough in November 2021 across Derbyshire, compared 
with 28 people the previous year.

In most areas across Derbyshire rough sleeping levels are low, with the exception of Chesterfield.

In 2021/22 the outreach team supported 287 individuals across Derbyshire, 104 of these were verified as 
rough sleepers, compared with 148 rough sleepers verified the previous year.

In relation to support needs where the answer is known – 62% of the total clients had a substance misuse 
support need, 84% had a mental health support need, 37% had a physical health support need, and 45% 
had recent involvement with the criminal justice system.

Of the 85 individuals with at least one support need;

• 11 (13%) had one additional support need.

• 20 (24%) had two additional support needs.

• 28 (33%) had three additional support needs.

• 20 (24%) had four additional support needs.

• 5 (6%) had five additional support needs.

• 1 individual had all six support needs (substance misuse, mental health, physical health, recent 
criminal justice involvement, domestic abuse, and in care as a child).

Page 70



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 2022 29

What we do
Homeless Link is the national membership charity for frontline 
homelessness services. We work to improve services through 
research, guidance and learning, and campaign for policy change 
that will ensure everyone has a place to call home and the support 
they need to keep it.

Homeless Link 
Minories House, 2-5 Minories, London EC3N 1BJ 
www.homeless.org.uk 
@HomelessLink

Page 71



Appendix 1: Countywide Data Report - April 202230 Page 72



Page 73



Designed and printed by North East Derbyshire District Council

If you require
this publication in

large print 
or another format 

please call:

Bolsover District 
Council on 

01246 242424 or 

North East Derbyshire 
District Council on 
01246 231111

If you require this publication 

in large print or another

format please call: 

Bolsover District Council on 

01246 242424 or 

North East Derbyshire
District Council on

01246 231111

We speak your language
Polish
Mówimy Twoim językiem

Romanian
Vorbim limba dumneavoastră

Urdu

Chinese
我们会说你的语言

Polish
Mówimy Twoim
językiem

Romanian
Vorbim limba
dumneavoastră

Urdu

Chinese
我们会说你的语言

We speak
your language

Page 74



Appendix 2:  
Policy Framework 
and Legislative 
Background
April 2022
Laura Paterson, Homeless Link Associate

Sophie Price, Consultancy Manager

sophie.price@homelesslink.org.uk

Page 75



Appendix 2: Policy Framework and Legislative Background - April 20222

Contents
Legislative background 3

Homelessness Act 2002 3

Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 3

Domestic Abuse Act 2021 3

Policy framework 4

National Context 4

National Rough Sleeping Strategy 4

Social Housing Regulation Bill 5

Levelling Up White Paper 5

Changes to Private Rented Tenancies 6

Leaving the European Union 6

Regional context 7

Derbyshire County Council: Specialist 
Accommodation and Support Strategy 
2019 - 2024 7

Derbyshire County Council: Housing and 
Accommodation for an Ageing Population  
Vision for Derbyshire to 2035 8

Derbyshire County Council: Older People’s 
Housing, Accommodation,  
and Support Strategy 8

Our Lives, Our Health: Derbyshire Health  
and Wellbeing Strategy 2018 - 2023 8

Derby and Derbyshire Domestic Abuse  
and Sexual Violence Strategy 2018 - 2021 8

Derby and Derbyshire Domestic Abuse in 
Accommodation Strategy 2021 - 2024 9

Place Board and Alliance 9

District and Borough context 10

North Derbyshire Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeping Strategy 2021 – 2023 10

Amber Valley 10

Bolsover 10

Chesterfield	 10

Derbyshire Dales 10

Erewash 11

High Peak 11

North East Derbyshire 11

South Derbyshire 12

What we do 13

Homeless Link 2022. All rights reserved. 
Homeless Link is a charity no. 1089173 and a company no. 04313826

Page 76



Appendix 2: Policy Framework and Legislative Background - April 2022 3

The reforms brought in by the Act mean that:

• Support must be offered to all eligible people 
who are threatened with homelessness or who 
are experiencing homeless, providing support 
to a greater number of people than before.

• There is a shift in the focus of services from 
crisis intervention to prevention, meaning that 
services must intervene earlier and help more 
people to avert crisis; and there is a stronger 
duty on local housing authorities to provide 
free advice and information designed to 
meet the needs of certain vulnerable groups, 
including those who are not eligible for further 
assistance.

Domestic Abuse Act 2021
The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 aims to raise 
awareness and understanding of domestic 
violence and abuse (DVA), improve the 
effectiveness of the justice system, and strengthen 
support for victims of abuse. Local authorities are 
required to have a strategy for preventing and 
tackling DVA.

From a homelessness perspective, eligible victims 
of domestic abuse are automatically considered 
a priority under homelessness legislation, and 
where a new tenancy is offered to someone 
moving as a result of domestic abuse, a lifetime 
tenancy should be offered if one was held 
previously.

Part 4 of the Domestic Abuse Act places a 
statutory duty on Tier One authorities for the 
delivery of support to victims of domestic abuse 
and their children in safe accommodation, who 
need it and provides clarity over governance and 
accountability. District and Borough Councils (Tier 
Two) are required to co-operate with Tier One 
authorities, in so far as is reasonably practicable.

Legislative background
Homelessness Act 2002
The Homelessness Act 2002 requires every Local 
Authority to carry out a review of homelessness 
in their area and to develop and publish a 
Homelessness Strategy based on the review 
findings.

Under the Act, the Homelessness Strategy must 
seek to achieve the following objectives in the local 
housing authority’s area:

1. The prevention of homelessness.

2. That suitable accommodation is and will 
be available for people who are or may 
experience homelessness.

3. That satisfactory support is available 
for people who are or may experience 
homelessness.

This Strategy has been developed in response to 
the findings of a data review across Derbyshire, 
which can be found in Appendix 1.

This Strategy has been developed following 
extensive consultation with a wide range of 
partners across Derbyshire.

Homelessness Reduction  
Act 2017
The Homelessness Reduction Act fundamentally 
reforms existing homelessness legislation, placing 
new duties on local authorities and public bodies. 
The Act introduced new prevention and relief 
duties, each of which last for 56 days – meaning 
local housing authorities must now  
take reasonable steps to try to prevent and/or 
relieve people experiencing homelessness if they 
are eligible.

The local housing authority must work with the 
applicant to develop a personalised housing plan. 
The plan identifies the reasonable steps that the 
applicant and the local housing authority will 
take to ensure the applicant has and is able to 
retain or obtain suitable accommodation. Any 
accommodation that they secure at prevention or 
relief stage must be available to the household for 
a period of at least six months.

Page 77



Appendix 2: Policy Framework and Legislative Background - April 20224

Policy framework
National Context
This Homelessness Strategy has been developed 
in a time of continuing and new challenges, both 
locally and nationally. Homelessness has increased 
over the past several years nationally following a 
sustained period of government austerity coupled 
with a challenging, and increasingly unaffordable 
housing market for the main demographics of 
homelessness applicants. Welfare reform and 
legislative changes alongside these factors creates 
a difficult environment for Local Authorities to 
navigate in order to be effective in eliminating 
homelessness in their areas.

The Government’s White Paper on housing, 
‘Fixing our broken housing market’, in March 
2018 acknowledged the scale of the problem in 
providing a range of housing that meets a cross-
section of need. This imbalance in the market has 
led to a national increase in all forms of housing 
need, exhibiting itself in the most acute forms of 
housing need – homelessness and rough sleeping.

The Local Housing Allowance (LHA) has not kept 
pace with the market, resulting in an increasingly 
unaffordable private rented market for households 
on low incomes who are dependent either wholly 
or in part for assistance with their housing costs. 
At the same time, there has been an increase 
in the number of homelessness applications 
resulting from a loss of accommodation within the 
private rented sector.

It has been acknowledged that there have been 
unintended consequences from the various 
measures introduced through welfare reform. In 
February 2019, the Minister for the Department 
of Works and Pensions conceded challenges with 
the initial rollout of universal credit and that the 
difficulty in accessing money was “one of the 
causes” of the rise of food-banks.

These challenges have been compounded by 
on the ongoing Coronavirus Pandemic, which 
has demonstrated both the fragility of the 
world’s economy but also the immense power of 
communities working together.

The impact of the pandemic on the economy and 
job market means that many people are currently 

struggling to meet their housing costs, with 
increases in those threatened with homelessness 
likely.

The Country is now facing high increases to the 
cost of living, with inflation rising at its fastest rate 
for 30 years as fuel, energy, and food costs surge. 
This will place a huge strain on many households, 
and it is inevitable that many may struggle to 
meet their housing costs, leading to increases in 
homelessness.

National Rough Sleeping 
Strategy
The National Rough Sleeping Strategy1 (August 
2018) sets out Government plans to halve rough 
sleeping by 2022 and end it by 2027. It includes 
a range of commitments, intended both to help 
those who are sleeping rough currently or are at 
risk of doing so, and to lay the foundations for a 
system focused on prevention, early intervention, 
and a rapid rehousing approach to recovery.

The 2027 vision is to “prevent, intervene, and 
recover”, recognising that if the Government is to 
minimise the considerable harm caused by rough 
sleeping, the most important thing is to prevent it 
from happening in the first place.

Key measures include:

• Embedding prevention across Government – 
£3.2 million per year for two years for a new 
range of pilots to help people leaving prison to 
find stable and sustainable accommodation, 
and new funding for intensive support for care 
leavers with complex needs.

• New measures to ensure the structures are in 
place to end rough sleeping. This includes a 
review of legislation around homelessness and 
rough sleeping, including the Vagrancy Act.

• Strengthening local homelessness strategies 
and introducing a new emphasis on rugh 
sleeping.

• Looking at affordability in the private rented 
sector, to develop policy options for post-2020 
when the current Local Housing Allowance 
freeze ends.

1Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (2018) Rough Sleeping Strategy. Available from: https://assets.publishing.service.
gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/733421/Rough-Sleeping-Strategy_WEB.pdf

Page 78

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/733421/Rough-Sleeping-Strategy_WEB.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/733421/Rough-Sleeping-Strategy_WEB.pdf


Appendix 2: Policy Framework and Legislative Background - April 2022 5

Social Housing Regulation Bill
The Social Housing Regulation Bill sets out the 
following:

• Resident panel made up of 250 tenants 
across England who will scrutinise the various 
measures being put forward as part of the 
package of reforms.

• Naming and Shaming Landlords who are failing 
to meet the standards being brought in under 
the Bill.

• Legislative changes – the clauses largely relate 
to the expansion of the RSH’s powers and focus 
on the government’s ambition to improve the 
quality of landlord service and tackle non-
decency in the social rented sector.

Levelling Up White Paper
The Government’s Levelling Up White Paper sets 
out the following in relation to housing:

• Repurpose Homes England to regenerate towns 
& cities.

• Scrap the 80/20 funding rule that targets 
housing funding at “maximum affordability 
areas”, i.e., London and South East arears.

• Private Sector Reform to include abolition of 
Section 21 ‘No Fault’ evictions, introduction of 
a landlord’s registe and plans to crack down on 
rogue landlords, and all homes in the private 
rented sector to meet the Decent Homes 
Standard.

• Home Ownership - £1.5 billion levelling up 
home building fund with loans to SME’S to 
support regeneration.

• The Government will further commit to building 
more genuinely affordable social housing.

• Social housing regulation bill to deliver on post 
Grenfell commitments.

• London-style devolution deal for areas outside 
of London – Nine areas will be invited to agree 
new County deals and Ministers will seek to 
agree further mayoral combined authority 
deals for York and North Yorkshire. By 2030 
every part of England that wishes to have a 
“London-style Devolution Deal” will have one.

• Up to £45 million to continue the work of the 
Rough Sleeping Initiative.

• Somewhere Safe to Stay Pilots – up to £17 
million for work in approximately 15 areas to 
rapidly assess the needs of people at risk of 
rough sleeping and support them to get the 
right help.

• Funding for rough sleeping navigators, 
new specialists who will help people who 
sleep rough to access the appropriate local 
services, get off the streets and into settled 
accommodation.

• Funding mental health and substance misuse 
treatment.

• Up to £135 million of dormant accounts funds, 
the majority of which will be used to support 
innovative financing for homes for people who 
sleep rough or are at risk of rough sleeping.

• Move On Funding – a £50 million fund that 
will deliver a new supply of homes outside of 
London for people who are sleeping rough, as 
well as those who are ready to move on from 
hostels or refuges and might need additional 
support.

• Supported Lettings – up to £19 million of new 
funding to provide flexible support in homes 
provided for people with a history of rough 
sleeping.

• Local Lettings Agencies – new funding to 
help local areas grow enterprises to support 
vulnerable people into accommodation.

• £28 million of funding for Housing First pilots 
in Greater Manchester, the West Midlands, and 
the Liverpool City Region to support people 
with multiple complex needs. The Housing First 
model, which was first implemented in the US 
during the 1990’s differs from the “staircase” 
model by adopting the principle that housing is 
an inalienable right and should not be used as 
a “carrot” to ensure engagement with support, 
but rather that other support needs should be 
– in theory, easier to address when someone is 
already living in stable housing. In the Housing 
First model, the independent accommodation is 
provided right at the outset of the process.

This has been updated by an announcement in 
December 2019 from the current Prime Minister to 
end rough sleeping by 2024.

Page 79



Appendix 2: Policy Framework and Legislative Background - April 20226

Changes to Private Rented 
Tenancies
The Government’s Levelling Up White Paper sets 
out plans to end so-called “no-fault” evictions by 
repealing Section 21 of the Housing Act 1988. 
Under the new framework, a tenant could not be 
evicted from their home without good reason. 
The end of assured shorthold tenancies is one of 
the main causes of homelessness nationally. It is 
hoped that this would provide tenants with more 
stability, protecting them from having to make 
frequent moves at short notice, and enabling them 
to put down roots and plan for the future.

Under the proposals, landlords would have to 
issue a Section 8 notice which can be implemented 
when a tenant has fallen into rent arrears, has 
been involved in criminal or antisocial behaviour, 
or has broken the terms of the rent agreement – 
such as damaging the property. The Government 
has proposed to amend Section 8 also to include 
circumstances where a landlord wishes to regain 
their property should they wish to sell it or move 
into it themselves.

While these proposals are positive in responding 
to one of the main causes of homelessness, 
concerns have been expressed that the proposed 
changes may have a detrimental impact on the 
number of landlords wishing to continue to 
either rent their property or leading to landlords 
becoming increasingly selective as to who they 
rent to, with the likely impact being felt most 
by vulnerable groups and those dependent on 
benefits.

Leaving the European Union
In the national referendum on 23rd June 2016 
the United Kingdom voted to leave the European 
Union, and officially left on 31st January 2020. The 
ramifications for housing-related areas (such as 
the housing market, the labour market, forecasted 
and actual population growth, the economy, 
financing programmes and procurement rules) are 
as yet unknown.

Page 80



Appendix 2: Policy Framework and Legislative Background - April 2022 7

Derbyshire operates under a two tier 
Local Authority System, made up of 
Derbyshire County Council, Amber 
Valley Borough Council, Bolsover 
District Council, Chesterfield Borough 
Council, Derby City Council, Derbyshire 
Dales District Council, Erewash Borough 
Council, High Peak Borough Council, 
North East Derbyshire District Council 
and South Derbyshire District Council.

Derbyshire County Council: 
Specialist Accommodation 
and Support Strategy 
2019 - 2024
The Strategy’s vision is “that by 2024 more adults 
with complex needs in Derbyshire will have access 
to lifetime tenancies, supported housing and 
targeted community support to enable them to 
sustain their own home and live independent and 
fulfilling lives”.

The strategic vision acknowledges the emergence 
of place-based approaches to health, wellbeing, 
care, and support that will present new 
opportunities to enable people to live well and 
independently in their own home. The County’s 
strategic vision is that people will:

• Be supported to live in their own homes in the 
community with support from local services.

• Be supported to live independently with the 
right support to meet their specific needs and 
preferred outcomes.Be offered a choice of 
housing that is right for them and enable them 
to maintain contact with family and friends.

• Have a choice about who they live with and the 
location and community in which they live.

• Be able to remain in their home where possible, 
even if their care and support needs change.

• Have settled accommodation that works for 
them and meets their needs, so people report 
that they feel happy and safe in their own 
home.

The Strategy sets out the following 10 priorities:

1. Service developments – increase the supply 
of suitable, well located, well designed 
supported accommodation, most notably in 
South Derbyshire, High Peak, Ashbourne and 
Dronfield. Develop step-down/step-up/move 
on facilities across Derbyshire.

2. Develop more integrated community support 
provision, including crisis and forensic 
support, to prevent admissions of people into 
hospital settings.

3. Develop a co-ordinated approach to sourcing 
good quality housing provision and support in 
order to move people out of hospital into the 
community and reduce reliance on inpatient 
settings.

4. Develop and implement robust transition 
procedures, that include early identification 
of accommodation and support needs for this 
cohort of people.

5. Work with existing independent organisations 
to develop bespoke accommodation 
requirements for this cohort of people.

6. Ensure that the Specialist Accommodation 
and Support Strategy is reflected is each Local 
Authority wider Housing Strategies.

7. Develop and publish Market Position 
Statements for Learning Disability, Mental 
Health, and Autism and ensure they clearly 
articulate this area of focus.

8. Ensure the Joined Up Care Derbyshire 
workforce plan incorporates the workforce 
requirements that will enable the effective 
support of our individuals.

9. Engagement and Co-production – continued 
dialogue with key stakeholders, including 
people using services, their carers and 
families.

10. Smarter utilisation of assistive technology and 
adaptations to support people to live more 
independently in their own home.

Regional context

Page 81



Appendix 2: Policy Framework and Legislative Background - April 20228

Derbyshire County Council: 
Housing and Accommodation 
for an Ageing Population 
Vision for Derbyshire to 2035
The document sets out Derbyshire’s vision as 
“a place that meets the housing needs and 
aspirations of older people by working in 
partnership across organisations. This is so that 
older people can make informed choices and 
decisions about their homes and housing options 
to support their independence and enable them 
to live in a safe, accessible and warm home for as 
long as they wish, with support and adaptations 
as required. A range of housing options will be 
available, including support services and specialist 
housing”.

Derbyshire County Council: 
Older People’s Housing, 
Accommodation, and Support 
Strategy
The Strategy seeks to achieve the following  
by 2035:

• Increase the range of housing for older people 
in Derbyshire that meets their needs via a range 
of downsizer housing and more specialised care 
and support.

• Increase independence of older people at home 
and in local communities.

• Decrease the number of people who are 
admitted to residential and nursing care.

• Help more people stay at home 91 days after 
discharge from hospital.

• Policy Framework and Legislative Background 
Appendix 2

• Ensure that independent living options support 
health and social care integration.

• People are able to live in their own home for 
longer.

• There is a range of specialised residential and 
nursing care provision that supports people 
with more complex health and care needs.

Our Lives, Our Health: 
Derbyshire Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy  
2018 - 2023
The Strategy sets out its vision “to reduce health 
inequalities and improve health and wellbeing 
across all stages of life by working in partnership 
with our communities” through the following five 
priorities:

1.  Enable people in Derbyshire to live healthy 
lives.

2.  Work to lower levels of air pollution.

3.  Build mental health and wellbeing across the 
life course.

4.  Support our vulnerable populations to live in 
well-planned and health homes.

5.  Strengthen opportunities for quality 
employment and lifelong learning.

Derby and Derbyshire 
Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence Strategy 2018 - 2021
The Derbyshire Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence Strategy is to provide a framework for 
statutory and voluntary agencies to work together.

The ambition for Derby and Derbyshire is that 
everyone can live safe lives, without the threat or 
experience of domestic abuse or sexual violence 
because it is not tolerated by our residents or our 
organisations.

The three main outcomes are:

1.  Prevention: Engaging and raising awareness 
with victims, perpetrators, professionals and 
communities to identify and prevent domestic 
abuse and sexual violence.

2.  Protection: Victims of domestic abuse and 
sexual violence are protected.

3.  Provision: Meet the needs of victims by 
providing high quality and consistent services 
and at a local level on a risk based approach.

Page 82



Appendix 2: Policy Framework and Legislative Background - April 2022 9

life for as long as possible through joining up 
health, care, and community support for citizens 
and individual communities.

The eight Place Alliances were agreed by the 
Joined Up Care Derbyshire Board following 
engagement with partners and members, which 
include clinicians,

Council members, the voluntary sector and many 
other people from across Derbyshire.

Each Place Alliance has a group of key decision-
makers, from health, care and local organisations, 
the public and patients. This will ensure the plans 
reflect the views of local people.

A ‘Place Board’ sets the framework for the Place 
Alliances. The Board is responsible for using 
the available resources to make sure there are 
equitable services for people living and working in 
the city and county.

Priorities:

• All Place Alliances will focus on supporting 
people to stay well for longer through a 
consistent set of work areas which include 
frailty, falls, care homes and supporting people 
to die well.

• In addition each Place Alliance will focus on 
what local people need in that area as regards 
their health and wellbeing.

Derby and Derbyshire 
Domestic Abuse in 
Accommodation Strategy 
2021 - 2024
The Strategy’s objectives are:

• Undertake early intervention, before the 
point of crisis, to give people choices – 
including support in short term emergency 
accommodation.

• Provide domestic abuse support in a range 
of safe accommodation, so that family make-
up, individual needs and complexities are not 
barriers to accessing the help that victims 
require.

• Address the needs of all communities accessing 
our services and invest in support that reflects 
their characteristics, so that their experience is 
an inclusive one.

• Support victims and their families who wish to 
build a life within our communities, when they 
are ready to move on from intensive support in 
safe accommodation.

• Ensure services are accessible and provide 
up-to-date information about what is available 
so that victims and professionals know how to 
access services and the support available.

• Increasing our understanding 
and support for children as 
victims of domestic abuse in 
their own right.

• Work with sanctuary schemes 
and target hardening providers 
to provide support to enable 
people to remain safely in their 
own homes.

Place Board and 
Alliance
‘Place’ involves commissioners, 
community services providers, 
local authorities, primary care, the 
voluntary and community sector, 
and the public working together to 
meet the needs of local people.

There are eight ‘Place Alliances’ 
across Derbyshire. Place is all about 
empowering people to live a healthy 

Individual lifestyle
and behaviours

Social and
community

networks and
resilience

Living and
working

conditions

H
os

pi
ta

l   
•  

 C
om

m
unity health and care   •   General practice   •   Com

m
unity pharm

acy

•   Public Health   •  Voluntary and community sector   •   W
orkpla

ces
    

• 

Page 83



Appendix 2: Policy Framework and Legislative Background - April 202210

District and Borough context
North Derbyshire 
Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeping Strategy 2021 – 2023
The North Derbyshire rough Sleeper Strategy has 
been developed in partnership by Bolsover council, 
Chesterfield Council, and North East Derbyshire 
Council, and has three clear strands of prevention, 
intervention, and recovery.

Amber Valley
Amber Valley Corporate Plan 2020 – 2023
Amber Valley’s Corporate Plan’s vision is “a 
Borough where people want to live, work, play, 
and invest”, and is made up of the following 
priorities:

• A prosperous and healthy Amber Valley.

• A good quality environment.

• Responsive value for money services.

Amber Valley Homelessness Strategy 2019
The Homelessness Strategy is made up of the 
following priorities:

• To ensure there is effective partnership working 
that will prevent homelessness.

• To provide effective and accessible 
homelessness prevention advice.

• To provide a range of options that can 
effectively prevent or relieve homelessness.

• Minimise the use of bed and breakfast 
accommodation.

• Provide an effective service that will prevent/
relieve rough sleeping.

Bolsover
Bolsover District Council Plan 2020 – 2024
The Plan’s vision is to become a dynamic, self-
sufficient, and flexible Council that delivers 
excellent services, whilst adapting to local 
aspirations and acting as the economic and 
environmental driver for Bolsover District.

The priorities are:

• Increasing customer satisfaction with our 
services.

Policy Framework and Legislative 
Background Appendix 2
• Improving customer contact and access to 

information.

• Actively engaging with partners to benefit our 
customers.

• Promoting equality and diversity and 
supporting vulnerable and disadvantaged 
people.

• Providing good quality council housing where 
people choose to live.

• Improving health and wellbeing and increasing 
participation in sport and leisure activities.

• Transforming services through the use of 
technology.

Chesterfield
Chesterfield Council Plan 2019 – 2023
The Council Plan is made up of the following 
priorities:

• Making Chesterfield a thriving borough.

• Improving quality for life for local people.

• Providing value for money services.

Derbyshire Dales
Derbyshire Dales Corporate Plan  
2020 – 2024
The corporate plan contains the following 
priorities:

• Providing you with a high quality customer 
experience.

• Keeping the Derbyshire Dales clean, green and 
safe.

• Supporting better homes and jobs for you.

Page 84



Appendix 2: Policy Framework and Legislative Background - April 2022 11

Derbyshire Dales Homelessness Strategy  
2017 - 2021
The Strategy is made up of the following priorities:

• The prevention of homelessness.

• Ensuring there is sufficient accommodation 
available for people who are, or who may 
experience homelessness.

• Ensuring there is sufficient support available 
for people who are, or who may experience 
homelessness.

Erewash
Erewash Corporate Plan 2021 – 2023

The four strategic themes which will drive service 
delivery include:

1. A welcoming borough, that is clean and safe.

2. Support our communities.

3. Planning for the future.

4. A well run, efficient council.

Erewash Homelessness Strategy 2020 - 
2023
The Strategy contains the vision that no one 
should experience homelessness or fear 
homelessness, and is made up of the following 
priorities:

• To identify homeless triggers earlier and to 
understand the issues which may eventually 
lead to homelessness as early as possible.

• Enable people to prevent their own 
homelessness - to ensure people have 
the information, resources and options to 
resolve their housing situation and avoid 
homelessness. To identify and assist those 
people who need more support to avoid 
homelessness.

• Reduce rough sleeping in Erewash - to have 
fewer people sleeping in Erewash by 2022 with 
the ambition that no-one is rough sleeping  
by 2027.

High Peak
High Peak Corporate Plan 2019 – 2023
The Corporate plan contains the following aims:

• Supporting our communities to create a 
healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak.

• A responsive, smart, financially resilient and 
forward thinking Council.

• Protect and create jobs by supporting economic 
growth, development and regeneration.

• Protect and improve the environment including 
responding to the climate emergency.

High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands 
Homelessness Strategy 2018 - 2022
The strategy is made up of the following priorities:

• Preventing homelessness through a 
comprehensive range of services.

• Ensure suitable accommodation is available to 
address and prevent homelessness.

• Improve the private rented sector offer.

• Ensue sufficient support is available to address 
and prevent homelessness.

North East Derbyshire
North East Derbyshire Council Plan  
2019 – 2023
North East Derbyshire’s vision for the District is:

• Clean and attractive.

• A place where people are proud to live and 
work.

• A place where people will prosper.

• A place where people will feel safe, happy and 
healthy.

The aims are:

• Enhancing our residents’ quality of life.

• Protecting and promoting the character of our 
district.

• Delivering high quality cost-effective services by 
engaging with our residents, our partners and 
our staff.

• Growing our local economy and being a 
business friendly District.

Page 85



Appendix 2: Policy Framework and Legislative Background - April 202212

South Derbyshire
South Derbyshire Corporate Plan  
2020 – 2024
South Derbyshire’s Corporate Plan’s vision is “to 
make South Derbyshire a great place to live, visit, 
and invest”. The key aims are:

• Keeping a clean, green District for future 
generations.

• Improve the environment of the District

• Tackle climate change

• Enhance the attractiveness of South 
Derbyshire

• Working with communities and meeting the 
future needs of the District.

• Engage with our communities

• Supporting and safeguarding the most 
vulnerable

• Deliver excellent services

• Growing our District and our skills base.

• Develop skills and careers

• Support economic growth and infrastructure

• Transforming the Council

South Derbyshire Homelessness Strategy 
2021 - 2026
The Vision – “Ending Homelessness Together”. 
Working together we will intervene early to 
prevent homelessness and rough sleeping. We will 
provide tailored solutions and support based upon 
the individual client’s needs. We will empower our 
clients to achieve their future goals.

The Strategy contains the following priorities:

• Deliver an effective Housing Solutions Service 
designed to meet the needs of customers.

• Develop a joined up approach to homeless 
prevention and early intervention.

• Ensure an adequate supply of temporary 
accommodation to meet the needs of 
customers and reduce the use of B&B.

• Meet the complex needs of customers 
to prevent rough sleeping and repeat 
homelessness.

• Develop and improve access to a wide range 
of settled and supported accommodation 
solutions.

Page 86



Appendix 2: Policy Framework and Legislative Background - April 2022 13

What we do
Homeless Link is the national membership charity for frontline 
homelessness services. We work to improve services through 
research, guidance and learning, and campaign for policy change 
that will ensure everyone has a place to call home and the support 
they need to keep it.

Homeless Link 
Minories House, 2-5 Minories, London EC3N 1BJ 
www.homeless.org.uk 
@HomelessLink

Page 87



Designed and printed by North East Derbyshire District Council

If you require
this publication in

large print 
or another format 

please call:

Bolsover District 
Council on 

01246 242424 or 

North East Derbyshire 
District Council on 
01246 231111

If you require this publication 

in large print or another

format please call: 

Bolsover District Council on 

01246 242424 or 

North East Derbyshire
District Council on

01246 231111

We speak your language
Polish
Mówimy Twoim językiem

Romanian
Vorbim limba dumneavoastră

Urdu

Chinese
我们会说你的语言

Polish
Mówimy Twoim
językiem

Romanian
Vorbim limba
dumneavoastră

Urdu

Chinese
我们会说你的语言

We speak
your language

Page 88



Appendix 3: 
Good Practice 
Guide
April 2022
Laura Paterson, Homeless Link Associate

Sophie Price, Consultancy Manager,

Email: sophie.price@homelesslink.org.uk

Page 89



Appendix 3: Good Practice Guide - April 20222

Contents
Make homelessness everyone’s responsibility through a system-wide approach 3

Homelessness Charter 3

Commitment to Collaborate 4

Substance Misuse 4

Prevent homelessness and respond to homelessness through early intervention and 
personalised solutions 5

Pre-56 days prevention 5

Integrated Homelessness and Wellbeing Assessment 6

Prison Leavers 6

Hospital Discharge 7

Social Housing Evictions 7

Supported Housing Evictions 9

End Rough Sleeping and Repeat Homelessness 10

Outreach 10

Reconnection 10

Alternative Giving 10

Assessment Centres 12

Education, Employment,  
and Training 13

Multi-Agency Response: Rough Sleeping 13

Develop Sustainable Supported and Settled Housing Solutions 14

Supported Housing Gateway 14

Supported Accommodation: Complex Needs 14

Multi-Disciplinary Team 17

Access to the Private Rented Sector 18

B&B / Nightly Paid Accommodation 19

Temporary Accommodation 19

This document provides examples of good practice which DHOG may find helpful 
when implementing some of the actions from the Homelessness Strategy. For ease 
of reference, each of the good practice examples are listed under the relevant 
strategic priority heading.

Page 90



Appendix 3: Good Practice Guide - April 2022 3

• Respect and a good standard of service 
everywhere.

• Equality of access to information and services.

• Equality of opportunity to employment, 
training, volunteering, leisure, and creative 
activities.

We believe that those who work with homeless 
people have a collective responsibility to ensure 
that:

• Good communication, coordination, and a 
consistent approach is delivered across all 
services.

• People with experience of homelessness have 
a voice and involvement in determining the 
solutions to their own issues, to homelessness, 
and in wider society.

Make homelessness everyone’s  
responsibility through a  
system-wide approach

Embed 
homeless 

prevention 
across public 

services

Homelessness Charter
Greater Manchester Homelessness Charter
Greater Manchester have developed a 
homelessness charter https://charter.
streetsupport.net/read-the-charter/ which sets 
out a clear vision and objectives in relation 
to homelessness, which it asks partners and 
individuals to make a pledge as to how they can 
do something towards ending homelessness using 
their own “unique skills and resources”.

Vision: To end homelessness in Manchester.

Values: While homelessness remains, this charter 
providers guiding principles concerning the 
rights of people who are homeless or at risk of 
homelessness.

We believe that everyone who is homeless should 
have a right to:

• A safe, secure home along with an appropriate 
level of support to create a good quality of life.

• Safety from violence, abuse, theft, and 
discrimination, and the full protection of the 
law.

Secure system-wide 
commitment to 

transform services 
in recognition that 

homelessness 
is everyone’s 
responsibility

Page 91

https://charter.streetsupport.net/read-the-charter/
https://charter.streetsupport.net/read-the-charter/


Appendix 3: Good Practice Guide - April 20224

Commitment to Collaborate
Partnership Working – West Midlands 
combined authority commitment to 
collaborate
The West Midlands Combined Authority has set 
up a Taskforce is to “design out homelessness”; 
that is to identify and tackle the structural, policy, 
and operational factors that lead to homelessness 
or fail to protect against homelessness. The 
model adopted by the Taskforce, is based upon 
the Positive Pathway Models for Young People, 
which identify and enhance the protective factors 
within the universal space and target homeless 
prevention at the earliest possible opportunity. 
The Taskforce in partnership with the Chartered 
Institute of Housing and Crisis and have used the 
Pathway model to improve understanding and 
encourage other public sector bodies and their 
partners to develop a voluntary Commitment 
to Collaborate (C2C) to prevent and relieve 
homelessness.

Substance Misuse
Cardiff: Buvidol
Within Cardiff support for people with substance 
misuse improved as a result of the pandemic. 
Prescribing that had previously taken 12-17 weeks 
wait for a script, moved to a rapid prescribing 
model where scripts could be done within a week – 
which has been hugely beneficial to the client and 
agencies working with the client. It is also reported 
that the delivery of medication to hostels has also 
worked really well.

A huge improvement in drug treatment during the 
pandemic has been the introduction of Buvidol. 
It is reported widely by both Council staff and 
partner agencies that it has had a very positive 
impact in working with clients, and there is a hope 
that this will still be funded in the future.

Work is underway to ensure the ongoing use of 
Buvidol across Cardiff.

Page 92



Appendix 3: Good Practice Guide - April 2022 5

• Public-facing staff get homelessness prevention 
training, supported by e-learning.

• Partners are helped to spot early warning signs 
of homelessness, and know who to turn to for 
help, for example through a housing health-
check tool.

• Frontline staff get training to enable them to 
deal with “difficult interactions” and help secure 
better long-term outcomes for the people they 
are helping.

The Trailblazer team aims to help people who have 
more than 56 days’ notice of homelessness. Local 
authority Housing Options teams will deal with 
anyone who has

56 days’ notice or less. Where there is a threat of 
homelessness in advance of the 56 day threat, the 
Trailblazer team will work to try and prevent the 
homelessness through early intervention work.

Prevent homelessness and 
respond to homelessness 
through early intervention and 
personalised solutions

Promote 
customer choice 

in developing 
bespoke 
housing 

solutions.

Pre-56 days prevention
Cambridgeshire trailblazer initiative – 
upstream prevention
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough’s homelessness 
prevention trailblazer project was initially funded 
by MHCLG for two years to look at new and 
creative ways to reduce homelessness in the area, 
with a particular focus on early intervention and 
prevention.

The vision of the service is that “by empowering 
all public facing staff to identify the risk of 
homelessness and work together to prevent it, we 
make homelessness the unacceptable outcome”.

The Trailblazer partnership works to ensure that:

• Homelessness becomes the “unacceptable 
outcome”.

• Homelessness specialists are employed who 
link housing advice and other early help teams, 
to spot potential homelessness and coordinate 
actions to prevent it.

Intervene earlier to 
ensure opportunities 

for homelessness 
prevention are 

maximised with 
effective and targeted 

tools in place.

Page 93



Appendix 3: Good Practice Guide - April 20226

Trailblazer officers give advice to public sector 
professionals on legislation and other housing 
matters, giving staff in other professions the 
skills needed so they can deal with homelessness 
queries themselves.

The Trailblazer service has helped to create 
new pathways so there is “no wrong front door” 
meaning if people need help, they will find it. The 
team works to signpost and refer people to other 
agencies where appropriate.

There are two distinct strands of the Trailblazer 
work. The first is very much about improving 
partnership responses, through a range of work 
– including the development of joint protocols, 
which will provide an ongoing legacy; and the 
second is the casework response working directly 
with anyone at risk of homelessness, taking 
referrals from District teams and wider  
partner agencies.

Integrated Homelessness and 
Wellbeing Assessment
Cardiff City Council integrated homeless 
and wellbeing assessment
Cardiff City Council has developed an integrated 
Homeless and Wellbeing Assessment. The 
assessment form focuses on both the essential 
information required to understand and address 
the housing situation, but also focuses in depth on 
the client’s wider support and wellbeing needs.

A section of the form is dedicated to personal 
outcomes and what matters most to the customer, 
and includes questions such as:

• What matters to you, what are you trying  
to achieve?

• What is important, what personal outcomes are 
you trying to achieve?

• What do you hope for if things can improve?

• What would be happening to make you a little 
less concerned?

• What are your thoughts about next steps?

Prison Leavers
Gwynedd Council – Resettlement Officer
Gwynedd Council Housing Solutions Service has 
a dedicated prison resettlement worker based 
within the team. Following the implementation 

of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014, the Welsh 
Government developed a national pathway for 
homeless services

to children, young people, and adults in the 
secure estate, often referred to as the ‘Prisoner 
Pathway’. The pathway aims to help individuals 
avoid homelessness on release from custody. It 
was introduced with the aim of providing prisoners 
facing homelessness with support from 56 days 
before their release. The pathway also clarifies the 
roles and responsibilities of all the agencies and 
organisations involved in the process, resulting in 
a more coordinated approach and better support 
for people leaving custody.

Release from prison is the second biggest cause 
of homelessness across Gwynedd. In order to 
address this and ensure the Prisoner Pathway 
works effectively at a local level, the council made 
the decision to fund a prison resettlement officer.

The resettlement officer works with prisoners prior 
to release to undertake the Section 62 assessment 
(in order to determine what duty is owed) and 
develop a personal housing plan with the prisoner. 
The officer works with prisoners 12 weeks prior 
to release and seeks to find settled housing 
solutions prior to release. Individuals in custody 
will be advised if the council has an interim duty 
to accommodate them – this ensures that the 
customer has realistic expectations as to the range 
of options available to them and can begin to plan, 
with the support of the resettlement officer, prior 
to release.

Alongside working to find settled housing 
solutions prior to release the resettlement officer 
will work with prisoners who are recalled to ensure 
that, where possible, existing accommodation can 
be retained, and housing benefit put in place to 
prevent arrears accruing.

This post has been very successful in achieving 
settled housing solutions for individuals, often 
with a troubled housing history and complex 
support needs, prior to release. The officer 
has been able to successfully develop strong 
relationships with clients based on trust and 
honesty. The officer has also established very 
positive working relationships with prisons and 
probation.

Page 94



Appendix 3: Good Practice Guide - April 2022 7

work with a patient through their journey and 
ensure that appropriate services are considered 
for the patient’s needs.

The estimated savings by having this post in place 
is in the region of £163,200 within the first six-
month period.

Social Housing Evictions
Clwyd Alyn – Reducing evictions in social 
housing
Clwyd Alyn, North Wales Housing Association, has 
6,000 homes across seven counties in North Wales, 
as well as supported living schemes, care services, 
and other tenures. Until last year, it had been 
evicting about 19 or 20 households a year, however 
in April 2019 the association brought in its new 
policy – working towards no evictions. Since then, 
it has evicted only three households, two of whom 
were no longer living at the property. This new 
approach has led an 80% reduction in evictions.

Wales & West Housing Association had developed 
a similar approach about eight years ago. The 
association, which has about 12,500 homes, serves 
around 20 notices seeking possession a year now, 
this approach has led to a reduction of evictions 
from 40 -50 annually to low single figures.

Clwyd Alyn have re-examined the organisational 
mission, “what we are here for”. The answer, the 
association decided, was poverty. The organisation 
considered the statistics on the areas in which 
it operates and saw that people in the poorest 
neighbourhoods still had a lower life expectancy.

The organisation reviewed its “negative spend” – 
money the association was pouring into chasing 
rent arrears, anti-social behaviour, repairing 
properties, pursuing evictions, and then allocating 
the homes again once they are empty. The aim 
was to avoid spending some of this money and 
instead redirect it into activities that can sustain 
tenancies and alleviate poverty. The housing 
association recognised that evicting does not really 
solve the problem for that individual or family, as 
they will still need to be accommodated.

Over eight months the organisation has made 
small changes, by approaching tenancy problems 
in a different way, and fundamentally changing 
the culture of the organisation. The approach 
has been to develop a better relationship with 
tenants, and to intervene early – when the first 
rent payment is missed rather than when arrears 
are out of hand.

Hospital Discharge
NHS in-patient service – Conwy County 
Borough Council
“Health and Housing 2025” is a collaborative 
movement with a shared purpose of ending 
avoidable health inequalities in North Wales. Its 
membership includes representatives from Betsi 
Cadwaladr University Health Board (BCUHB), 
public health, housing associations, local 
authorities, and the North Wales Fire and Rescue 
Service. The 2025 partners have identified five 
priority work areas that can contribute to tackling 
health inequalities, and one of these is around 
hospital discharge.

This has resulted in the creation of a ‘step down’ 
team. This is a new pathway to improving patient 
flow within Ysbyty Glan Clwyd and the community 
hospitals serviced by the acute site. Following 
increasing numbers of patients accessing the 
health service and an unprecedented amount 
of those patients being unable to be safely 
discharged to appropriate accommodation, 
BCUHB approached Conwy Housing Solutions to 
introduce a specialist housing officer who would 
be embedded within the step down team.

The housing solutions officer works alongside 
discharge liaison nurses, occupational therapists, 
district nurses, and physiotherapists, and is 
directly managed by the matron of the step down 
team. The role of the housing officer is to identify 
patients in housing crisis which is likely to delay 
their discharge from the site. Early intervention to 
establish the nature of the housing crisis and to 
determine the barriers to discharge were the main 
focus of work.

Significant amount of time was spent ‘walking the 
wards’ and attending ward rounds. This was vital 
to promote the role of the housing officer, and also 
for the housing officer to familiarise themselves 
with the hospital layout, jargon and ways of 
working unique to that environment.

The housing officer worked closely with ward 
managers to develop trust and understanding 
of each other’s roles and to ensure that the 
highest standard of service could be offered. The 
housing officer developed a simple referral system 
within the busy emergency department which 
ensured that patients could be highlighted during 
admission, with minimal disruption to the difficult 
task of nursing. This system was developed over 
time and has proved successful in being able to 

Page 95



Appendix 3: Good Practice Guide - April 20228

Suzanne Mazzone, Head of Income and Service 
Improvement at Clwyd Alyn, says: “If they’ve gone 
over by £500 or £1,000, it’s beyond people’s ability 
to think how they’re going to manage that. When 
the first payment is missed, we need to find out 
why and offer support. It’s much easier to  
manage then.”

Housing officers also meet every four weeks 
and discuss cases. If things are not working, the 
answer is not to send out demand letters. Instead, 
they try different approaches, which could involve 
switching the case to a different housing officer, 
for example. The solution might be helping the 
tenant move to a more affordable or suitable 
property. A move may also be used to help in anti-
social behaviour cases if the problem is localised.

The approach moves away from adversarial 
relationship, with tenants getting letters through 
the door demanding payment, instead the 
approach is a rapid personal response based 
on “you’ve missed a payment, how can we help 
you?”. Both Clwyd Alyn and Wales & West speak of 
looking at each case individually and considering 
if the cause is “can’t pay” or “won’t pay”. The latter 
makes up only a few cases.

Managing Arrears: Prevention pilot – 
Flintshire County Council
In response to an increase in rent arrears for 
council tenants – Housing Solutions, supporting 
people, and estate management have worked 
together to develop an early response for any 
council housing tenant across Flintshire who falls 
into rent arrears.

The aim of the project is to: -

• Maximise the rent income to the council.

• Reduce the level of arrears and the number of 
households falling into arrears.

• Reduce the number of households referred to 
housing solutions at risk of homelessness as a 
result of non-payment of rent.

The objectives of the project are to:

• Develop and pilot a delivery model through a 
multi-team approach.

• Target activity at those tenants in the early 
stages of arrears.

• Develop a range of interventions which 
have the most impact in terms of sustaining 
tenancies.

• Evaluate the project after 6 and 12 months to 
establish which elements of the project can 
inform wider team approaches.

The aim of this service is to provide early 
intervention and prevent rent arrears building 
up. The hub is made up of 2 Housing Solutions 
Support Officers and 2 income officers. The team 
focuses on addressing rent arrears whilst they are 
at a low level before they become unmanageable.

Tenants who miss one month’s rent payment 
trigger an intervention from the team, who 
will contact them, including undertaking home 
visits to understand the reason why the arrears 
have begun to accumulate. The team will 
work proactively with the tenant and put any 
necessary support or measures in place to help 
them manage their money and maximise their 
incomes, and at the same time ensure that tenants 
understand their rent responsibilities and ensure 
rent payments or arrangements are made.

This early engagement helps the team to identify 
the tenants who can’t pay from those that won’t 
pay. Court action will follow for tenants who  
won’t pay.

Whilst the hub is very much in its early days the 
team has been successful in addressing low 
level rent arrears by having different kinds of 
conversations with tenants at a much earlier 
stage. The initial results of the pilot over an initial 
two-week

period has shown significant improvements in 
collections, with £7.9k being recovered in just 55 
hours of work. As a cost benefit exercise, the pilot 
shows a 9:1 return on investment.

Page 96



Appendix 3: Good Practice Guide - April 2022 9

The protocol aims to achieve this by taking 
an outcome focussed adaptive management 
approach that is flexible and responsive to 
learning, and which:

• Develops a collaborative approach to 
preventing the eviction wherever possible, 
including open and transparent information 
sharing.

• Promotes multi-agency working by identifying 
partners who can support sustainment of 
accommodation.

• Is clear on what preventative action has been 
taken where someone is at risk of eviction.

• Is accountable for decision making and 
recognises the rights of residents to appeal the 
eviction.

• Ensures that immediate evictions are a last 
resort and only used when supported by Police 
action.

• Tests and learns from practice so that we can 
identify unmet need and opportunities to 
improve our responses for people with multiple 
and complex needs.

Supported Housing Evictions
Newcastle – Preventing evictions from 
supported accommodation protocol.
In 2017/18, there were 184 evictions from 
commissioned accommodation (Crisis 
Accommodation, Supported Accommodation, 
Supported Accommodation for Young People, and 
Supported Accommodation for people with mental 
health problems) – and in the same period, the 
Street Outreach team found 84 people who said 
their primary reason for rough sleeping was being 
evicted from accommodation, or that they had 
abandoned their accommodation. These evictions 
and abandonments are almost exclusively 
from supported accommodation as opposed to 
independent tenancies.

The overarching aim of the protocol https://
www.newcastle.gov.uk/sites/default/files/
Housing%20and%20homelessness/APPENDIX%20
2%20Prevention%20from%20Eviction%20
(supported%20accommodation)%20Protocol.
pdf is to reduce the number of people leaving 
supported accommodation without alternative 
accommodation being made available to them to 
mitigate the risk of rough sleeping.

Page 97

https://www.newcastle.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Housing%20and%20homelessness/APPENDIX%202%20Prevention%20from%20Eviction%20(supported%20accommodation)%20Protocol.pdf
https://www.newcastle.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Housing%20and%20homelessness/APPENDIX%202%20Prevention%20from%20Eviction%20(supported%20accommodation)%20Protocol.pdf
https://www.newcastle.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Housing%20and%20homelessness/APPENDIX%202%20Prevention%20from%20Eviction%20(supported%20accommodation)%20Protocol.pdf
https://www.newcastle.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Housing%20and%20homelessness/APPENDIX%202%20Prevention%20from%20Eviction%20(supported%20accommodation)%20Protocol.pdf
https://www.newcastle.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Housing%20and%20homelessness/APPENDIX%202%20Prevention%20from%20Eviction%20(supported%20accommodation)%20Protocol.pdf
https://www.newcastle.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Housing%20and%20homelessness/APPENDIX%202%20Prevention%20from%20Eviction%20(supported%20accommodation)%20Protocol.pdf


Appendix 3: Good Practice Guide - April 202210

End Rough Sleeping and Repeat 
Homelessness
Outreach
Cardiff City Council – Outreach Service
The main street outreach service is delivered by 
the Council, and the team works across the City 
centre and is complimented by a Multi-Disciplinary 
Team. The team works with those sleeping rough 
and those accessing emergency accommodation 
provision.

The outreach team is split into a team of new Case 
Co-ordinators who take on a navigator role and co-
ordinate the client through their homeless journey, 
with a smaller team of targeted outreach workers 
undertaking street outreach. This outreach is 
delivered in partnership with the Wallich and the 
Salvation Army.

The Outreach Service was restructured in late 
2019, both increasing capacity and introducing 
an assertive approach and a casework structure. 
The team has increased from 5 outreach officers 
working with over 100 clients, to 15 Outreach Case 
Coordinators and 3 Targeted Outreach Officers, 
including 2 senior officers. These new defined 
roles are a much-improved way of working, 
reducing duplication, and providing capacity for 
meaningful casework.

This new structure provides the team with the 
ability to promptly respond to any reports of rough 
sleeping, regularly engage with any clients on the 
street in a targeted and collaborative way with 
the Wallich and Salvation Army, and provide a 
casework

approach ensuring that all clients have a single 
point of contact, providing consistency and 
ongoing support through their journey out of 
homelessness.

Reconnection
Cardiff City Council
The Salvation Army delivers the Cardiff 
Reconnection Service on behalf of the Council, and 
it is situated in the same office as the Outreach 
Team and there is good joint working between 
both agencies. Cardiff Reconnection Service aims 

to support clients without a local connection, who 
are rough sleeping or at risk of rough sleeping, 
to return in a planned and supportive way to an 
area where they have accommodation, support 
networks, or some other connection.

The service aims to avoid people travelling 
between areas to rough sleep and therefore 
avoid perpetuating street homelessness. The 
Reconnection Service has also developed a bank 
of landlords to help support individuals without a 
connection to move into the private rented sector. 
Cardiff Reconnection Service also provides support 
for EEA nationals who are at risk of rough sleeping, 
in conjunction with the Salvation Army EEA project 
and Ty Gobaith working pods.

The service advocates on behalf of clients, 
and where a local connection to Cardiff can be 
established will challenge the Local Authority’s 
decision. The service is also able to issue waivers 
for clients with no local connection who may need 
to remain in Cardiff.

Alternative Giving
Manchester – A Bed Every Night
The Greater Manchester Authorities adopted the  
A Bed Every Night (ABEN) programme  
https://gmmayorscharity.org.uk, to provide a bed 
for any rough sleeper or individual at imminent 

Deliver a 
multi-agency, 

trauma-informed 
approach to meet 
the multiple and 

complex needs of 
individuals through 
multi-disciplinary 

interventions

Page 98

https://gmmayorscharity.org.uk


Appendix 3: Good Practice Guide - April 2022 11

People experiencing homelessness in Oxford 
who sign up to the scheme are given their own 
QR code, like the kind used for online ticketing. 
The code is linked to a restricted fund, similar to 
fundraising sites such as JustGiving. A caseworker 
co-manages the account to ensure the money is 
spent on targets that have been agreed on by the 
scheme and the individual.

When the QR code is scanned (either through the 
app or web browser on a smartphone) a page 
will pop up where you can learn more about the 
person, their goals, and their story. You can then 
donate any amount of money to go towards 
the individual’s aims. In addition to the code, 
app users can also search for a specific person 
by name, or be randomly taken to the page of 
someone in need.

It’s hoped that this form of donation will help 
individuals gain the financial and emotional 
stability to sustain their move back into a home  
or job.

Bristol – Tap for Bristol
Tap for Bristol https://tapforbristol.org is a 
contactless donation system to support people 
experiencing homelessness in Bristol. The initiative 
works to fundraise for homelessness prevention 
services as well as directly supporting people 
who are experiencing homelessness. The ‘TAP 
for Bristol’ points, that allow people to tap with a 
contactless credit or debit card to donate £3, are in 
shop windows and on hand-held devices.

risk of rough sleeping not owed a statutory duty 
to temporary or other accommodation. This 
approach was adopted with full agreement of 
Local Authority leaders and also key partners from 
the region, confirmed through the Combined 
Authority, Greater Manchester Reform Board, and 
the Greater Manchester Homelessness Action 
Network.

The focus of the ABEN programme is the 
provision of basic immediate-access, emergency 
accommodation. Its aim is to provide an 
immediate “pick-up” of vulnerable people from the 
streets and to prevent the need for rough sleeping 
for those at imminent risk.

The cohort of people served by ABEN are mostly 
single homeless people excluded from mainstream 
services, often through current or past behaviour 
linked to complex needs, or through the lack of 
any priority need in the statutory homelessness 
system or wider public services including 
probation and social care.

The project is linked to a website where members 
of the public can donate to the project and see 
what their donation can buy. There has been 
significant publicity surrounding the project with 
billboards carrying the slogan of ‘A bed every 
night, so no one sleeps rough in Manchester.’

Oxford – Greater Change
Oxford entrepreneur Alex McCallion has set up 
Greater Change https://www.greaterchange.co.uk, 
a smartphone app which members of the public 
can use to donate to homeless individuals. The 
inspiration behind the app was a need to respond 
to the need for cashless technology and to enable 
those experiencing homelessness to save for long-
term goals – rather than being forced to spend 
their money on short-term solutions. The founder 
states that, despite the public giving “a significant 
amount of money” to those experiencing 
homelessness, the donations “rarely make a long-
term difference” due to the cash seldom being 
“spent on long-term solutions.”

This focus on the longer-term financial goals, 
aimed at helping individuals escape homelessness, 
is hugely important. Everyone has the right to 
adequate housing – but with much of the change 
given to those experiencing homelessness going 
towards more immediate necessities (such as food 
and drink), the prospect of saving for a sustainable 
future of housing and employment can seem 
daunting.

Develop targeted 
rough sleeping 

prevention 
services and rapid 

accommodation 
and support

Prevent repeat 
homelessness 

through 
individually tailored 

accommodation and 
support options

Page 99

https://tapforbristol.org
https://www.greaterchange.co.uk


Appendix 3: Good Practice Guide - April 202212

Every time a member of the public uses ‘TAP for 
Bristol’ they will donate £3. One tap (£3) could 
support someone attending a job interview. 
Two taps could fund a one to one session with 
a support worker for a young person facing 
homelessness, and three taps can fund a 
prevention worker – working directly to navigate 
someone away from crisis or could fund an 
emergency deposit for a room.

Cardiff – Give DIFFerently
Give DIFFerently https://www.forcardiff.com/
givedifferently/ is a partnership approach to 
tackling homelessness in Cardiff between FOR 
Cardiff and existing homeless organisations and 
charities. Give DIFFerently has been created to 
shine a light on the wealth of services provided 
to help combat rough sleeping across the city, as 
well as fundraising to provide essential grants for 
particular individuals at risk.

People in Cardiff give frequently and generously 
to the people they see on the streets, but the 
UK is becoming an increasingly cashless society. 
Give DIFFerently provides an opportunity for 
people to think differently about how to support 
people experiencing homelessness when they feel 
compelled. By signing up to the Charter or giving 
through technology, the charities who receive the 
support can ensure it goes towards helping people 
stay off the streets for good.

The Give DIFFerently fund helps existing homeless 
charities support the people they work with 
through small grants. Through grants of up to 
£750 – which are to be spent on essentials that will 
aid a person’s personal development plan –  
the aim is to provide individual solutions to 
individual issues.

Homeless Link
The Homeless Link report ‘Responses to Begging’ 
https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/
files/site-attachments/Responses%20to%20
Begging%20Dec2016.pdf may also be a useful 
resource.

Assessment Centres
London Borough of Lambeth
Lambeth has a well-established assessment 
centre. This is a standalone facility, including 
28 beds in single rooms (though couples may 
double up). The length of stay is 28 days. 
Referrals are received from Street Outreach and 

the Housing Options service. Move-on is into 
Lambeth’s Supported Accommodation Pathway 
for single homeless people, private rented sector 
accommodation, or reconnection to home area. 
There is multi-agency input at the assessment 
centre from local mental health and substance 
misuse services.

This approach ensures that all service users 
receive a full and accurate needs assessment and 
also promotes access into support services. Having 
a standalone assessment centre is considered to 
promote a very responsive service – there is always

somewhere for outreach workers to take service 
users immediately – and ensures there is a single 
and consistent approach for all referral agencies.

London Borough of Tower Hamlets
Tower Hamlets does not have a standalone 
assessment centre. Outreach staff are able to refer 
new rough sleepers to London ‘No Second Night 
Out’ hubs.

Assessment and placement within Tower Hamlets 
are carried out by HOST (housing options) staff. 
HOST carries out eligibility checks and make a 
decision about accommodation, which may include 
immediate supported hostel accommodation. In 
addition, there are a number of 28-day assessment 
beds within local hostels – which aim to offer a 
flexible route into accommodation for chaotic 
rough sleepers.

Westminster City Council
Westminster has a standalone 40-bed assessment 
center based within a former hostel. The service 
is run by a local day centre and opened in 2017. 
Service users may stay up to 30 days in the centre. 
This length of time is considered necessary to 
support relationship-building with rough sleepers, 
so that meaningful assessment can take place and 
is also a realistic timeframe for arranging move-on 
accommodation.

Westminster has developed the assessment centre 
in response to evidenced need for accommodation 
for rough sleepers who do not access other ‘No 
Second Night Out’ accommodation in London and 
who are at risk of becoming entrenched.

On-site mental health support at the assessment 
centre is provided via an externally commissioned 
organisation. This enables more effective 
diagnosis of long-term conditions and short-term 
psychosis and facilitates casework.

Page 100

https://www.forcardiff.com/givedifferently/
https://www.forcardiff.com/givedifferently/
https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-attachments/Responses%20to%20Begging%20Dec2016.
https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-attachments/Responses%20to%20Begging%20Dec2016.
https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-attachments/Responses%20to%20Begging%20Dec2016.


Appendix 3: Good Practice Guide - April 2022 13

skills, and self-esteem, clients are more equipped 
to handle budgeting, healthy eating, and 
managing their tenancies and gaining the skills to 
live independently.

Volunteers work towards completing an industry 
standard qualification.

Multi-Agency Response: 
Rough Sleeping
Cheshire West and Cheshire – Multi-Agency 
Rough Sleeping (MARS)
The Multi Agency Rough Sleeping (MARS) project 
was developed in November 2020 to enable 
the Council and partners to provide a multi-
agency approach to support those experiencing 
homelessness.

MARS is a group made up of partners from 
statutory and third sector agencies involved with 
those sleeping rough in and around the Cheshire 
West and Chester borough. The key focus of MARS 
is to build a person-centred, Trauma-Informed 
approach with the right agencies to ensure that 
the best and most suitable outcomes for the 
clients are achieved.

MARS works with those individuals who are 
not engaging with services and have the most 
entrenched behaviours. They are most likely to 
have several complex issues that require a joined 
up and multi-agency response and action plan.

The group meets every other week, and each 
case is discussed in detail with clear actions and 
responsibility agreed. MARS originally ran as a 
pilot for 6 months and following a review has been 
mainstreamed using Rough Sleeper Initiative 
funding.

The MARS review identified the following positive 
outcomes:

• Clients sustaining accommodation.
• Engaging with drug and alcohol services,
• Working with ForFutures and the Housing 

Options Team.
• Engaging with mental health services.
• Attending medical appointments.
• Increased bidding on West Cheshire Homes.
• A reduction in rough sleeping.
• A reduction in visible activity and anti-social 

behaviour in Chester.

Westminster City Council considers the service 
model utilised within its assessment centre 
has been highly successful. During its first 18 
months of operation there were 159 sustained 
reconnections – a significant increase on previous 
figures. The large number of reconnections from 
the centre has also positively impacted on levels of 
begging in Westminster.

Cardiff City Council

Cardiff opened their assessment centre in early 
2021 following a review of rough sleeping services 
by Homeless Link. The new Assessment Centre 
provides 24-hour services, with multi-disciplinary 
assessment of need for single homeless people 
and will also provide good quality emergency 
accommodation for short term use. Where 
necessary this accommodation will also allow 
clients to stay longer to allow them to stabilise and 
for their needs to be fully assessed.

The Assessment Centre comprises of a main 
building that hosts the outreach team, the 
Supported Housing Gateway team and the multi-
disciplinary team. 19 self-contained modular units 
have been developed on the site to provide ‘off the 
street’ accommodation where the client’s needs 
can be assessed over a period of time.

The Assessment Centre will be a co-ordination 
point for complex needs services including street 
and hostel outreach.

Education, Employment,  
and Training
Leeds – St. George’s Crypt: Nurture – Social 
Enterprise
Nurture is the food and catering arm of St 
George’s Crypt. It provides a platform of training 
and engagement for offenders, homeless service 
users, and anyone who has “difficultly moving 
their lives forward”. The main objective of Nurture 
is to establish a safe and trusting environment 
in which to develop life skills and increase self-
esteem and confidence. This is done through a 
structure catering diploma recording progress and 
outcomes.

Nurture caters for both the residents of St 
George’s Crypt and members of the public in its 
Assisi café, which is open seven days a week. The 
team also provide catering for corporate events, 
weddings and other social gatherings.

By increasing self-confidence, communication 

Page 101



Appendix 3: Good Practice Guide - April 202214

Develop Sustainable Supported 
and Settled Housing Solutions

Develop, improve, 
then maintain the 

standards and 
management of 

supported housing 
provision to meet the 

needs of our homeless 
population

Advocate for 
higher standards 

in the regulation of 
supported housing 
at a national level

Improve access to 
affordable, quality, 

private sector 
homes to respond 
to homelessness

Supported Housing Gateway
Cardiff Single Persons Accommodation 
Pathway
The Single Persons Accommodation Gateway (‘the 
Gateway’) provides a centralised 24-hour point 
of access into accommodation for single people 
experiencing homelessness in Cardiff. The current 
Gateway has been in place since late 2015 and 
replaced previous arrangements under which 
supported accommodation providers accepted 
direct referrals from a range of projects/services.

As well as streamlining referral arrangements, 
the Gateway aims to ensure that people 
experiencing homelessness with particular issues 
or vulnerabilities can access the service best 
suited to their needs. It also seeks to help map 
people’s journeys through homelessness services, 
identify potentially unmet needs – and by applying 
this intelligence, reduce the likelihood of those 
experiencing homelessness falling through the net 
of local provision.

There is a Gateway Team that manages Pathway 
referrals and allocations and ensures this 
accommodation is accessed by eligible people, 
i.e., who are experiencing homelessness and 
have a local connection to Cardiff. However, it is 
understood that accommodation providers have a 
right of refusal over referrals received, and  
that the number of refusals are monitored by  
the Council.

The Gateway Team includes an Accommodation 
and Support Manager and two frontline Gateway 
Workers – with responsibilities around data 
processing, identifying voids and supporting 
allocations, liaising with accommodation 
providers, and ensuring that appropriate risk 
assessment and management plans are shared 
between providers.

Supported Accommodation: 
Complex Needs
Entrenched Rough Sleepers: Brydon Court, 
Riverside, Manchester
Brydon Court offers accommodation and 
support for people with long-term experiences 
of homelessness and is delivered by the housing 
provider Riverside. The service employs a high 
tolerance and personalised approach.

Page 102



Appendix 3: Good Practice Guide - April 2022 15

what can help them off the streets for a longer 
period of time.

Brydon Court’s client engagement and 
participation processes are exemplary, with 
feedback from residents integrally influencing 
the services’ redesign and delivery and providing 
an example of a service that is receptive to new 
approaches and styles of performance.

An example of Brydon Court’s adoption of new 
approaches can be seen in the way wherein 
assessments, referrals and interviews are kept to 
an absolute minimum. The hostel first supports 
people in accessing and settling into the service 
before introducing any formal processes, with 
details on eligibility and priority obtained from 
the outreach team in the first instance. Most 
residents have been experiencing homelessness in 
Manchester for a long time and are already known 
to services. Hostel staff focus on getting to know 
individuals and their life stories and identifying 
what they need to thrive.

Brydon Court is a specialist service providing 
targeted accommodation and support for 
entrenched rough sleepers. Those targeted by 
this project have complex needs and problems 
with mental health, addiction, physical health, 
as well as with the criminal justice system. 
Most residents have repeated and long-term 
experiences of homelessness and have exhausted 
all other accommodation options. The aim and 
underlying ethos of Brydon Court is to save lives 
by preventing people from dying on the streets.

Those supported by Brydon Court present with 
very high level needs and face acute barriers 
in accessing and engaging with services. Even 
though Brydon Court is not a Housing First 
project, it does focus on removing these barriers 
by adopting the principles of Housing First. Once 
people have moved off the streets, staff will 
address people’s critical health needs and living 
skills. The staff strive to be patient and flexible and 
understand that an individual’s needs and journey 
can be complex.

The staff adopt a highly flexible relationship-
focused approach, with the individual positioned 
at the centre of service provision and support 
built holistically around their needs and personal 
journeys. By focusing on people’s successes and 
instilling a sense of routine and security, the hostel 
aims to stop the “revolving door” of services.

Brydon Court provides 13 rooms and 10 flats, 
with some rooms adapted for disabilities and 
wheelchair access. The residents move from rooms 
to flats as they gain confidence and prepare to 
move on from the hostel (although there is no 
time limit of how long people can stay). The service 
also has three emergency beds, allowing  
rough sleepers

to try out the hostel and gain an understanding 
of its structure and how it might work for them. 
Brydon Court has few rules except for service 
charges and a ban on violence towards both staff 
and residents. Harm reduction is prioritised,  
and clean syringes and sharp boxes are  
available on-site.

Residents for the most part access the hostel 
via a local outreach team. This team has an in-
depth understanding of street homelessness in 
Manchester and builds relationships with rough 
sleepers, sometimes over long periods of time. If 
individuals move from the hostel back onto the 
street, the outreach worker will attempt to re-
initiate contact and focus on what went wrong and 

Secure 
commitment from 

social housing 
providers to tackle 

homelessness 
as a corporate 

priority

Ensure an 
adequate supply 

of temporary 
accommodation 

and minimise 
the use of B&B 

accommodation

Page 103



Appendix 3: Good Practice Guide - April 202216

Substance Dependent Entrenched Rough 
Sleepers: Hannah House, Bournemouth
Hannah House is 13-bed hostel that offers support 
and accommodation for substance-dependent, 
entrenched rough sleepers. The service is provided 
by Bournemouth Churches Housing Association, 
and focuses on creating sustainable solutions 
to homelessness, unemployment, and social 
exclusion.

Hannah House operates as an “alcohol 
intervention service”, providing accommodation 
and support for alcohol-dependent rough 
sleepers. The service is underpinned by an ethos 
of harm reduction and operates as a “wet house”, 
where residents are permitted to consume alcohol 
on-site. Staff adopt a needs-based approach when 
supporting people in addressing their addictions 
and physical and mental health needs.

Hannah House aims to provide a safe and 
welcoming space where people facing significant 
barriers in accessing and engaging with services 
can experience support

and acceptance. Most residents are not eligible for 
and/or have been previously evicted from other 
accommodation services.

The key principles of the service are to treat each 
person as an individual, fairness, respect, and an 
adherence to rules. In order to ensure the safety 
of residents the service additionally focuses on 
maintaining firm boundaries between staff and 
residents.

People can stay at the hostel for a maximum of 
two years, although this can be reassessed and 
extended on a case-by-case basis in agreement 
with Council funders. This has been particularly 
successful with clients deemed too vulnerable to 
live in other supported housing and even Housing 
First models, because of abuse concerns such as 
cuckooing.

Residents are permitted to consume alcohol on 
the premises with staff support to help minimise 
and/or regulate use. Some residents will for 
example store their alcohol in the staff office, to be 
accessed at intervals throughout the day. Spirits, 
the use of illegal drugs, and legal highs are not 
permitted, with only beer, lager, cider, and wine 
being allowed on the premises. This specific area 
of the service is still being developed and much 
work has gone into formulating support plans to 
assist in a gradual reduction of intake, while using 

the time when a client gets a drink to engage in 
conversation about their drinking.

Staff will challenge residents about their lifestyles 
and choices while offering ongoing support in 
making changes, such as support in helping 
people maximise their income by claiming benefits 
and managing debt. Where appropriate residents 
receive support in reconnecting with their families. 
Significant staff time and energy is also dedicated 
to supporting residents in accessing other 
services. By working closely with residents over a 
period of time, behaviour, moods and health can 
be monitored and supported accordingly.

This service offers understanding and tolerance 
for extremely vulnerable individuals who have 
been excluded from other services. BCHA and 
Hannah House provide extensive and targeted 
ongoing floating support to all residents. Prior 
to move on each resident takes part in a floating 
support assessment process, determining people’s 
needs and the level of ongoing support which 
should be provided. There is no time limit for 
ex-residents to access Hannah House facilities 
once they have moved out. Former residents 
particularly valued Hannah’s House open door 
policy and its continued support.

Care and Reablement: Edwin House, 
Nottingham
Edwin House is a unique, modern, CQC registered 
care and reablement centre that provides high-
quality, dignified care to people with complex 
health needs relation to long term misuse of 
alcohol and or drugs.

The service operates on a multidisciplinary 
approach from a high qualified and experienced 
staff ream consisting of non-medical prescribers, 
registered general prescribers and mental health 
nurses, support workers, and volunteers.

The project provides specialist residential care for 
men and women whom – due to long term chaotic 
lifestyles coupled with extensive misuse of alcohol 
and other drugs – are now experiencing many of 
the problems normally associated with extreme 
old age, including forms of dementia, mental, 
emotional and physical ill health.

• Nursing and end of life care – 24 hour care for 
complex needs.

• Residential care.

Page 104



Appendix 3: Good Practice Guide - April 2022 17

While the focus of outreach is on getting clients 
into accommodation, the therapeutic outreach 
focus is on the client’s emotional, psychological, 
and therapeutic needs. Given that many clients 
that the multi-disciplinary team work with have 
experienced trauma at some point, the role of the 
therapeutic outreach is considered to be critical in 
relation to building relationships with clients and 
linking them to key services.

Referrals come through the multi-disciplinary 
team team, often therapeutic outreach will be the 
starting point for clients and other services and 
elements of the multi-disciplinary team will be 
brought in as appropriate. The weekly allocations 
meeting ensures that a client lead is agreed to 
prevent duplication and ensure ownership.

The Therapeutic Outreach approach successfully 
enables clients to be able to build relationships 
with the service by remaining calm, regulating 
responses and being dependable and consistent, 
so that clients know that they are there for them. 
The Officers also feel that the service helps to  
fill the gap for those who can’t access mental 
health services.

Cardiff City Council Multi-Disciplinary Team 
– Occupational Therapist
The Occupational Therapist post helps people 
overcome the effects of disability caused by illness, 
ageing, or accident so that they can carry out 
everyday tasks or occupations. The post considers 
all of the patient’s needs - physical, psychological, 
social and environmental. The role was established 
within the MDT team in October 2020

There are two key areas of assessment. The first 
focuses on clients’ abilities to undertake everyday 
activities and manage daily and personal tasks, 
and the second looks at clients’ roles, routines, 
meaningful activity and engagement. A key part 
of the role is engaging in communication and 
motivating clients to address any struggles or 
barriers clients identify in accessing and engaging 
with treatment being offered.

The work undertaken is structured, focused 
around achieving specific goals, aside from having 
a need for Occupational Therapist support, the 
only other criteria for accessing the service is 
that clients who are using substances must be 
accessing substance misuse services before they 
can access Occupational Therapist support.

The project provides a home to people for as long 
as they need and want to remain. Some residents 
may only need a short stay to help them with 
particular difficulties; others will stay for far longer 
and even end their lives there.

Multi-Disciplinary Team
Cardiff City Council Multi-Disciplinary Team
A multi-disciplinary team has been set up to 
support people who are sleeping rough and those 
who access emergency accommodation.

The multi-disciplinary team, which sits alongside 
the outreach service includes; Adult Services, 
Substance Misuse intervention (including Rapid 
Access Prescribing Service), Mental Health Nurse 
and Social Worker, Primary Care NHS nurse, 
therapeutic outreach and counselling service, 
training, education and diversionary activities 
staff, homeless advocate, and peer mentors. 
It has recently been expanded to include an 
Occupational Therapist and a Psychologist service 
as well as link workers from Police and Probation.

The team has seen significant success in being 
able to engage with some of the most entrenched 
rough sleepers.

Once an individual’s needs have been assessed the 
necessary support will follow the client, wherever 
they are, on the street, in hostel or supported 
accommodation and will also follow them as they 
are rehoused into the community.

Cardiff City Council Multi-Disciplinary Team 
– Therapeutic Outreach
The primary role of the Therapeutic Outreach 
service is to develop relationships with services 
users, identify barriers to engagement and to 
support clients to move on from a life on the 
street, helping them to navigate through services. 
The Therapeutic outreach workers are the key 
bridge to other services, including those based 
within the multi-disciplinary team, alongside  
wider services.

The service uses therapeutic approaches to help 
people overcome barriers and achieve goals, 
alongside helping them to understand what 
counselling is and how it can help. The Therapeutic 
Outreach workers use counselling skills to provide 
continuous support to transition clients into 
treatment, support and counselling provision  
in Cardiff.

Page 105



Appendix 3: Good Practice Guide - April 202218

Complex Needs – Doncaster Complex 
Needs Alliance
The Doncaster Complex Needs Alliance is a “whole-
systems approach” to transform outcomes for 
people with complex lives, and in doing so aim to 
reduce the disproportionate demand and cost of 
public services which this relatively small group of 
people cause.

The holistic service offer is person-centred and 
asset based, emphasises prevention and early 
intervention, and manages demand through 
proactively identifying, engaging, supporting, 
and accommodating people living complex 
lives, allowing them to integrate, over time, into 
mainstream society.

The Complex Lives team is made up of a core 
dedicated front line outreach and case workers, 
providing capacity to identify, engage, triage, and 
provide a strong accommodation and support 
plan for people living complex lives – focused 
on recovery, resettlement, empowerment and 
inclusion.

The team will comprise a core group of staff who 
are responsible for outreach, engagement and 
the management and coordination of work with 
people living complex lives. They are described 
as ‘all - rounders’ - generalists with key skills in 
creating relationships and trust, with experience 
of managing interdependent issues like 
homelessness, drug and alcohol addiction, mental 
ill health, offending behaviour and the chaotic 
and complex lifestyle issues surrounding this. The 
team will have a core membership with a number 
of connected elements:

• Engagement and outreach: Making connections 
with people on the streets or in vulnerable/
unstable accommodation situations and 
supporting them to access services and 
support.

• Making Every Adult Matter caseworkers: 
Managing and coordinating very complex 
cases, with small caseloads of approximately 
5-7.

• Navigators, managing, and coordinating less 
complex cases, with larger caseloads of 15-20.

• Amber workers: With a specialism is supporting 
sex workers (employed by Changing Lives).

The core team will work with a wider group of 
associate specialist staff from other disciplines, 

for example drugs and alcohol, mental health, 
key workers in supported housing and floating 
support, welfare benefits and employment 
support - who will both deliver work directly to 
people living complex lives and act as consultants 
to case managers.

The complex lives team will be the consistent point 
of contact for people living complex lives and 
their champion in co-defining their assets, needs, 
and outcomes. They work flexibly and provide 
personalised responses to individual strengths 
and needs – a strongly asset based approach. They 
start by seeking stability, whilst trying to reconnect 
people into their networks (using the three 
conversations model), drawing upon an ecosystem 
of formal and informal support available in the 
community (see below).

When crisis occurs, the team manages step up 
into acute settings, ensuring the person maintains 
their connection into the community and is 
discharged as quickly as possible. They take a 
proactive approach, seeking to activate demand, 
meeting and working with people where they are. 
Their working hours go beyond a 9-5 window.

Access to the Private  
Rented Sector
Social Lettings Agency: Town Hall Lettings 
– Cambridge City Council
Cambridge Town Hall Lets is a social lettings 
agency run by Cambridge City Council. The local 
context is a competitive private rented market 
which makes it difficult for people experiencing 
homelessness and other low-income households 
to find good quality affordable housing.

The agency scheme procures and manages 1, 
2, and 3-bed shared properties exclusively for 
people in housing need within Cambridge and 
surrounding areas. Tenancies are ASTs for one 
year and renewable annually.

The agency service for tenants includes property 
quality, suitability, and affordability checks, and 
a dedicated team who support new tenants 
during move-in and afterwards if problems 
arise. The agency service for landlords includes 
providing guarantees around rent and damage 
cover, full management service – including advice 
on property standards, drawing up tenancy 
agreements, and carrying out repairs, and tenant 
vetting.

Page 106



Appendix 3: Good Practice Guide - April 2022 19

rented sector through paying a direct subsidy to 
top up the LHA to cover the market rent.

This scheme is aimed at clients who have a good 
chance of being able to access employment soon, 
which would then make the accommodation 
affordable and sustainable. The scheme will pay a 
subsidy of up to £300 a month for a maximum of 2 
years.

This is funded through a Discretionary 
Housing Payment (DHP) for clients who access 
accommodation within the city, and through 
Flexible Support Grant for those accessing 
accommodation outside of the city.

B&B / Nightly Paid 
Accommodation
Nightly Paid Emergency Accommodation – 
Huntingdonshire Council
Huntingdonshire Council can access nightly 
paid emergency accommodation through 
Rent Connect. This provides self-contained 
emergency accommodation that is spot purchased 
on a nightly basis as an alternative to B&B 
accommodation.

Temporary Accommodation
Temporary Accommodation: Keeping 
House, Leasing from Elderly Homeowners – 
Enfield Borough Council
The Keeping House Scheme has been set up 
by Enfield Borough Council for people living in 
long term care who own a vacant property in the 
borough of Enfield. The scheme works by leasing 
homes from elderly homeowners who are in long 
term care, for use as temporary accommodation.

The scheme enables people to lease their house 
to the local authority in return for a guaranteed 
rent, for a fixed period. The council offers grants 
towards the cost of any repairs needed to bring a 
home up to rental standard.

The scheme leased 15 homes in its first year 
and saved an estimated £90,000 – or £6,000 per 
household.

The initiative pairs increasing supply of properties 
for temporary accommodation with addressing 
some of the barriers that mean that the existing 
stock is used inefficiently.

All referrals are made via Housing Options. 
Applicants must be over 18, have a local 
connection to Cambridge or surrounding areas, 
and be able to manage independently in shared 
accommodation. Repairs are covered by a deposit 
bond equal to one month’s guaranteed rent. 
Properties are owned by Cambridge City Housing 
Company, which has been set up to delivery 
intermediate rental homes, i.e., people with low 
priority for social housing, but who are struggling 
to pay for private rented accommodation in 
Cambridge. Town Hall Lettings manages these 
properties.

Private Sector Leasing: Shire Homes – 
South Cambridgeshire District Council
Shire Homes is the Council’s Private Sector Leasing 
Scheme, which the Council established as a private 
company. It sits alongside the Housing Advice 
team, and currently leases 40 properties, including 
one Housing in Multiple Occupation (HMO), which 
are then rented to Housing Advice customers on 
ASTs on either a 6- or 12-month term.

Shire Homes takes on all management 
responsibilities and offers the landlord a 
guaranteed rent. They will try to negotiate with 
the landlord to accept Local Housing Allowance 
(LHA) rent levels, however the Council will agree to 
a higher rent to have access to accommodation. 
The Council recognises that for the scheme to be 
successful it will need to invest in the scheme, 
but this is more sustainable than increasing the 
provision and cost of temporary accommodation.

Landlords are offered a three-year lease, with a 
break clause after one year. The scheme has been 
successful with landlords who are part of the 
scheme either bringing more properties into the 
scheme or directly purchasing properties to lease 
through the scheme.

A 4-bed HMO is currently being piloted, and an 
additional member of staff has been employed 
using funding from MHCLG to provide support to 
these clients. If this approach is successful further 
HMOs will be established, and the profit made 
from these can be used to provide long term 
funding for the staff member.

Access to the Private Rented Sector: 
Housing Benefit Plus – Cambridge City 
Council
Housing Benefit Plus has been introduced by 
the Council to assist clients to access the private 

Page 107



Designed and printed by North East Derbyshire District Council

If you require
this publication in

large print 
or another format 

please call:

Bolsover District 
Council on 

01246 242424 or 

North East Derbyshire 
District Council on 
01246 231111

If you require this publication 

in large print or another

format please call: 

Bolsover District Council on 

01246 242424 or 

North East Derbyshire
District Council on

01246 231111

We speak your language
Polish
Mówimy Twoim językiem

Romanian
Vorbim limba dumneavoastră

Urdu

Chinese
我们会说你的语言

Polish
Mówimy Twoim
językiem

Romanian
Vorbim limba
dumneavoastră

Urdu

Chinese
我们会说你的语言

We speak
your language

Page 108



1 
 

 
 

Action 

number 

Headline Action Year 

Start Date 

Responsibility 

Priority 1 - Make Homelessness Everyone’s Responsibility Through a System-Wide Approach 
 

1.1  

Gain commitment from partner agencies across Derbyshire to develop a Homelessness 

Charter together.  

 

1  

1.2  

Assess the feasibility of a Commitment to Collaborate in order to embed homeless 

prevention across Derbyshire’s statutory and voluntary services. 

 

1  

1.3 Identify the key triggers for homelessness and work with partners to ensure that they are 

equipped to prevent homelessness and/or make seamless referrals where necessary. 

 

1  

1.4 Streamline the Duty to Refer referral system and work with partner agencies to improve 

the timeliness and quality of referrals. 

 

1  

1.5 Develop a Countywide Homelessness Forum as a vehicle for delivering the County 

Homelessness Strategy. 

 

1  

1.6 Seek to better understand the health needs of the homeless population through a health 

needs audit with partners.  

 

3  

1.7 Improve access to health services and health outcomes for individuals experiencing 

homelessness, working with partners. 

 

3  

1.8 Work with Derbyshire County Council, the Primary Care Trust, Derbyshire Foundation 

Trust and Public Health to influence and inform the commissioning and delivery of mental 

1 

Ongoing 

 

P
age 109



2 
 

health, substance misuse, and adult social care services to ensure they are accessible and 

meet the needs of clients experiencing homelessness with complex and multiple needs. 

 

1.9 Seek that stock holding authorities sign up to the principles for Homes for Cathy. 

  

1  

1.10 Encourage all social housing providers to become a member of Homes for Cathy. 

 

1  

1.11 Evaluate the extent of rural homelessness across the area and the need for a specific 

public awareness campaign within rural communities.  

 

3  

1.12 Identify opportunities to create more consistent approaches and promote best practice in 

the delivery of housing options services. 

 

3  

1.13 Develop a common referral form to access supported housing services across Derbyshire. 

 

2  

1.14 Ensure that data is captured widely and effectively across the system to understand 

homelessness and the wider determinants, and that this data is used to improve 

interventions and joint approaches. 

 

1 

Ongoing 

 

 
 
 
 
Priority 2 - Prevent and respond to homelessness through early intervention and personalised solutions 

 

 

2.1 Consider research projects into the impact of wider social issues on homelessness where 

shared partnership approaches are central to resolving them. Prioritise projects and seek 

resources for these based on impact and extent of existing research.  

 

3  

2.2 Commit to working towards preventing homelessness prior to 56 days (in advance of any 

statutory duty) and explore funding opportunities to develop a specialist early intervention 

3  

P
age 110



3 
 

project 

 

2.3 Undertake an awareness raising campaign focusing on homeless prevention, 

encouraging individuals to seek help at the earliest point. 

 

1 

Ongoing  

 

2.4 Work with partners to develop an integrated homelessness and wellbeing assessment 1  

2.5 Work with Derbyshire County Council to meet the requirements of the Domestic Abuse 
Act 2021, including ensuring that there is a range of housing options, choice and 
information available to those experiencing domestic abuse. 
 
 

1  

2.6 React accordingly and ensure a range of measures are in place to prevent homelessness 

linked to the wider economy and increases in the cost of living. 

 

1  

2.7 Work with partners to ensure access to services to improve customer’s financial 

capability, including access to education, training, and employment 

 

2  

2.8 Commit to improving prevention toolkits across Derbyshire. 

 

1 

Ongoing 

 

2.9 Work with partners to better understand the nature and extent of family evictions and 

develop targeted preventative tools accordingly. 

 

 

1  

2.10 Work to maximise preventions from the private rented sector through the development of 

targeted interventions. 

 

1  

2.11 Explore the viability of creating a county-wide private landlords forum in order to improve 

landlord participation and engagement. 

 

2  

2.12 Develop a supported housing pre-eviction protocol in partnership with providers. 

 

2  

P
age 111



4 
 

2.13 Develop a prison release protocol. 

 

1  

2.14 Secure support from leadership at relevant hospitals to develop discharge protocols with 

Derbyshire councils. 

 

1 

Ongoing 

 

2.15 Develop a Young Persons Positive Pathway with Children’s Services to include a joint 

protocol for 16/17-year-olds. 

 

5  

2.16 Work in partnership with Children’s services and other key agencies to minimise the 

detrimental impact of homelessness on children. 

 

1 

Ongoing 

 

 

Priority 3 - End rough sleeping and repeat homelessness 

 

3.1 As part of the Rough Sleeping Initiative develop a targeted prevention approach to prevent 

the flow of new rough sleepers on to the street. 

 

2  

3.2 Develop a multi-disciplinary team to work to deliver assertive and coordinated services to 

rough sleepers and individuals experiencing homelessness with multiple complex needs, 

with a focus on preventing repeat homelessness. 

 

1  

3.3 Explore how we can provide a rapid offer of off the street accommodation so that no-one 

has to spend a second night on the streets.  

 

3  

3.4 Explore the feasibility of developing an assessment centre to provide off the street 

accommodation for rough sleepers.  

 

2  

3.5 Plan and develop specialist winter provision for future winters. 

 

1 

ongoing 

 

3.6 Develop a supported reconnection policy to support rough sleepers to return safely to their 1  

P
age 112



5 
 

home areas. 

 

3.7 Assess the impact and outcomes of the Rough Sleeping Initiative-funded projects, and 

develop a business case to secure future funding, including a detailed cost benefit 

analysis. 

1 

Ongoing 

 

3.8 Develop an alternative giving campaign, and work to promote public awareness around 

rough sleeping and begging, where there is evidence that the issue exists. 

 

3  

3.9 Develop specialist education, employment, and training opportunities for those with a 

complex history of homelessness and rough sleeping.  

 

3  

3.10  Gather evidence and consider research projects into  

 the extent of dual diagnosis within the homelessness population in order to create an 

evidence base to work with commissioners to create new service pathways. 

 the nature and scale of hidden homelessness  

 the nature and scale of intergenerational homelessness across Derbyshire. 

Prioritise those projects needed based on impact and seek funding to progress them. 

  

2 

Ongoing 

 

 
 
 
 
Priority 4 - Develop sustainable supported and settled housing solutions 

 

4.1 Work towards increasing the provision of appropriate, affordable social housing. 1 

Ongoing 

 

4.2 Following consultation with private landlords develop a comprehensive and attractive 

countywide landlord offer. 

 

1 

Ongoing 

 

P
age 113



6 
 

4.3 Explore opportunities to develop a countywide private sector leasing scheme. 

 

4  

4.4 Review exempt supported accommodation leading to: 

 a needs assessment 

 a charter of rights and quality standards 

 support for accommodation providers becoming Registered Providers  

 advocating at a national level for better regulation  

 a delivery strategy 

 

1 

Ongoing 

 

4.5  

In partnership with Derbyshire County Council develop appropriate housing provision for 

clients with complex, multiple and longer-term care needs where funding permits.   

 

2  

4.6 Work with Derbyshire County Council to develop additional provision for domestic abuse, 

including immediate access provision and advocacy support. 

 

1 

Ongoing 

 

4.7 Carry out a review of temporary and interim accommodation: 

 identify future need and an options appraisal for future delivery arrangements, 

including the option of nightly paid emergency accommodation  

 Explore the opportunities for a countywide temporary accommodation forum. 

 

1 

Ongoing 

 

 
 

P
age 114



 1 

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Report to the Executive 
 

11 August 2022 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Appendices Attached 

 Appendix A – 2021/22 – Fourth Quarter Financial Report 

 Appendix B – 2021/22 – Fourth Quarter Procurement Report  

 Appendix C – 2021/22 – Fourth Quarter Performance Report 

 

 
1. Reason for the Report  

 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform members of the Council’s overall 

performance and financial position for the period ended 31st March (“Fourth 

Quarter 2021/22”) 
 
2. Recommendations 

2.1 It is recommended that the Executive:  
 

 Note the Fourth Quarter 2021/22 financial, procurement and performance 
position detailed in Appendices A, B and C and summarised at 3.3 of this 

covering report; and 

 approve the allocation of the surplus on the General Fund Revenue Account 
to reserves as explained in Appendix A (paragraph 2.11) 

 approve the proposal to carry forward unspent revenue budget as described 
in Appendix A (Paragraph 2.14) 

 approve the proposals to carry forward unspent capital budget as set out in 
Appendix A (Paragraph 6.5 and 7.5) 

 
 
 

 
 

 

TITLE: Fourth Quarter Financial, Procurement & 
Performance Review 2021/22 

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Cllr Alan Barrow – Executive Councillor for 

Corporate Services and Finance 
  

CONTACT OFFICERS: Keith Pointon – Head of Finance  
Vanessa Higgins – Information Business Partner 

   

WARDS INVOLVED:  Non-Specific 

Page 115

Agenda Item 5

http://smdcintranet/committeeagendas/2012-13/Overview%20&%20Scrutiny/Resources/11Jul12/SMDC%20-%20Q4%20(Prov%20Out)%2011-12%20App%20A%20(11-07-12).doc
http://smdcintranet/committeeagendas/2012-13/Overview%20&%20Scrutiny/Resources/11Jul12/SMDC%20-%20Q4%20(Prov%20Out)%2011-12%20App%20B%20(11-07-12).doc
http://smdcintranet/committeeagendas/2012-13/Overview%20&%20Scrutiny/Resources/11Jul12/SMDC%20-%20Q4%20(Prov%20Out)%2011-12%20App%20C%20(11-07-12).doc


 2 

 
3. Executive Summary 

 

3.1 This report summarises the Council’s performance and financial position after 
considering service activity up to the end of the Fourth Quarter (i.e. 31st 

March 2022).  
 
3.2 Detailed analysis is provided in Appendix A (Finance), Appendix B 

(Procurement) & Appendix C (Performance). 
 

3.3 The position can be summarised as follows: 
 

Subject Headline Reference 

Finance The Finance headlines for the Fourth Quarter are: 

Performance against Budget 

 At the Quarter Four stage the General Fund provisional outturn for 
2021/22 is an underspend of £2,103,407  

Efficiency Programme 

 The savings target for 2021/22 has been achieved in the year. 
Housing Revenue Account 

 The Housing Revenue Account is in surplus (against budget) by 
£693,282 at the Quarter Four (provisional outturn) stage. 

Capital Programme 

 The General Fund Capital Programme budget for 2021/22 as 
revised is £4.95 million.  The outturn is £4.44 million, representing 
an underspend of £0.51 million at year end. 

 The HRA Programme for 2021/22 as revised is £6.40 million.  The 
outturn is £6.24 million which represents a £0.16 million 
underspend. 

Treasury Management 

 Cash investments held at 31st March 2022 totalled £30 million. 
 Council borrowing at 31st March 2022 totalled £66.8 million. 

 The Council’s net interest general fund budget is in surplus by 
£77,981. 

Revenue Collection 

 98.10% of Council Tax was collected by 31st March 2022, compared 
to 97.84% for the same period last year. 

 98.70% of Business Rates was collected by 31st March 2022 
compared with 98.12% for the same period last year. 

 At the end of Quarter Four the value of sundry debt over 60 days old 
was £140,275 which compares to £182,978 at 31st March 2021 

Appendix A 

Procurement The Procurement headlines for the Fourth Quarter are: 

 20 procurement activities were completed  
 The Procurement forward plan includes 21 procurement activities for 

completion/start in 2022/23 (either HPBC only or joint) 

 At the 31st March 2022, 52% of procurement activity undertaken was 
on the forward plan. 

Appendix B  

Performance The Performance headlines for the Fourth Quarter are: 

 68% of the key performance indicators met target, with 42% of 
measures performing  better than last year 

 The Council received 108 complaints, 461 comments and 72 
compliments in the Fourth Quarter.  

 

Appendix C 

 

Page 116



 3 

4.       How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 The successful delivery of all corporate priorities is dependent upon the 

effective management of performance and financial resources, which is the 
subject of this report. 

 
5.       Options and Analysis 
 

5.1 Detailed Analysis is contained within the appendices 
 

6. Implications 

 
6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

None 
 

6.2 Workforce 
None 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality 

and Diversity policies. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 

There are substantial financial considerations contained throughout the 
report. 

 
6.5 Legal 

None 

 
6.6 Sustainability 

None 
 

6.7 External Consultation 

None 
 

6.8       Risk Assessment 
There are a number of risks to the financial position presented, which are 
identified and explained in the financial report attached at Appendix A. 

 
MARTIN OWEN 

Executive Director Finance and Customer Services 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Location Contact details 

 

Appendices A-C 

 

 

 

Keith Pointon 
01538 395400 Ext. 4193 
Vanessa Higgins  

01538 395400 Ext. 4195 
 
 

 

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
 

 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2021/22       
Fourth Quarter 

(Provisional 
Outturn) 
Financial 
Review 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 119



2 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

1. Background and Introduction  

 

1.1. In accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules and recommended 

good practice, a quarterly financial report is presented to members. This is the 
fourth and final such report for 2021/22. 

 

1.2. The report summarises overall financial performance for 2021/22 with particular 
emphasis on the key sources of financial risk to the Council. Specific 

considerations are as follows: 
 

 General Fund Revenue Account (Section 2) – considers budgetary 

performance on the General Account by looking at variations in income and 
expenditure and the funding received by the Council.  

 

 Alliance Environmental Services (Section 3) – highlights the performance of 

the Council’s Joint Venture Company providing Waste and Fleet services. 
 

 Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme (Section 4) – considers 

progress in achieving the efficiency and rationalisation savings forecast.  
 

 Housing Revenue Account (Section 5) – highlights the budgetary position in 

respect of the operation of the Council’s housing stock. 

 

 General Fund Capital Programme (Section 6) – provides an update to 

Members on progress against the Council’s General Fund capital plans. 

 

 HRA Capital Programme (Section 7 ) – provides an update to Members on 

progress against the Council’s HRA capital plans. 
 

 Treasury Management (Section 8) – sets out the key statistics in terms of 

investments and borrowings. 
 

 Revenue Collection (Section 9) – considers progress-to-date in collecting the 

Council Tax, Business Rates and Sundry Debts. 

 

Page 120



3 
 

2. General Fund Revenue Account 

 

2.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the General 
Fund Revenue Account against budget by looking at variations in income and 

expenditure and funding received by the Council. 

 

Service (with staff*) 
2021/22 
Budget 

Provisional 
Outturn 
2021/22 

 

Variance 

Contribution 
to / (Use of) 
Earmarked 
Reserves 

Net 
Variance 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

Alliance Leadership Team 468,310 440,258 (28,052) - (28,052) 

Audit 98,110 93,759 (4,351) - (4,351) 

ICT 573,210 578,431 5,221 - 5,221 

Human Resources 69,480 64,148 (5,332) - (5,332) 

Member Services 323,990 275,816 (48,174) - (48,174) 

Property Services 333,320 455,643 122,323 (23,310) 99,013 

Benefits (95,130) 171,046 266,176 - 266,176 

Planning Applications 161,960 426,684 264,724 (800) 263,924 

Building Control 58,490 61,579 3,089 - 3,089 

Customer Services 507,010 440,622 (66,388) - (66,388) 

Legal Services 213,220 224,378 11,158 - 11,158 

Electoral Services 59,470 42,245 (17,225) 3,000 (14,225) 

Licensing and Land Charges (317,750) (285,834) 31,916 - 31,916 

Regeneration 366,620 290,840 (75,780) 87,190 11,410 

Communities and Cultural 429,040 450,899 21,859 (74,937) (53,078) 

Housing Strategy** 172,560 (83,871) (256,431) 130,987 (125,444) 

Transformation 207,130 205,725 (1,405) - (1,405) 

Community Safety and Enforcement 99,540 71,516 (28,024) - (28,024) 

Finance & Procurement 375,580 330,476 (45,104) - (45,104) 

Revenues 194,920 218,543 23,623 - 23,623 

Corporate Finance* 1,350,750 1,868,881 518,131 (1,156,561) (638,430) 

Waste Collection 2,258,620 1,676,490 (582,130) - (582,130) 

Street Scene 449,480 476,687 27,207 (60) 27,147 

Leisure Services 735,620 548,319 (187,301) 9,592 (177,709) 

Horticulture 342,090 337,205 (4,885) (780) (5,665) 

Environmental Health 449,120 322,278 (126,842) - (126,842) 

        

Net Total of Services 9,884,760 9,702,763 (181,997) (1,025,679) (1,207,676) 

        

Net Interest 1,786,050 1,708,069 (77,981)  (77,981) 

  11,670,810 11,410,832 (259,978) (1,025,679) (1,285,657) 

Funding:       

- external (7,358,540) (8,754,868) (1,396,328)  (1,396,328) 

- reserves contribution to/(from)      

     general contingency (901,880) (901,880) - - - 

     use of carry forward from 20/21 (26,510) (26,510) - - - 

     Earmarked – business rates (3,390,240) (2,805,302) 584,938  584,938 

     Earmarked - general 6,360 (1,025,679) (1,032,039) 1,025,679 (6,360) 

      

Projected (Surplus)/Deficit - (2,103,407) (2,103,407) - (2,103,407) 

          

 

Page 121



4 
 

 
 * In previous quarters Staff costs were budgeted and recorded in Finance & Procurement.  They were considered a 
corporate resource to be the main source of savings realised by the Authority’s Efficiency and Rationalisation 
Programme. However, to show the true use of resources by individual services, it is necessary to include the actual 
staff costs incurred.  Therefore, the Quarter Four provisional outturn position includes the actual staff costs (and 
matching budgets) at the service level. 

  ** The Council’s Housing management costs are charged to the Housing Revenue Account. 

 

2.2. A revenue budget of £11,644,300 was set for 2021/22.  In accordance with 

Financial Procedure Rules, the roll forward of £26,510 in unused budgets from 

2020/21 has been authorised: 

 

Communities (£20,000): unspent budget regarding development of Victoria Hall. 

Member Services (£4,010): in respect of Councillor Initiative grants not issued in 

2020/21. 

Customer Services (£2,500): unspent budget for staff uniforms pending re-

opening of receptions.. 

 
This brings the 2021/22 budget to £11,670,810. 

 

2.3. The table above shows how this budget has been allocated to services. 
 

2.4. The Q4 provisional outturn on the General Fund Revenue Account for 2021/22 is 

£9,567,403.  This represents a surplus for the year of £2,103,407.  
 

2.5. There are seven service areas of significant underspend (>£50,000): 
 
 

 Customer Services (£66,388 underspend); savings have been generated 

across several budget heads owing to the change in working practices brought 

on by Covid-19.  For example, the adoption of IT solutions for communication 
within and without the Council has reduced the demand for stationery, printing 

and postage producing a saving of £27,000 against their cumulative budget. 
The service has also benefited from a £9,500 unbudgeted grant received from 
Derbyshire County Council. 

 
 Communities and Cultural (£53,078 underspend); For technical accounting 

reasons, any revised designation of previously earmarked reserves has to be 
recorded in the transactions of the relevant service with a contra entry on the 
movement of reserves.  During 2021/22 some £81,884 of previously 

designated earmarked reserve was reclassified as being rechargeable 
requiring such an adjustment over the face of the service.  

 

 Housing Strategy (£125,444 underspend); The major source of the 

underspend has been generated by Carelink.  Changes in service provision 

and their associated charges have generated a net £124,000 surplus after 
additional operational costs have been taken into account. Third party funding 
of the Homelessness service was above expectations generating an in year 

Page 122



5 
 

operating surplus of some £130k which has been earmarked to support future 
years. 

 

 Corporate Finance (£638,430 underspend);  The payment by the Council of 

discretionary Covid support grants, to local businesses and residents, and the 

receipt of grant from Government to fund them were recorded as ‘Corporate 
activities’ in the year.  The net impact of these activities generated a 

£1,106,561 overspend which has been funded out of the earmarked reserve 
set up in 2020/21.  The Borough’s water extraction franchise fell some 
£100,000 short of budgeted income levels in the year. However, these areas 

of overspend were offset to a degree by some areas of internal savings and 
unbudgeted external contributions.  The Authority’s net efficiency and inflation 

budgets generated a £440,000 saving while spend on the wage bill was 
£80,000 below budget. Corporate Finance has also been the recipient of 
Government funding to support the administration costs incurred by the 

Borough issuing Covid 19 grants on its behalf. The time and effort involved 
was spread across the Authority’s workforce so the credits have been taken at 

the Corporate level, with £126,590 received in relation to Business Support 
Grants, £33,450 in regard to Self-Isolation and £18,600 for C19 post-payment 
assurance.   

 
 Waste Collection (£582,130 underspend); The service received a £465,000 

net credit rebate, against the AES management fee, in regard to recycling 
income arising out of an increase in value of the recyclate collected. Increased 
income of some £70k was generated from Domestic recycling and Trade 

waste activities while disposal costs were £67k less than budgeted. 
 

 Leisure Services (£177,709 underspend); Provision was made in the 21/22 

budget in anticipation of the contract providers requiring continuing support, as 
a result of the pandemic.  The call on these funds was significantly lower than 

the budget available resulting in the reported underspend. 
 

 Environmental Health (£126,842 underspend); The response to Covid-19 

continued to significantly impact the nature and volume of work carried out in 

this service, as it was involved in both Track and Trace and Enforcement.  It 
did, however, receive third party funding in 2021/22 totalling some £180k 
generating an underspend against existing budgets.. 

 
2.6. There are three service areas of significant overspends (>£50,000). 

 

 Property (£99,013 overspend); 2021/22 saw Car Parking recover somewhat 

from the impact of Covid 19, performing £44,000 better than budgeted. 
However, additional cleaning costs resulted in Public Conveniences being 

£74,000 over budget.  Further pressures across a number of budget headings 
contributed to the net overspend reported.  
 

 Benefits (£266,176 overspend); As a result of the ongoing economic effects 

of the pandemic a £178,000 bad debt provision was charged to the service in 

relation to the higher likelihood that historically overpaid benefits would not be 
recovered.  The remaining overspend reflects the levels of subsidy accruing 
against the benefits paid in the year. 

Page 123



6 
 

 
 Planning (£263,924 overspend); Application fee income has failed to reach 

budgeted levels in the year. This is a product of the stage the Authority is in 
with regard to the Local Plan. The majority of large development applications 
tend to occur in the early years of the plan. These tend to drop off as the plan 

matures with consequent impacts on income. 

 

2.7. The £77,981 underspend on net interest costs is detailed in section 8. 
 

2.8. The level of funding for the year is £1,843,429 above that budgeted due to the 

following: 
 

Business Rates (£1,345,789): 
 

 The Council is to receive £1,721,630 in additional S31 grants in the year 
due to the continuation of Extended Retail Relief and Nursery Discount to 

respond to the covid-19 situation – at the time of budget setting, central 
government had not confirmed these reliefs. Accounting practice dictates 
that these grants are treated as general fund revenue in the year. However, 

the extended reliefs impact the Collection Fund by increasing the deficit in 
the year, which will need to be distributed in future years, therefore this 

additional funding needs to be earmarked to accommodate this and cannot 
be used to support other services. 

o The Council’s share of the business rates collection fund deficit to be 

distributed in 2022/23 is £555,338; this amount of the s31funding will 
be put in to reserves at the end of this year to be drawn down in 

2022/23 to smooth the effect between years. 
 

 An increase of £268,794 on the net levy payable on growth to the 

Derbyshire Business Rates Pool is forecast compared to the budgeted 
amount though this is likely to change as it is dependent on the 

performance of all members of the pool and the audit of their accounts.  
The pool has now advised a revised draft final amount due for the previous 
year (subject to completion of external audits), this is £107,047 greater than 

the accrued amount – which will offset the surplus Business Rates 
Retention in the current year. 

 
Government Grants (£50,538): 

 

 

 The actual net level of funding received is greater than anticipated owing to 

budgetary rounding and the receipt of a £50,438 Covid support grant to 
compensate for lost income in the first quarter of the year.  

 
 

Net Movement in Reserves (£447,101 use of earmarked) 

 

 The original budget for 2021/22 assumed a £901,880 use of general fund 

contingency which was increased to £928,390 following approval to use £26,510 
carried forward from 2020/21. 

 The outturn reported in table 2.1 assumes that the £928,390 use of contingency 
reserves included in the 2021/22 budget was made.  In practice, however, owing to 

Page 124



7 
 

the general fund surplus generated in the year, there has been an actual 
contribution to reserves of £1,175,017 (£2,103,407 - £928,390) – see section 2.9. 

 The budgeted contribution to earmarked reserves was £6,360 for service activities 

while £3,390,240 was expected to be used to support the Collection Fund income 
derived from Business Rates. 

 As reported in table 2.1, there was an actual use of service earmarked reserve 
totalling £1,025,679 which represents a variance of £1,032,039 from the £6,360 

contribution budgeted.  In contrast, at £2,805,302 the use of earmarked reserves to 
support business rates income was £584,938 less than budgeted originally.  
Overall resulting in a net £447,101 use of the Authority’s earmarked reserves 

during the year. 
 

Earmarked 
 

 Property Services £23,310 use: monies used from the Climate Change reserve 

to fund energy audit of Borough properties. 
 

 Planning Applications £800 use: Certain activities of the Arboriculture section 
have been part funded by drawing down on Section 106 monies received from 

Developers previously as part of their planning obligations.   
 

 Electoral Services £3,000 contribution use: monies transferred to the Election 

Equalisation Reserve earmarked to meet costs of future elections. 
 

 Regeneration £87,190 contribution: late in 2021/22 the Council received a 
£125,000 levelling-up grant to support applications to Central Government’s 
national pot in 2022/23.  The earmarking into reserve of this money was offset 

by application during 2021/22 of £37,810 from the Borough’s Toddbrook 
earmarked reserve to support economic development projects. 

 

 Communities and Cultural £74,937 use: For technical accounting reasons any 

revised designation of previously earmarked reserves must be recorded in the 
transactions of the relevant service with a contra entry on the movement of 
reserves.  During 2021/22 some £81,884 of previously designated earmarked 

reserve was reclassified as being rechargeable requiring such an adjustment 
over the face of the service. There was also an actual net contribution of 

£6,547 into reserves supporting the Borough’s sustainability agenda. 
 

 Housing Strategy £130,987 contribution: Third party funds received in-year are 

being set aside to support homelessness initiatives that will run into future 
years, including £31,987 specifically earmarked in relation to Domestic Abuse. 

 

 Corporate Finance £1,156,561 use: 2021/22 was the second year in which this 

service recorded the payment of discretionary support grants to local 
businesses and individuals.  These payments were funded by Central 
Government grants both earmarked from 2020/21 and received in 2021/22.  

The net position at the end of 2021/22 being that £1,106,561 was taken out of 
reserves.  During 2021/22 the Borough also applied £50,000 of its Covid 
Recovery reserve in support of the Buxton Festival. 

 

Page 125



8 
 

 Street Scene £60 use: Certain activities have been part funded by drawing 
down on Section 106 monies previously received from Developers as part of 

their planning obligations.  
  

 Leisure Services £9,592 contribution: £18,650 has been drawn down from the 

Authority’s Future Leisure reserve to fund the cost of consultations carried out 
in the year.  Delays in several leisure initiatives during 2021/22 allowed 

£28,242 to be placed into the Sport Active reserve for application in future 
years. 

 

 Horticulture £780 use: maintenance of certain sites across the Borough has 
been part funded by drawing down on Section 106 monies previously received 

from Developers as part of their planning obligations.   
 
 

General Fund Revenue Reserves 
 

2.9   The provisional outturn for the year on the General Fund Revenue Account was a 
£2,103,407 surplus. 
 

2.10 The surplus generated is calculated inclusive of the £928,390 use of general 
reserves budgeted for in 2021/22.  Therefore, the Authority’s contingency reserves 

have increased overall by £1,175,017. 
 

 

2.11 The Authority’s calculated minimum for its contingency reserve is £1,540,000.  A 
review of the Authority’s reserves has been performed to identify areas where 

earmarking for future projects was considered prudent while maintaining a 
satisfactory level for contingency.  As a result, the following moves into earmarked 

reserves are proposed: 
 

- £44,000 added to an earmarked reserve set aside to support with the costs 

associated with the Future Leisure Provision project. 
 

- £142,000 added to an earmarked reserve set aside to support with the 
delivery of Climate change related projects. 
 

- £225,000 added to an earmarked reserve set aside to support the digital 
strategy. 

 
- £20,000 used to create a new reserve earmarked to support community 

organisations impacted by the pandemic. 

 
- £250,000 used to create a new reserve earmarked to provide a buffer against 

increasing inflationary pressures. 
 

- £3,000,000 to create a new Levelling-Up reserve to provide funds to help the 

Council meet the imminent potential commitments arising from the bidding 
process. 

 

Page 126



9 
 

 
 

2.12 The effect of these changes results in a balance on general fund reserves as at 

31st March 2022 of £1.576million – which is only £0.036million above minimum 
contingency level.  This reflects the impact of creating the £3m Levelling-Up reserve 

required to support the potential substantial call on the Borough’s resources.  
However, this reduction in headroom above the Minimum Contingency is not 
considered significant as replacement funds are expected in the short to medium term 

(e.g. though the sale of existing leisure assets once the new facility is built and in 
applying for funding support from Sport England) to bring contingency reserve levels 

back in line with the Borough’s Medium Term Financial Plan. 
 

2.13 The current Medium Term Financial Plan approved in February 2022 assumed a 

General Fund contingency balance of £4.147million at the end of 2021/22. The 
Council planned to use £66,560 of general contingency reserves over the next four 

years 2022/23 – 2025/26. 
 
Carry Forward Request: 

 
2.14 The following requests for carry forward have been received: 

 
 Planning Policy - (£10,000): carry forward of unspent budget in respect of the costs of the 

Glossop Gateway project 
 

 Member Services – (£3,995): carry forward of unspent budget in respect of initiatives to 
increase community engagement 

 
 Financial Services – (£7,830): carry forward of unspent budget in respect of initiatives to 

manage risk. 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

3. Alliance Environmental Services 

  

3.1. Alliance Environmental Services Ltd (AES) delivers waste, fleet, street cleansing 
and grounds maintenance services to both High Peak Borough and Staffordshire 

Moorlands District Councils. The Councils are shareholders of the company 
along with Ansa, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Cheshire East Council.  

Page 127



10 
 

 
3.2. AES’s financial performance and impact on the Council’s budget is summarised 

below: 

 

2021-22 
General 
Fund 

HRA Total 

 
£ £ £ 

AES Contract budget 4,393,990 207,140 4,601,130 

    
Management fee 4,514,130 211,794 4,725,924 

Allocation of AES efficiency (27,701) (1,299) (29,000) 

Net additional claim/ (rebate) (481,026) 2,154 (478,872) 

Covid-19 costs 38,774 0 38,774 

Total management fee payable 4,044,177 212,649 4,256,826 

Allocation of Joint Operation Profit (29,147) (1,367) (30,514) 

Net total 4,015,030 211,282 4,226,312 

    Variance to budget (378,960) 4,142 (374,818) 

 

3.3. The AES business plan for all services being delivered to the Council during 
2021/22 included a budgeted management fee of £4,725,924. The Council’s 
£29,000 share of the total AES forecast efficiency for 2021/22 is repayable to the 

Council at the end of the year and is allocated against the management fee 
costs. 

 
3.4. An additional pressure on the Pay Award compared to the budgeted amount is 

offset by a rebate on recycling contracts income following an improvement on the 

basket of goods rates resulting in a net benefit of £478,872. 
 

3.5. There were additional costs of £38,774 during the year relating to the ongoing 
impact of Covid-19, such as additional cleaning products, PPE, and additional 
agency costs. 

 
3.6. Under accounting standards, AES’s financial performance is consolidated in to 

the Councils’ single entity statements as a ‘Joint Operation’ as opposed to 
separate group accounts being reported.  The profit is therefore apportioned 
between the two Councils and the respective services in line with the input of 

budgeted resources from each department. The Council’s share of the profit 
based on the draft outturn is £50,514 and is offset against the management fee 

costs. 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

4.       Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme 

 

Page 128



11 
 

4.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the Council’s 
Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme in 2021/22. 

 

4.2. The Council’s Medium-Term Financial Plan (approved in February 2017) included 
the four-year (2017/18 – 2020/21) Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy 

targeting savings of £2.1 million. 
 

4.3. The Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy is premised on the need to both 
reduce expenditure and increase income. The need to grow income is now more 

of a priority as the Council moves towards being self-financing. The strategy has 
been developed with the underlying principles of protecting frontline service 
delivery. It is also intended that the strategy is a tool to enable the Council to 

ensure that its service spending is determined by the established priorities set out 
in the Corporate Plan. 

  

4.4. The 2021/22 budget was set in February 2021 with the assumption of £95,000 of 
savings in the year. Unachieved efficiencies of £6,560 were brought forward from 

2020/21, an improvement on the £47,000 anticipated in the MTFP, making a 
revised target to be achieved in 2021/22 of £101,560. 

 

4.5. At the end of 2021/22, all the required savings have been achieved, largely as a 
result of the removal of surplus leasing budgets. 

 
4.6. The Authority carries a longstanding reserve earmarked to support the Efficiency 

Strategy which can be drawn on to offset one-off costs of delivering the efficiency 
programme, such as redundancy costs. The reserve stands at £200,000 currently. 
As in previous years, it has not been necessary to draw on this reserve in 2021/22 

so it remains intact to underwrite performance against future savings targets in the 
Efficiency Programme. 

 
 

5.       Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
 

5.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the Council’s 

Housing Revenue Account and highlights the budgetary position in respect of the 
operation of the Council’s housing stock.  

 

5.2. The 2021/22 Housing Revenue Account budget was set to produce a deficit of 
£1,870,230 supported by reserves. Following various updates, approved by the 

Chief Finance Officer and then the Executive, it was revised and set at a deficit 
position of £2,133,230. 

 

5.3. Provisional outturn expenditure on the Housing Revenue Account for 2021/22 is 
£16,791,662 with provisional outturn income of £15,261,908. This represents a 

deficit for the year of £1,439,948 (i.e. £693,282 below budget meaning less 
reserves are required to fund HRA activities in year) 
 

Page 129



12 
 

5.4.  
 

 

 

5.5. The Council has a duty, in accordance with Part VI (Section 74) of the Local 

Government and Housing Act 1989, to maintain a “Housing Revenue Account” 
(HRA).  By “ring -fencing’ the Housing Revenue Account, the Council ensures that 
the management and maintenance of the Council’s housing stock is funded from 

the income generated by rents and other related sources. The Council is required 
under Part VI (Section 76) to prevent a debit balance each year on the HRA by 
setting the appropriate budget and monitoring progress against that budget 

throughout the financial year. The Council maintained a credit balance on the 
Housing Revenue Account in 2021/22. The surplus balance will be transferred to 

reserves within the Housing Revenue Account. 
 

5.6. There is one significant (>£50,000) overspend to be noted: 

 
 Repairs and Maintenance (£178,989) - There are several compensating under 

and overspends resulting in this variance.  The most significant increased cost 

is Sub contractors & Materials (£213,000)   

 
5.7. There are four significant (>£50,000) underspends to be noted: 

 

 Income - Non-Dwelling Rents (£104,722) – Increased income from service 
charges has been responsible for most of this positive variance. 
 

 Supervision and Management (£201,954) – there are numerous small 
underspends across many budget areas contributing to this underspend. 
However, a large proportion of this variance reflects savings in salary costs, 

transport costs and general employee related expenditure. 
 

 Other Operating Expenditure (£124,967) – The majority of this variance 

Housing Revenue Account 

2021-22 
Revised 
Budget 

2021-22 
Provisional 

Outturn 

 
Variance 

 
£ £ £ 

INCOME      

Dwellings Rents (14,483,110) (14,485,526) (2,416) 

Non - Dwelling Rents Etc (671,660) (776,382) (104,722) 

Sub-total income (15,154,770) (15,261,908) (107,138) 

     EXPENDITURE    

Repairs & Maintenance  4,409,480 4,588,469 178,989 

Supervision & Management 2,739,230 2,537,276 (201,954) 

Rents, rates, taxes Etc. 109,130 147,152 38,022 

Other Operating Expenditure 782,430 657,463 (124,967) 

Depreciation & Impairment 2,099,030 2,182,443 83,413 

Interest & Debt Management 2,693,060 2,733,402 40,342 

Contribution to Capital 4,455,640 3,855,651 (599,989) 

Sub-total expenditure 17,288,000 16,791,662 (586,144) 

     Surplus(-)/Deficit 2,133,230 1,439,948 (693,282) 

(Use of) / Contribution to 
Reserves 

(2,133,230) (1,439,948) 693,282 

Balance - - - 

Page 130



13 
 

relates to a lower than anticipated contribution to the bad debts provision.   
 

 Contribution to Capital (£599,989) –This underspend relates to delays in 

commencement and completion of several Capital Schemes and is reflective 
of the changes to the capital programme detailed in Section 7 below. 

 

6.      General Fund Capital Programme 
 

6.1. The General Fund Capital Programme approved by members in February 2022 

was set at  £4,952,230. 

6.2. The 2021/22 provisional outturn at 31st March 2022 is summarised in the table 
below, with further detail provided at Annex A: 

 

Service  
2021/22   

Approved 
Budget  

Out-turn     
21-22 

Variance  

  £ £ £ 

Housing       100,000       110,116        10,116  

Housing Standards      519,110       316,163     (202,947)  

Property Services   2,784,780    2,831,560        46,780  

ICT 47,830       22,426  (25,404) 

Fleet  499,470 510,305 10,835 

CCTV  63,980 59,516 (4,464) 

Leisure Services       60,000        58,500        (1,500)  

Regeneration      792,060       448,895     (343,165)  

Horticulture       85,000        84,777           (223)  
Total   4,952,230    4,442,258     (509,972)  
Funding:-       

External Contributions 3,470,220   2,473,465  (996,755) 

S106 Planning Obligations  51,000       50,777  (223) 

Capital Receipts 262,500      225,000  (37,500) 

Capital Receipts (one for one) 374,000       44,046  (329,954) 

Revenue Reserves              -         831,445  831,445 

Earmarked Reserves       50,000        56,499  6,499 

Borrowing       744,510       761,026  16,516 
Total 4,952,230 4,442,258 (509,972) 

 

6.3. The Council incurred capital expenditure of £4,442,258 during the year against a 
revised budget of £4,952,230 - this represents underspend of £509,972. The 
underspend reflects the net impact of Capital Programme projects which are either 

behind schedule or have progressed quicker than expected with the most 
significant variances being:   

  

 Housing Standards (£202,947 underspend) – this variance resulted 
from less spending in the year than forecast against disabled 

facilities and home repairs grants. Government funding for Disabled 
Facilities Grants is ring fenced therefore no carry forward is required, 

leaving a carry forward of £30,000 against home repairs grants.  
 

 Regeneration (£343,165 underspend) - against Fairfield Roundabout 

and Future High Street Buxton Springs; both these significant 
projects are on-going and will be delivered over the next two years – 

the budgets have been re-profiled accordingly.   

Page 131



14 
 

 
 

6.4. Consequently, capital funding applied to the 2021/22 Capital Programme is lower 

than forecast, reflecting the incidence and timing of capital spend. 
 

6.5. As a result of the variances detailed above, approval is sought to increase / 

decrease the Capital budgets for 2022/23 as shown in the table below: 
 

Service  Variance  
Carry Forward to 

2021/22 
Over/(Under) Spend 

Over/(Under  spend) 
Completed Projects 

  £ £ £ 

Housing                      10,116                                -                        10,116  
Housing Standards                 (202,947)                    (30,000)                  (172,947)  
Property Services                     46,780                      54,541                      (7,761)  
ICT (25,404) (22,148) (3,256) 
Fleet /CCTV 6,371 10,835 (4,464) 
Leisure Services                     (1,500)                      (1,500)                               -    
Regeneration                 (343,165)                  (345,336)                        2,171  
Horticulture                       (223)                         (223)                               -    
Total                 (509,972)                  (333,831)                  (176,141)  

 

7.      Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme 
 

7.1. This section of the report provides an update to Members on the Council’s HRA 
capital spending. 

7.2. The HRA Capital Programme approved by members in February 2022 was set at 
£6,395,660. 

7.3. The table below shows a high-level summary of the HRA Capital Programme 

provisional outturn at 31st March 2021. Further detail on a scheme-by-scheme 
basis is contained in Annex B. 
 

Scheme 
2021/22 

Approved 
Budget  

Out-Turn 
2021-22 

Variance  

  £ £ £ 

Asset Management Works     5,368,490    4,938,805    (429,685)  

Repairs Team Capital Works        240,000       235,329        (4,671)  

Commissioning Fees        100,000       120,922         20,922  

Fleet/ Equipment          140,750       239,503         98,753  

Dwelling Purchases         546,420       700,203       153,783  

Total      6,395,660    6,234,762    (160,898)  

Funding:       

Major Repairs Reserve     2,099,030    2,099,030                -    

HRA Contribution     3,876,220    3,855,652      (20,568)  

Capital Receipts         349,130       280,080      (69,050)  

External Contributions           71,280                -        (71,280)  

 Total      6,395,660    6,234,762    (160,898)  

 

Page 132



15 
 

7.4. The Council incurred capital expenditure of £6,234,762 during the year against a 
revised budget of £6,395,660; this represents an under spend of £160,898.  The 
underspend reflects the net impact of Capital Programme projects which are either 

behind schedule or have progressed more quickly than expected with the most 
significant variances being:   

 

 Asset management Works – (£429,685 underspend) variances across 

several projects including less spend than anticipated on; kitchen, fire alarm 
replacements, cladding and energy efficiency works.  
 

 Fleet /Equipment - (£98,753 overspend) replacement of vehicles & ICT 
system replacement were ahead of schedule at the year end. 

 

 Dwelling Purchases - (£153,783) four former Right To Buy Council Houses 
were repurchased during the year which was more than anticipated. 

 

7.5. As a result of the variances detailed above, approval is sought to carry forward the 

net overall under-spend of £160,898.  

 

 

8.      Treasury Management 
 

8.1. This section of the report sets out the key Treasury Management statistics in 
relation to the Council’s investments and borrowings. This report comprises a 
high-level Treasury Management summary.  The Audit and Regulatory Committee 

receives detailed operational updates on Treasury Management. 
 

Investments 

 

8.2. Cash Investments held on the 31st March 2022 totalled £30.1million. The average 
level of funds available for investment during the year totalled £32.6million and 
£66,975 interest was earned. 

8.3. The Council has budgeted to receive £40,290 in investment income in 2021/22. 
Interest rates improved during quarter 4 following the increases in the Bank of 

England base rate to 0.75% by March, resulting in a surplus of £26,685 against 
the budget.  

8.4. As agreed, no interest has been charged in the year on the £250,000 loan to the 

Buxton Crescent Heritage Trust. 

 

Borrowing 

 

8.5. Outstanding borrowing at 31st March 2022 totalled £66.8 million. No ‘new’ 

borrowing or refinancing activity has occurred during the year. £3.7m was repaid 
on a maturing PWLB (Public Works Loan Board) 10-year loan in March.  

8.6. The Council’s general fund and HRA budgeted to incur £1,824,340 and £1,693,060 
respectively in interest charges and other financing costs in 2021/22. This was 
based on existing external debt funding previous capital purchases.  

Page 133



16 
 

8.7. The general fund borrowing costs achieved a saving of £51,296 against the budget; 
£40,343 is due to a greater charge to the HRA under the one pool approach of 
borrowing, with the remaining £10,953 being largely due to a smaller MRP charge 

than budgeted. 

 

9.       Revenue Collection 

 

9.1. The collection rate outturn for 2021/22 was as follows: 
 

 Council Tax – 98.10% of Council Tax was collected, compared to 97.84% for 

the same period last year, and 98.41% the year before that. 
 

 Business Rates – 98.70% of Business Rates was collected, compared with 

98.12% for the same period last year, and 98.39% the year before that. 
 

 Sundry Debts - The value of sundry debts over 60 days old at the end of 

Quarter 4 was £140,275 which compares with £182,978 at 31st March 2021.   
 
  

Page 134



17 
 

Annex A     
 

                   General Fund Capital Programme Update 31st March 2022  

 

Scheme 
2021/22   

Approved 
Budget  

Out-turn     
21-22 

Variance  

Carry 
Forward to 

2021/22 
Over/(Under) 

Spend 

Over/(Under  
spend) 

Completed 
Projects 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

Housing & Housing Standards           

Affordable Housing Project  100,000    110,116  10,116               -          10,116  

Disabled Facilities Grants 489,110    316,163  (172,947)                -       (172,947)  

Private Sector Housing Renewal  30,000             -      (30,000)       (30,000)               -    

  619,110    426,279  (192,831)       (30,000)     (162,831)  

Property Services           

Asset Management Programme 2,784,780 2,831,560  46,780 54,541       (7,761)  

  2,784,780  2,831,560      46,780         54,541        (7,761)  

ICT 47,830      22,426  
   

(25,404)       (22,148)        (3,256)  

       47,830       22,426    (25,404)       (22,148)        (3,256)  

Fleet Management            

Vehicle/Plant  Acquisitions    499,470     510,305      10,835         10,835               -    

CCTV      63,980       59,516      (4,464)                -          (4,464)  

     563,450     569,821        6,371         10,835        (4,464)  

Leisure Services           

Outdoor Sports Facilities Fund      60,000       58,500      (1,500)         (1,500)               -    

       60,000       58,500      (1,500)         (1,500)               -    

Regeneration           
Fairfield Roundabout & Buxton 

Regeneration  

    

792,060  

    

448,895  

  

(343,165)     (345,336)          2,171  

     792,060     448,895  (343,165)     (345,336)          2,171  

Horticulture           

Park Play Area Improvements       85,000       84,777         (223)            (223)               -    

       85,000       84,777         (223)            (223)               -    

Total General Fund 
 

4,952,230  
 

4,442,258  
  

(509,972)     (333,831)     (176,141)  

 
 

Page 135



18 
 

Annex B 
 

Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme Update 31st March 2022 

 

Scheme 
 Budget 
2021/22  

Actual 
2021/22 

Variance 
(over) 

under  

   £   £ £  

Asset Management        

Roofing Works       350,000        349,668            (332)  

Queens Court Snowboards/Lighting Capital Spend -          17,271          17,271  

Gladstone St Walkways       230,000        242,593          12,593  

Bathroom Programme       200,000        291,669          91,669  

Kitchen Programme       999,300        793,735      (205,565)  

Electrical Works       350,000        361,753          11,753  

Aids & Adaptations       200,000        331,813        131,813  

Windows & Doors Programme    1,529,790     1,509,568        (20,222)  

Central Heating Works         89,590        110,801          21,211  

Gamesley Cladding       450,000        325,549      (124,451)  

Rendering        555,000        552,175         (2,825)  

Sheltered Fire Alarm        140,000                -        (140,000)  

Bakewell Garages          50,000          44,742         (5,258)  

Hartington Gardens Footbridge           8,000           (8,000)  

Energy Efficiency Works        216,810           7,468      (209,342)  

  5,368,490 4,938,805     (429,685)  

Repairs Capital        

Void Rewires           70,000          31,425        (38,575)  

Void Kitchens         100,000        116,371          16,371  

Void Bathrooms           70,000          87,533          17,533  
        240,000        235,329         (4,671)  

Staffing       

Staffing /Commissioning        100,000        120,922          20,922  
        100,000        120,922          20,922  

Asset Purchases        

Vehicle Replacement        140,750        221,477          80,727  

Re-Purchase Dwellings       546,420        700,203        153,783  

ICT Housing System               -            18,026          18,026  

        
        687,170        939,706        252,536  

        
 TOTAL SPEND     6,395,660     6,234,762      (160,898)  

 
 

Page 136



 

 

APPENDIX B 

 

 
 

2021/22 
 

Fourth Quarter 
 Procurement  

Review 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 137



1. Introduction 
 

1.1 A key element of the financial savings included in the Council’s Efficiency & 
Rationalisation Strategy is being met from Procurement activity which was 

approved by Full Council in February 2017.  
 

1.2 The current Procurement Strategy was developed to ensure that its objectives 

linked closely with the Council’s overall strategic vision and aims and objectives.  
The key actions included, delivery of cashable savings, development of a 

professional Procurement unit, updated Procurement Rules to support 
transparency and the implementation of electronic tendering processes and 
procurement systems. 

 
1.3 The revised Procurement Strategy is scheduled for presentation and 

implementation following consultation with Members during 2021/22.  The revised 
strategy will focus on the following key objectives to support the aims of the 
Council’s Corporate plan and align with the LGA National Procurement Strategy: 

 

 Delivering Value for Money 

 Commercial focus and effective Contract Management 

 Maintaining Transparency and Ethical practices through effective leadership 

 Promoting Responsible and Sustainable Procurement  

 Supporting the Local Economy and Business Growth 

 Delivering Social Value (CSR) through our Contracts 

1.4 The strategy was originally timetabled for decision and implementation in March 
2022, however due to further review on the key priorities and outputs to align with 

other relevant key strategies currently being developed and the incoming changes 
to Public Sector Procurement Reforms, this has now been deferred until the Autumn 

for approval and implementation.  Further consultation is planned with local 
business forums to actively engage local small to medium businesses to gain 
feedback on our key priorities. 

 
2. Fourth Quarter Completed Procurements 

2.1 The activity supported by the Council’s procurement team for the fourth quarter 

January 2022 to March 2022 is summarised below: 

Fourth Quarter   High Value 

(> £181,000) 

Low Value    

(< £181,000) 
Total 

HPBC Only 5 9 14 

JOINT (SM/HP) 0 6 6 

TOTAL   20 

 
2.2 Annex A provides details of the 20 procurement exercises completed during 

Quarter four.   
 

Page 138



 
3. 2022/23 Procurement Forward Plan  

3.1 The table below details the number of exercises which fall into either low or high 

value (profiled over full contract term) scheduled for either completion or starting 
in 2022/23. 

2022/23 Activity High Value 

(> 181,000k) 

 Low Value  

(< £181,000k) 
Total 

HPBC 

 

4 8 12 

JOINT (SM/HP) 2 7 9 

TOTAL   21 

 
 In addition to the above, there are 54 exercises currently in progress and a 

further 148 listed entries brought forward from previous years (for review and 

completion for both HPBC and SMDC combined).  
 

3.2 Some of the more significant ‘high level’ procurement activity that is scheduled for 
support and delivery in 2022/23 includes:- 

 

 

 Facilities Management (Joint venture delivery model) – now completed 

 Glossop Halls (D2N2) refurbishment project (Glossop Indoor Market and 

adjacent buildings) – Main Contractor  

 Glossop Market Operator Concession 

 Future High streets – Spring Gardens Buxton 

 EFG Greener homes LAD3 funding 
 

4. Procurement Performance 

4.1 This section reports on the Council performance in terms of procurement activity. 

 
4.2 Performance for the fourth quarter is highlighted below:- 

 

Performance Indicator Target 
Performance at 
31st March 2022 

% of Alliance Procurement 

Activity on Forward Plan 
68% 52% 

Annual contract spend as % 
of gross expenditure budget 

 

93% 92% 

Supplier (Creditor) spend 
within the local area as a % 

of total spend 

Contextual 8.79% 

% of Contracts awarded to 
local suppliers following 
submission of EOI (over 

£5,000) 

Contextual 15% 

 

Page 139



  

 
ANNEX A 

Fourth Quarter Procurement Activity Completed – HPBC 

Contract Title Brief contract description Recurring 
or One Off  

Service Area  Procedur

e  
Award Detail Term / 

Duration 
 
 

 Total 
Contract 
Value £     

Queens Court -
Snowboards 

Equipment  H&S Winter 
Maintenance 

One Off Assets Direct 
Award 

Hankinson Ltd 3 wks 19,021 

Main Contractor 
– Glossop Halls 
D2N2 project 

Refurbishment of Market  
Hall, Town Hall and Arcade  

One Off Assets Open 
Tender 

F Parkinson 
Ltd 

59 wks 5,236,413 

GMB Window 
Refurbishment & 
GTH Window 
Refurbishment & 
Clock Tower 

Glossop Municipal Buildings 
and Town hall windows and 
Clock Tower works  

One Off Assets Open 
Tender 

Hankinson Ltd 4-6 wks 119,290 

Glossop 

Municipal 

Buildings Boiler 

Replacement 

Replacement Boiler 
Municipal Buildings  

One Off Assets Open 
Tender 

Phoenix Gas 
Services 

4 wks 182,918 

Fire Alarm 
Systems 
Upgrade in 
Sheltered 
Accommodation 

Programme of Fire Systems 
upgrades 

One Off Assets Open 
Tender 

Your Choice 
Fire and 
Security 

1 + 1 yr 208,000 

Fairfield (A6 
Hogshaw) 
Roundabout - 
Main contractor  
 

Works to complete highway 
infrastructure project on A6 
Fairfield Roundabout 

One Off Regeneration MHA 
Framewo
rk 
Further 
competiti
on  

Galliford Try 
Ltd 

6 
months 

2,005,460 

Buxton and High 
Peak Golf 
Course 
Mitigation works 

Works contract for Buxton 
Golf Club to support wider 
A6 Hogshaw Roundabout 
development 

One Off Regeneration Open 
Tender 

J Mallinsons 
Ltd 

8 – 12 
wks 

235,000 

Welcome Back 
Hanging baskets 
visit New Mills  

Purchase of Hanging basket 
displays for New Mills  

One Off  Regeneration RFQ Visit New Mills  3-4 wks 2,019.00 

Gas Servicing 
and 
Maintenance 

Gas Services and 
Maintenance Housing Stock  

Recurring  Assets 
Compliance  

Deed of 
Variation  

Liberty Gas 
Group Ltd 

1 + 1 yr 2,025,000 

Page 140



Install a new 
Electricity main 
and sub-station 
– Glossop 
Market Hall 

Works to Glossop Market 
Hall – Electricity supply into 
building  

One Off Assets Direct 
Award 

Electricity 
North West 

4 wks 91,651 

Refreshingly 
Buxton Branding 
Toolkit 

Local Business Support and 
promotions 

One Off Regeneration Single 
Source 

A Common 
Ground 
Communicatio
ns 

10 wks 4,920 

Chapel  
re-generation 
Shop Window 
Grants 

Grant  Recurring Regeneration Grant Chapel en-le 
Frith Parish 
Council 

n/a 4,450 

Feasibility Study 
Hot Lane Muga 

Consultancy Appointment One Off Service 
Commissioning 

Single 
Source 

Surfacing 
Standards 
Limited 

6 wks 6,180 

HPBC Local 
Food Guide 
printing & 
distribution 

External Design and print 
services 

One Off Regeneration RFQ Buxton Press 4 wks 13,111 

 

  

Page 141



 

Fourth Quarter Procurement Activity Completed – JOINT (HPBC & SMDC) 

Contract Title Brief contract description Recurring 
or One Off  

Service Area  Procedure  Award Detail Term / 
Duration 

 
 

 Total 
Contract 
Value £     

Marshalls 
COVID-19 

Provision of Marshall 
resources for Env Health 

One Off Env Health Contract 
Extension 

Red Snapper 
Group 

12 wks 45,000 

Local Authority 
Trading 
Visioning 
Leisure 

Consultancy Appointment 
– future delivery model for 
Leisure services & 
Facilities 
 

One Off Service 
Commissioning 

Direct 
Award 

FMG Ltd 12 wks 9,600 

Planning 
Applications 
Service Support 

Interim Service support Recurring Development 
Control 

RFQ Pet Twigg 
£4,400 
Jane Newman 
£4,400 
Urban Imprint 
£4,464 

4-5 wks 13,264 

LUF 
Consultancy 

Consultant support for 
Levelling Up Project 
Development and Business 
Case submissions 
 

One Off Transformation Direct 
Award 
CCS 
Framework 

Mutual 
Ventures 

12 wks 119,613 

EV Charging 
Consultancy 
Support HPSM 

Specialist Consultancy 
services 

One Off Communities / 
Climate Change 

Direct 
Award 
SCC 
Framework 

AMEY 12- 16 
wks 

34,000 

Physical Activity 
& Sport Strategy 
Data Project 

Review of demographic 
and health data to help 
inform the physical activity 
and sport strategy refresh 
 

One Off Service 
Commissioning 

Single 
Source 

Press Red Ltd 3-4 wks 12,800 

 

 

Page 142



 

 

High Peak Performance and Customer Feedback Report: 2021/ 2022 (Q4 Outturn) 

 

  

P
age 143



 

 

P
age 144



High Peak Q4 Summary  

The following report provides an overview of performance at High Peak for the period April 2021 to March 2022 in relation to the Council’s 

corporate plan priorities. As well as the summary below, the report also provides insight into the council’s performance against each of its four 

strategic aims, including both successes and areas for further improvement.    

Performance Overview  

There are 75 targeted measures to report against at the end of 2021-2022, with the remaining measures in the council’s performance 

framework being considered contextual in nature and featuring in the Annual Report. The charts below show the results for the year in terms 

of both attainment and trend data. At the end of the year the council met 68% of targets and had improved upon or maintained its 

performance level compared to last year in 54% of measures. The full framework and the actions being taken to address the ‘off track’ 

measures can be accessed here.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Customer Feedback Overview  

This report also provides an overview of the results from the Council’s customer feedback system in terms of complaints, comments and 

compliments. The number of complaints closed during the year was higher than last year’s very low level, with 108 stage 1 complaints. There 

have been no repeat complaints reported and the council responded to 98% of complaints in 20 working days, ahead of its 97% target. This 

report includes further details of the lessons learned from complaints and any repeat issues, where relevant.      

 

68%

28%

4%
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Target Met Off Track N/a

42% 46%

12%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Better Weaker No Change

P
age 145

https://hpbc.alliance-online.org/system/files/documents/attachments/high_peak_performance_indicator_database_march.pdf


Aim 1: Help create a safer and healthier environment for our residents to live and work   

Fit for purpose housing 

✓ New housing benefit claims processed in 11 days against a target of 18 days 

✓ 99.8% of benefit cases processd correctly 

✓ Right to buy transactions completed on time 

✓ Active housing register applicants in priority need waiting more than 6 months   

✓ No gas safety checks were overdue in council homes 

✓ 67% of homelessness applications opened at the ‘prevention’ stage 

✓ Average response times for requests for repair and jobs completed per repairs operative 

 

Areas for improvement: The time taken to process benefit changes missed the 7 days target by 0.5 of a day due to a numer of factors including 

an increase in the volume of Universal Credit changes and new self isolation payments. A review of processes is underway. 

At the end of March the council had 24 households in temporary accommodation for over six weeks but none of the households were families. 

The slow turnover of stock and the reduced availability / high cost of private sector housing continues to affect the council’s ability to achieve 

settled accommodation outcomes for a proportion of homelessness discharges.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

Carelink Service:  

✓ 98% of emergency calls responded to within 45 minutes 

Accelerated housing delivery programme: 

Fairfield Roundabout – Homes England panel agreed the Deed of Variation (3). Contractor appointed and golf course mitigation 

works completed. DCC have alerted the council to issues that may have additional cost implications.   

Granby Road – A Deed of Variation to withdraw from the Grant Funding Agreement with Homes England has been drafted (but not 

yet completed). Due to delays the council is no longer on track to meet the previously agreed milestones outlined in the LAAC grant 

funding agreement. 

 

P
age 146



Areas for improvement: 85% of referrals were installed within 15 days during 2021-22, below the 95% target. The delays were caused by 

customers self isolating or refusing admittance during the Chrtistmas holidays. 

High quality leisure facilities 

✓ Place-based work to reduce inactivity is taking place in four priority areas 

Areas for improvement: £55k in external funding was awarded in support of the physical activity and sports strategy, just shy of the £60k target 

for the year. The timing on decisions relating to some funding applications we have supported meant that this target was missed by a small 

percentage. It’s likely these will be approved in the coming weeks and so added to next year’s total.  

Proposals for a community sports grant scheme are likely to feature in the future committee reports for the refreshed sport & physical activity 

strategy following survey work undertaken in the High Peak. We expect to implement the scheme subject to the necessary approvals during 

2022- 23. 

High quality public amenities, clean streets and environmental health 

✓ 236 community clean-up campaigns 

✓ 10 pest control contracts 

✓ 94% street cleanliness 

✓ Regulatory inspections (water, routine permitted processes, high risk premises) 

✓ 98% of food premises broadly compliant 

The number of fly-tipping incidents has improved in 2021-22 with 406 collections recorded, compared to 609 last year.  The council launched 

its public campaign, aimed at deterring illegally dumped rubbish,  with its AES partners early last year.  

Practical support of community safety arrangements  

Areas for improvement: 88% of the community safety action plan was delivered within time this year against a 100% target. Out of 17 projects, 

two will be carried forward to complete in 2022/23.  

 

Aim 1 areas for improvement and Priority Action updates can be viewed here 

 

 

P
age 147

https://hpbc.alliance-online.org/system/files/documents/attachments/off_track_pis_and_priority_actions_aim_1_7.pdf


 

Aim 2: Meet financial challenges and provide value for money 

Financial resilience and value for money 

✓ Improving collection rates across business, council tax, rent and sundry debt 

✓ 97% of invoices paid on time 

✓ 97% of internal audit recommendations were implemented in time 

✓ Budget variances and efficiency targets 

        

 

Available services provided ‘right first time’ 

✓ 51% of contacts made via the web 

✓ Over 9,500 social media followers 

✓ Complaint handing and no repeat complaints 

✓ 45,405 OneVu Portal accounts 

✓ Sitemorse website assessment score 

Areas for improvement: FOI response times have increased due to the demand on resources caused by the pandemic but performance has 

improved again in Q4 with 68% issued on time. Avoidable contact rose marginally above target due to the impacts of Covid, which caused 

some service disruption to areas such as waste collection and housing repairs, leading to more contacts.  

A new Access to Services Strategy has been prepared with the help of the Institute of Customer Services, a delivery plan is scheduled for 

summer 2022.     

High performing and motivated workforce 

✓ Workplace accidents 

Areas for improvement: Sickness absence has risen to 8.7 days across the 

Alliance against a tightened target of 6 days for the year. This is due to an 

increase in long term cases, which make up 70% of the total days lost.  

 

Positive Legacy Project Update: 

The agile working policy was rolled out in early 2022 with 

continued access to flexible working arrangements for 

relevant roles. Staff have begun to work from the office as 

per service area requirements.  

 

P
age 148



 

There were three lost time accidents, of which two were reportable. All necessary follow-up actions has been taken with risk assessments 

reviewed and re-issued where necessary.  

A leadership development programme is underway with Heads of Service and a new Organisational Development Strategy has been agreed 

with a delivery plan in place from summer 2022.  

Effective use of assets 

✓ Council-owned units occupied 

✓ Council homes with nil void loss (back to back tenancies) 

Areas for improvement: It took an average of 48.9 days to re-let council 

stock during 2021-22. Eighty-two of the 267 re-lets were major voids and 

the figures also include ‘hard to let’ properties which if excluded would 

result in a 43.5 day average. Rent loss from vacant properties now stands 

at 1.35% against a target of 1.03%. The majority of the losses come from 

Marian Court, Church View and The Bungalow.  

 Procurement with a focus on local business 

Areas for improvement: On-contract spend was up on last year but didn’t 

meet the 2% increase targeted due to variations in the supplier market resulting in some off-contract spend. 52% of procurement activity 

during the year was included on the forward plan. This was due to an increase in commissioning activity in response to external funding being 

awarded on various schemes. This resulted in reactive procurements to source consultancies and other providers to support the delivery of the 

schemes and to meet the increased shortened timescales relating to allocation and spending of funding. We are continuing to work with 

services to capture as much detail from service plans to ensure the Procurement forward plan is current in identifying forthcoming activity. 

Technology and innovation 

✓ 99% of system and network availability 

New Digital IT Strategy approved with delivery plan expected for summer 2022.     

Aim 2 areas for improvement and Priority Action updates can be viewed here 

 

Asset Management Plan Update: 

Energy audits completed and Stock Condition 99% complete. 

Strategy compilation will begin post Norse, with posts 

identified in the new Assets team structure.  

Capital programme – Pavilion Gardens Phase 2 completed with 

Phase 3 scheduled for mid-July. 

Glossop Cemetery – There have been issues with sub-

contractors which the Assets team have been working hard to 

mitigate in order to get the works completed.  

P
age 149

https://hpbc.alliance-online.org/system/files/documents/attachments/off_track_pis_and_priority_actions_aim_2_4.pdf


 

Aim 3: Support economic development and regeneration  

High quality development with an open for business approach 

✓ all planning processing targets on track, including 100% of major applications in time 

✓ no major developments allowed on appeal and less than 1.5% of minor developments 

✓ all priority 1 planning enforcement cases visited within one working day 

Areas for improvement: Due to a decrease in large / commercial applications there have been fewer pre-application discussions than targeted. 

Agent satisfaction with the planning process was 45% and has been affected by the backlog of applications resulting from covid, staffing issues 

and an increase in applications. The service is tackling the backlog through consultancy, recruitment and a communications protocol for 

development control to improve contact with our 

customers. The proportion of planning enforcement cases 

resolved in 13 weeks fell short of target, due to staffing 

capacity from long term sickness absence.   

Flourishing Town Centres and Business Support 

✓ average vacancy rate of 9.2% for town centre 

shops across the Borough 

There were 1842 hits on the council’s business page 

during 2021/22. The monthly council business newsletter 

now has 1326 subscribers and includes details of funding 

opportunities, training events and other relevant business 

news. 

The costs associated with the Glossop Halls project have 

increased by circa £700k (May 22) and a delay in 

tendering for the Phase 2 contractor has led to a delay in 

scheduled site handover and tender for cabin refurbishment. 

Aim 3 areas for improvement and Priority Action updates can be viewed here 

 

Growth Strategy Update: 

Buxton future high street fund - Legal due diligence underway regarding the 

purchase of Springs. Searches and enquiries are in progress. Report on the 

title is to be provided once complete. We are reviewing tenancy schedules 

and are awaiting report on leases we will inherit plus updated position on 

arrears. Grant draw down scheduled for Q1 - financial forecast to consider 

spend on delivery of wider outputs.  

Buxton HAZ - The Cultural Consortium have appointed a Project Officer to 

deliver the cultural and community activities. The first project has been 

completed and a call-out has been made to secure local artist commissions. 

Heritage Schools and the Crescent Trust are working together to deliver an 

education package to be delivered as part of the national curriculum. 

National cost increases has led to some hesitation from property owners and 

an overall delay in roll-out of the programme. 

 

P
age 150

https://hpbc.alliance-online.org/system/files/documents/attachments/off_track_pis_and_priority_actions_aim_3_2.pdf


 

Aim 4: Protect and Improve the Environment 

Quality Parks and Open Spaces 

✓ Green Flag maintained at Memorial Park, Whaley Bridge 

Areas for improvement: The number of volunteer hours in our parks and open spaces was affected by covid during the early part of the year 

but picked up later with 415 hours achieved.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Effective recycling and waste management 

✓ 438kg of residual household waste (estimated data) 

Areas for improvement: The estimated recycling rate for Q4 is 47.1% against a target of 50.5% but confirmed tonnages are awaited from 

partners. The level of organic and recyclate tonnages are considerably lower than last year.  

Meeting the challenge of climate change 

✓ Paper consumption was considerably lower than targeted with just 665 reams across the alliance 

✓ Air quality reporting 

Developing a climate change strategy and an action plan of response to a declared climate emergency: Part 2 of the Climate Change Plan was 

published in late 2021 with consultation due to be completed by the end of May. Community Climate Change Fund launched. 

Aim 4 areas for improvement and Priority Action updates can be viewed here 

Parks Development Plans: The Parks Strategy has now been approved 

by The Executive. A play and outdoor sports facilities investment and 

delivery plan has also been approved by The Executive and an 

implementation plan is now being finalised. 

Bankswood Park Improvement Plan – The new pump track in 

Bankswood Park been completed.  

P
age 151

https://hpbc.alliance-online.org/system/files/documents/attachments/off_track_pis_and_priority_actions_aim_4_2.pdf


 

 

P
age 152



 

P
age 153



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

The Executive 
 

11 August 2022 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Local Development Scheme 
 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 

Councillor Anthony McKeown - Council 
Leader HPBC 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: 
 

Mark James - Principal Planning Officer 
 
WARDS INVOLVED: 

 

 

All areas outside of the Peak District National 
Park 

 

 
Appendices Attached – Draft Local Development Scheme 2022 

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 

 

1.1 To consider and agree the new Local Development Scheme that establishes 
the timetable for proposed planning policy documents, including the updated 

High Peak Local Plan and Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning 
Document. 

 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Executive: 

a. notes the content of the proposed Local Development Scheme. 
b. notes the continued role of Local Plan Steering Group 

c. reviews via the Local Plan Steering Group the Statement of Community 
Involvement  

 

2.2 That the Executive approves the Local Development Scheme so that it shall 
take effect from 1st September 2022 (subject to call in) 

 
 
3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 Local planning authorities must prepare and keep up to date a Local 

Development Scheme to set out details of local development documents, 
including the timetable for their preparation, their status and scope. Following 
the decision made by the Executive on 23rd June to commence work on an 

update to the Local Plan, consideration has been given to the timetable for this 
process. This is set out in the attached scheme. Public consultation is 

scheduled during 2023 and 2024 with a view to publishing the plan for formal 
representations under Regulation 19 in Q1 2025. Following the satisfactory 

Page 155

Agenda Item 6



  

outcome of the plan at an Examination in Public, the plan is expected to be 
adopted in Q2 2026.  
 

3.2 Other document listed in the scheme include the emerging Developer 
Contributions Supplementary Planning Document  which is scheduled to be 

subject to public consultation in Q4 2022 and adoption in Q1 2023.  
 

3.3 Once agreed, the scheme must be published. The document should be kept 

under review to ensure that it remains up to date. Updates may be 
necessitated as the Local Plan process evolves and the proposals for reform 

of plan making through the Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill are enacted.  
 

 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 The Local Plan directly links to all four aims of the Corporate Plan. 
 
 

5. Alternative Options 

 

5.1 The Council must publish an updated Local Development Scheme. The 
timescales proposed for the Local Plan and Developer Contributions SPD are 
considered to be the most expedient possible having regard to the 

requirements in the regulations and the Council’s Statement of Community 
Involvement and the level of resource available  to support plan making.   

 
6. Implications 

 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
No implications. 
 

 
6.2 Workforce 

 
Preparation of documents within the Local Development Scheme 
will be undertaken by staff within Development Services with 

additional support from appointed consultants when necessary for 
elements of the Local Plan evidence base in particular.  

 
6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 

 

No direct implications. An Equalities Impact Assessment 
accompanies this report.  

 
6.4 Financial Considerations 

 

Budget requirements for documents in the Local Development 
Scheme are as per the Medium Term Financial Plan.  

 
 

6.5 Legal 

Page 156



  

 
Section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as 
amended by the Localism Act 2011) states that local planning 

authorities must publish and maintain a Local Development 
Scheme. It must specify local development documents that will 

comprise part of the development plan when produced, the 
timetable for their production, the geographical extent of 
documents and if any are to be prepared jointly with other local 

planning authorities. Local Development Schemes must also be 
made available to the public. Progress on compliance with the 

deadlines in the Local Development Scheme must also be reported 
by the authority. To bring the scheme into effect, the local planning 
authority must resolve that the scheme is to have effect and in the 

resolution specify the date from which the scheme is to have effect. 
 

6.6 Climate Change 
 
No direct implications from the Local Development Scheme. 

Documents listed in the Local Development Scheme such as the 
Local Plan will have implications for climate change but they will be 

considered separately.  
 
 

6.7 
 

Consultation 
 
No consultation required on the Local Development Scheme itself. 

Details of consultations for documents listed in the scheme such as 
the Local Plan will be considered separately.  

 
6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
 

The High Peak Local Plan and Developer Contributions SPD are 
the main documents listed in the Local development Scheme. Both 

projects feature on the Council’s Risk Register to identify and 
manage risks.  
 

 
Neil W. Rodgers 

Executive Director (Place) 
 
Web Links and 

Background Papers 

Contact details 

Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents 
 
The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 

(England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/m
ade 

 
 
Planning Practice Guidance for Plan Making 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/plan-making 

Mark James 

Principal Planning Officer 
mark.james@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

Page 157

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/plan-making


  

 
High Peak Statement of Community Involvement 

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/4047/High-Peak-
SCI-adopted-February-
2019/pdf/High_Peak_SCI_adopted_February_2019.pdf

?m=1553776998070 
 

 

7. Detail 
 

 Background and requirements 
 
7.1 Local Planning Authorities are required to produce a Local Development 

Scheme (LDS) by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The LDS 
should set out the programme for the preparation of local development 

documents including the timetable or the preparation and their scope. 
Documents that will form part of the statutory development plan must also be 
identified. Reference to neighbourhood plans is encouraged. 

 
7.2 The LDS is intended to provide a useful tool to keep communities informed of 

schedule plan making and must be kept up to date and publicised accordingly.  
 
7.3 The last LDS in High Peak was agreed in 2014 to map out the timetable for 

the remaining stages of the Local Plan that was subsequently adopted in 
2016. An update is now required to set out the schedule for the emerging 

updates to the Local Plan. The Executive agreed to the commencement of 
work on a new Local Plan in June 2022 following an assessment of the 
policies that deemed housing and employment development requirements in 

Policies S3 (Strategic Housing Development), S4 (Maintaining and Enhancing 
an Economic Base) and H4 (Affordable Housing) to be out of date.  

 
7.4 An updated LDS also provides an opportunity to highlight the schedule for the 

new Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) and 

to provide updated information on neighbouring planning as far as it is 
available. Details of evidence base reports that will inform the Local Plan 

including broad timeframes for delivery and monitoring reports are also noted.  
 
 Work programme and proposed LDS 

 
7.5 A draft of the proposed LDS is appended to this report. Key milestones for 

each document in the LDS are copied below. 
 

Page 158

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/4047/High-Peak-SCI-adopted-February-2019/pdf/High_Peak_SCI_adopted_February_2019.pdf?m=1553776998070
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/4047/High-Peak-SCI-adopted-February-2019/pdf/High_Peak_SCI_adopted_February_2019.pdf?m=1553776998070
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/4047/High-Peak-SCI-adopted-February-2019/pdf/High_Peak_SCI_adopted_February_2019.pdf?m=1553776998070
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/4047/High-Peak-SCI-adopted-February-2019/pdf/High_Peak_SCI_adopted_February_2019.pdf?m=1553776998070


  

 
 
7.6 The proposed timetable for the Local Plan has been informed by the Town and 

Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) 
which establish the requirements for Local Plan preparation. The Council’s 

own Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) has also been taken into 
account as it set out provision for public consultation on planning policy 
documents. Other factors include the need to avoid purdah for key decision 

making and consultation stages and the need for evidence to inform the 
emerging plan.  

 
7.7 Member engagement ahead of decisions by Council ahead of each public 

consultation is also built in. The Local Plan Steering Group will continue to 

meet to review policy matters, evidence, the process and other matters as 
requested. Discussions regarding sites will be subject to member workshops 

for all who wish to attend to ensure that the merits of options and proposals 
can be discussed in detail.  

 

7.8 Key stages as set out in the Regulations can be summarised as follows: 
 

 Regulation 18 – “preparation of a local plan”. This sets out basic 
provisions for engagement during the preparation of a Local Plan. The 
planning authority must notify consultees of the subject of the plan that 

they propose to prepare and invite them to make representations about 
what a local plan with that subject ought to contain.  

 

Page 159



  

 Regulation 19 / 20 – “Publication of a local plan”. At this stage, the 
Council must publish the plan it deems “sound” for formal 
representations for a period of six weeks. The Council should be 

satisfied that the plan now meets the necessary “tests of soundness” 
that it will be measured against at an Examination in Public as well as 

relevant legal requirements such as compliance with the Duty to Co-
operate and Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) requirements.  

 

 Regulation 22 – submission of the Local Plan to the Secretary of State 
along with the Sustainability Appraisal, representations, Consultation 

Statement and other supporting documents. Consultees must be 
notified of the submission and documents are to be made available. 

 

 Regulation 23 / 24 / 25 relates to the Examination in Public stage when 
the plan and associated representation and supporting documents are 

considered by a planning inspector. Representors have the opportunity 
to appear at hearing sessions where specific matters relating to the plan 

are discussed. The Council must provide six weeks notice of such 
hearings. The inspector may deem that modifications to the plan are 
necessary to make the plan sound. Such modifications would be 

subject to a further six week period of consultation before the inspector 
writes their final report. This would confirm if the plan is sound and 

legally compliant with any necessary modifications.  
 

 Regulation 26 set provision for the point at which the Council may 

decide to adopt the plan, subject to the recommendations of the 
inspector. The Council must then publish the plan and notify interested 

parties.  
  
7.9 The Council’s SCI specifies the following for engagement at the regulation 18 

and 19 stages in the process. 
 

Page 160



  

 
 

7.10 In Q1 2023, early engagement is proposed in the form of a scoping 
consultation. The precise form of this consultation will be considered by the 
Local Plan Steering Group ahead of Council approval. The scoping 

consultation could seek views on the scope of plan, what issues that plan 
should address, objectives and a “call for sites”. The latter element would 

allow landowners and others to put forward sites for further consideration as 
potential development sites or sites to be protected e.g. Local Green Spaces 
in the next Local Plan.   

 
7.11 Q3 2023 would then see a consultation on options for policies and sites 

building on feedback from the scoping consultation, new evidence and 
member feedback. Options would then be refined to prepared a preferred 
options consultation for further consultation in Q2 2024. This would provide the 

first opportunity for comments on a draft version of the new Local Plan. This 
consultation would conclude the regulation 18 phase of the process.  

 
7.12 Publication of the plan for a six week period for formal representations as per 

regulations 19 / 20 would follow in Q1 2025 closely followed by submission of 

the plan to the SoS, subject to Council approval. The length of Local Plan 
examinations is difficult to predict as this will largely be dependent on the 

number of outstanding issues. However, it has been assumed that a further 
period of consultation on modifications to the plan will be need during this 
phase as this is generally the case. It is expected that the Council will be able 

to consider the adoption of the plan by Q2 2026. 
 

Page 161



  

7.13 Whilst the above timeline is considered to be appropriate at the moment, it will 
need to be kept under review to ensure that milestones are realistic and reflect 
new information. In particular, proposals in the emerging Levelling Up and 

Regeneration Bill include the streamlining of local plans and associated 
evidence requirements with a view to reducing preparation time to 30 months. 

At the time of writing, the arrangements for the transition from the current 
system to the new are still unknown. Indeed, the Bill itself is still subject to 
several rounds of further readings in Parliament and therefore may change. 

Neverthless, it is possible that the timeline could be condensed to reflect new 
legislation. Conversely, delays may also be necessitated by issues that arise 

from consultation or new evidence for example.  
 
7.14 The timetable for the Local Plan was considered by the Local Plan Steering 

Group on 26th July 2022. Whilst views were expressed that it would be 
preferrable to accelerate the process, it was explained that the best 

opportunity for this to occur would be in response to the eventual reforms 
proposed in the Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill discussed above or at the 
expense of public consultation. A call for detailed consideration of the scope of 

the plan ahead of consultation can be incorporated within the timeframes set 
out in the LDS. A request to update the Statement of Community Involvement 

early on in the Local Plan process has been reflected in the LDS and is 
discussed below.  

 

7.15 The programme for the Development Contributions SPD is relatively straight-
forward in comparison to the Local Plan. As per consultation requirements set 
out in the regulations for SPDs and in the Council’s SCI, a draft SPD is 

proposed to be considered for public consultation in Q4 2022. This follows the 
issues and options consultation for the document that was conducted  earlier 

this year. Adoption by the Council expected in Q1 2023. Once in place, the 
document will provide additional guidance to the Council and developers in 
relation to the method and approach for calculating developer contributions 

towards infrastructure and affordable housing in line with the adopted Local 
Plan.  

 

 

Page 162



  

 
7.16 The following areas have been formally designated by the Council as 

Neighbourhood Areas to enable the preparation of Neighbourhood Plans: 

 

 Chapel-en-le-Frith Parish (designated April 2013) 

 Chinley, Buxworth and Brownside Parish (designated July 2016) 

 Whaley Bridge Parish (designated October 2013) 

 Hayfield Parish (designated September 2019) 

 Buxton Neighbourhood Area (non-parished) and Buxton Neighbourhood 

Forum (designated February 2021) 
 
7.17    Whilst there are five designated Neighbourhoods Areas, it is understood that   

plans are only currently being produced in two, namely Whaley Bridge and 
Buxton. Whaley Bridge Town Council recently consulted on a draft of the 

neighbourhood plan but the full details of the timetable are unknown. No 
details are known of the timeframe for the Buxton Neighbourhood Plan. 
Further engagement with neighbouring planning bodies will be undertaken 

when the timetable for the Local Plan update through the LDS has been 
agreed.  

 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 163



  

 

7.18 The Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) is published each December and set out 
data for Local Plan indicators such as housing and employment 

developments. The production of Infrastructure Funding Statement is now a 
statutory requirement to set out details of developer contributions secured, 

collected and spent by local planning authorities. 
 

 
 

7.19 The Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) sets out provisions 
for public consultation on planning policy documents as well as planning 

applications and was adopted in February 2019. The SCI must be reviewed at 
least every five years to ensure that it is up to date. As such, a review is due 
by February 2024.  

 
 However, it is proposed to review and if needs be consult on possible 

modifications to the SCI in Q1 2023 alongside the initial scoping consultation 
on the Local Plan. This would enable the SCI to be updated with any 
necessary changes in best practice etc at the start of the process rather than 

in the middle as per the existing review timetable. The SCI could then be 
considered for adoption prior to the options consultation on the Local Plan and 

form the basis for consultations from that point onwards.  
 

 

Next steps 
 

7.20 Once agreed and the LDS has been brought into effect, the Council must 

publish the LDS along with a copy of amendments. In due course it must also 
publish up-to-date information showing the state of the authority’s compliance 

(or non-compliance) with the timetable.  

Page 164



Local Development Scheme 2022

September 2022

Page 165



31 Introduction

42 The Development Plan

63 Timescales and Programme

94 Monitoring, Evidence and Review

September 2022

Local Development Scheme 2022

Contents

Page 166



1.1 The High Peak Local Development Scheme sets out the documents, which the Council will
use when exercising its planning functions. The planning policies, which the Council uses to guide
planning applications, together with proposals for the development and regeneration of specific
areas of land are contained in a variety of documents.

1.2 The Local Development Scheme (LDS) explains what each of these documents are, what
areas they cover and how they relate to each other. The Scheme also sets out a timetable for the
production of new documents. The Council will measure progress against this published timetable.

1.3 The Local Development Scheme should be the starting point for everyone who has an
interest in the planning of the Borough. The Scheme sets out:

The documents to be produced and the linkages between them
The timescales for the documents
How the documents will be monitored and evidenced
Potential risks and how the will be managed

1.4 The previous Local Development Scheme was agreed by the Council in April 2014 when
the timescales for the completion of the Local Plan adopted in 2016 were resolved.

September 2022

Local Development Scheme 2022

1 Introduction

3

Page 167



2.1 All local planning authorities are required to draw up a Development Plan for their area. The
Plan sets out the Authority’s policies and proposals for the development and other use of land. It
also provides the framework for making decisions about planning applications within the area.

2.2 This Local Development Scheme focuses solely on the area of High Peak outside of the
National Park, for which, the Borough Council is the local planning authority. Derbyshire County
Council is also responsible for minerals and waste planning outside of the National Park.

2.3 The Peak District National Park Authority functions as the local planning authority for the
parts of the Borough that are located within the National Park. As such, a separate Development
Plan for this part of the Borough is in place which includes the Peak District National Park Core
Strategy and Development Management Policies document.

2.4 Neighbourhood Plans when "made" also form part of the Development Plan for the Borough.
The Chapel-en-le-Frith Neighbourhood Plan was made in August 2015 and is the only made plan
within the High Peak planning area.

2.5 The following area have been formally designated by the Council as Neighbourhood Areas
to enable the preparation of Neighbourhood Plans:

Chapel-en-le-Frith Parish (designated April 2013)
Chinley, Buxworth and Brownside Parish (designated July 2016)
Whaley Bridge Parish (designated October 2013)
Hayfield Parish (designated September 2019)
Buxton Neighbourhood Area (non-parished) and Buxton Neighbourhood Forum (designated
February 2021)

2.6 As of July 2022, the Development Plan outside of the National Park currently consists of:

High Peak Local Plan (adopted April 2016)
Chapel-en-le-Frith Neighbourhood Plan (made August 2015)
Derbyshire Minerals and Waste Development Framework (DMWDF)

2.7 In addition to the Development Plan, the following documents provide additional guidance and
information relating to planning in the Borough:

Supplementary Planning Documents

2.8 The Council has a variety adopted Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) which provide
additional information and advice in support of the Local Plan. Adopted SPDs include:

Water in Buxton SPD (adopted December 2021)
Design Guide SPD (adopted February 2018)
Buxton Design and Place Making Strategy SPD (adopted December 2009)
Glossop Design and Place Making Strategy SPD (adopted March 2012)
Residential Design SPD (adopted December 2005)
Housing Needs in the High Peak SPD (adopted November 2007)
Designing out Crime SPD (adopted June 2005)

September 2022

Local Development Scheme 2022

2 The Development Plan

4

Page 168



Landscape Character SPD (adopted March 2006)
Planning Obligations SPD (adopted December 2005)

2.9 Additional informal guidance is also provided by the Council in relation to shop fronts and
signage but these documents are not SPDs.

Statement of Community Involvement (SCI)

2.10 This document sets out the standards and processes or engaging the community on the
Council’s planning functions. The document details procedures for public involvement with planning
policy as well as setting out standards for development control. The latest version of the SCI was
adopted by the Council in February 2019.

Annual Monitoring Reports (AMR)

2.11 The Annual Monitoring Report was introduced in 2004 under the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act. The process of monitoring is seen as being fundamental to plan preparation and
the concept of plan, monitor and manage. Monitoring helps to establish what is happening now,
what may happen in the future and by comparing trends against existing policies and targets,
determines what needs to be done.

2.12 The monitoring reports present and analyse data relating to specific planning policies to
consider their effectiveness. All AMRs are available to view on the Council's website.

Infrastructure Funding Statements

2.13 The Council now produces an Infrastructure Funding Statement each year to provide
information on developer contributions that have been secured, collected and spent on infrastructure
and affordable housing by the Borough Council.

September 2022

Local Development Scheme 2022

2 The Development Plan

5

Page 169



3.1 The future programme for planning policy documents in the Borough includes the following:

Updated High Peak Local Plan Local Plan and Policies Map
Updated Developer Contributions SPD
Neighbourhood Plans
Annual Monitoring Reports
infrastructure Funding Statements
Statement of Community involvement

3.2 The purpose, scope and timescales for each of these documents is detailed in the tables
below. Each document is applicable to the whole of High Peak outside of the Peak District National
Park unless otherwise stated. No policy documents are proposed to be prepared jointly with other
Local Planning Authorities but joint working will take place on aspects of the evidence base.

Updated High Peak Local Plan and Policies Map

Purpose and scope

A spatial strategy and vision for the
Borough and the policies and site allocations
to deliver them.

What is the scope of the document?

Part of Development Plan for High Peak to be
used to determine planning applications and
guide investment.

What is the purpose of the document?

High Peak Local Plan adopted April 2016What will it replace?

Timetable

Q1 2023Early engagement

Q3 2023Options consultation

Q2 2024Preferred Options consultation

Q1 2025Publication of Local Plan for formal
representations

Q2 2025Submission of Local Plan

Q3 2025 - Q1 2026Examination

Q2 2026Adoption

September 2022

Local Development Scheme 2022

3 Timescales and Programme

6

Page 170



Updated Developer Contributions SPD

Purpose and scope

Guidance for the application of Local Plan
policies relating to developer contributions
required to make development acceptable in
planning terms

What is the subject of the document?

Supplementary Planning DocumentWhat is the status of the document?

Planning Obligations SPD adopted December
2005

What will it replace?

Timetable

Q4 2022Draft SPD consultation

Q1 2023Adoption

Neighbourhood Plans

Purpose and scope

To be determined by the relevant Parish/Town
Councils and the Buxton Neighbourhood Forum

What is the subject of the document?

Part of the Development Plan for the respective
area. Plans must be in general conformity with
the strategic policies of the Local Plan.

What is the status of the document?

TBDWhat will it replace?

Timetable

TBD by Parish/Town Councils and the Buxton
Neighbourhood Forum

Consultations

TBDAdoptions

Annual Monitoring Reports

Purpose and scope

Presentation and analysis of data for indicators
relating to development plan policies

What is the subject of the document?

Monitoring reportWhat is the status of the document?

Monitoring reports are produced annuallyWhat will it replace?

September 2022

Local Development Scheme 2022

3 Timescales and Programme

7

Page 171



Purpose and scope

Timetable

N/AConsultation

December each yearPublication

Infrastructure Funding Statements

Purpose and scope

Data on developer contributions that have been
secured and spent by the Council on
infrastructure

What is the subject of the document?

Monitoring reportWhat is the status of the document?

Monitoring reports are produced annuallyWhat will it replace?

Timetable

N/AConsultation

December each yearPublication

Statement of Community Involvement (SCI)

Purpose and scope

Proposals for how the Council will consult on
planning policy documents and planning
applications

What is the subject of the document?

Statement of Community InvolvementWhat is the status of the document?

SCI as adopted in February 2019What will it replace?

Timetable

Q1 2023Consultation

Q2 2023Adoption

September 2022

Local Development Scheme 2022

3 Timescales and Programme

8

Page 172



4.1 The Council needs to ensure that the Local Plan is based on adequate, up-to-date and
relevant evidence about the economic, social and environmental characteristics and prospects of
the area. The Council has updated (with partners where appropriate) and commissioned additional
evidence to support the Local Plan as follows:

High Peak Retail and Leisure Study (2022)
High Peak Housing and Economic Needs Assessment (2022)
Derby, Derbyshire, Peak District National Park Authority and East Staffordshire Gypsy and
Traveller Accommodation Assessment (2022)

4.2 Forthcoming evidence to be finalised, collated or commissioned by the Council or partners
includes:

Derbyshire Climate Change Planning Guidance (Summer 2022)
A6 Corridor Study (Winter 2022)
Derbyshire Spatial Renewable Energy Study (Summer 2022)
High Peak Biodiversity Strategy (2022)
High Peak Strategic Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (2022/23)
Infrastructure Delivery Plan (2022/3 and ongoing)
Derbyshire Natural Capital Strategy (Summer 2022)
Derbyshire Local Nature Recovery Strategy (TBD)
Peak District Dales SAC Nutrient Neutrality Strategy and Action Plan Part 1 (January 2023)
and Part 2 (2024)
Sustainability Appraisal with Heath impact Assessment and Equalities Impact Assessment
(ongoing)
Habitats Regulations Assessment (ongoing)
Ecological Assessments (2023/24)
Heritage and Landscape Impact Assessment (203/24)
Green Infrastructure Strategy (2024)
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 1 (2023)
Plan and Site Viability Assessment (2023/24)
Open Space, Sports and Recreation Assessment (TBD)
Transport Study (2023/24)
Green Belt Review (TBD)

4.3 Existing evidence base studies that informed the adopted Local Plan 2016 are also retained
on the Council's website alongside the new evidence above when it becomes available.

4.4 These documents are available to view on the Council's evidence base webpage:

4.5 https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/846/Evidence-base

4.6 Evidence will be reviewed periodically to ensure that it remains up to date and
relevant. Reviews may be triggered by a materials change in circumstances. For example, in
response to a change in national policy or legislation or the the outcome of monitoring reports
which may indicate that further information is required on a particular issue.

September 2022

Local Development Scheme 2022

4 Monitoring, Evidence and Review

9

Page 173



4.7 Where necessary, this may lead to a partial or full review of the Local Plan or
supporting documentation. The Town and County Planning (Local Planning) (England)
(Amendment) Regulations 2017 sets a period of five years from adoption within which an authority
should undertake an assessment of whether its development plan documents, and its Statement of
Community Involvement remain up to date. This will help ensure that plans are kept up to date.
Where an authority reviews a document but decides not to update it, must publish the reasons
why. Monitoring data and evidence will inform such reviews.

4.8 Compliance with the timetables set out in this LDS will be monitored in the Council's Annual
Monitoring Reports that are available online:

4.9 https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/847/Monitoring

4.10 Updates to the timetable may be made to reflect changing circumstances for the documents
listed in the LDS. This may include reforms to the plan making system as set out in the current
Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill, wider legislative changes or other matters that need to be
addressed.

4.11 Risks to the timely delivery of the updates to the Local Plan and Developer Contributions
SPD are managed via the Council's Risk Register and subject to regular scrutiny.

September 2022

Local Development Scheme 2022

4 Monitoring, Evidence and Review

10

Page 174



Document is Restricted

Page 175

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To approve the minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Homeless Strategy
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Homelessness Data
	Demand on the Housing Options Service
	Case Loads
	Duty to Refer
	Homelessness Statistics (H-CLIC Data)
	Assessments
	Profile of Households Experiencing Homelessness
	Support Needs
	Reasons for Experiencing Homelessness
	Social Housing Evictions
	Supported Housing Evictions
	Prevention and Relief Outcomes
	Prevention Outcomes
	Relief Outcomes
	Main Duty Decisions
	Temporary Accommodation
	Rough Sleeping
	Rough Sleeping Data: Official Count
	What we do

	Appendix C
	Legislative background
	Homelessness Act 2002
	Homelessness Reduction 
Act 2017
	Domestic Abuse Act 2021
	Policy framework
	National Context
	National Rough Sleeping Strategy
	Social Housing Regulation Bill
	Levelling Up White Paper
	Changes to Private Rented Tenancies
	Leaving the European Union
	Regional context
	Derbyshire County Council: Specialist Accommodation and Support Strategy
2019 - 2024
	Derbyshire County Council: Housing and Accommodation for an Ageing Population Vision for Derbyshire to 2035
	Derbyshire County Council: Older People’s Housing, Accommodation, and Support Strategy
	Our Lives, Our Health: Derbyshire Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
2018 - 2023
	Derby and Derbyshire Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Strategy 2018 - 2021
	Derby and Derbyshire Domestic Abuse in Accommodation Strategy 2021 - 2024
	Place Board and Alliance
	District and Borough context
	North Derbyshire Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 – 2023
	Amber Valley
	Bolsover
	Chesterfield
	Derbyshire Dales
	Erewash
	High Peak
	North East Derbyshire
	South Derbyshire
	What we do

	Appendix D
	Make homelessness everyone’s 
responsibility through a 
system-wide approach
	Homelessness Charter
	Commitment to Collaborate
	Substance Misuse
	Prevent homelessness and respond to homelessness through early intervention and personalised solutions
	Pre-56 days prevention
	Integrated Homelessness and Wellbeing Assessment
	Prison Leavers
	Hospital Discharge
	Social Housing Evictions
	Supported Housing Evictions
	End Rough Sleeping and Repeat Homelessness
	Outreach
	Reconnection
	Alternative Giving
	Assessment Centres
	Education, Employment, 
and Training
	Multi-Agency Response: Rough Sleeping
	Develop Sustainable Supported and Settled Housing Solutions
	Supported Housing Gateway
	Supported Accommodation: Complex Needs
	Multi-Disciplinary Team
	Access to the Private 
Rented Sector
	B&B / Nightly Paid Accommodation
	Temporary Accommodation

	Appendix D

	5 Fourth Quarter Financial, Procurement and Performance Review 2021/22
	HP Finance Report  Q4 21-22 App A (25-7-22)
	HP Procurement Report Q4 21-22 App B (25-7-22)
	HP Performance Report Q4 21-22 (25.07.22) C

	6 Local Development Scheme
	Appendix A 1 for Local Development Scheme
	1 Introduction
	2 The Development Plan
	3 Timescales and Programme
	4 Monitoring, Evidence and Review


	9 To approve the exempt minutes of the previous meeting

